New SrO based catalytic methods for biodiesel production from non-edible feedstockusing microwave irradiation:

Implementation and adaptation to large-scale systems

Alex Tangy

Department of Chemistry

Ph.D. Thesis



Submitted to the Senate of Bar-Ilan University

Ramat-Gan, Israel

December 2016

This work was carried out under the supervision of Prof. Aharon Gedanken, Department of Chemistry, Bar-Ilan University.

Formatted: Reference, Left, Indent: First line: 0 cm, Line spacing: single, Tab stops: Not at 0.16 cm + 0.63 cm + 15.24 cm + 16.98 cm

Bar-Ilan University



NAME OF THE STUDENT: Alex Tangy

DEGREE AWARDED: Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry

ACADEMIC UNIT: Department of Chemistry

TITLE OF THESIS: New SrO based catalytic methods for biodiesel production from non-edible feedstock: Implementation and adaptation to large scale systems This is to certify that the thesis entitled "New SrO based catalytic methods for biodiesel production from non-edible feedstock using microwave irradiation: Implementation and adaptation to large scale systems", submitted by Alex Tangy to Bar Ilan University, Israel for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy is a bona fide record of research work carried out by him under my supervision. The content of this thesis, in full or in part, has not been submitted to any other research organization for the award of a degree or a diploma.

Signature of supervisor

Prof. Aharon Gedanken

December, 2016

This thesis is dedicated to memories of my grandparents Mercedes and Max Tangy and Camille and Isaac Benchimol with a special mention of my grandmother Mercedes who left us this year. Each of them has contributed to transmit idea and knowledge and to build my personality.

My parents Claire and Michel who afford me to fulfill my dreams.

My beloved wife, Shirley, and my daughter, Noa, who bring me each single day love, affection, and strength to achieve my goals.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am indebted and am immensely grateful to the Almighty God for sustaining me to accomplish this task. Without His grace and mercies, this work would not have been realized.

This thesis would have not been possible without guidance and assistance of several individuals who one way or another appreciably contributed to the completion of this thesis.

I would like, first, to express my sincere gratitude to my research advisor, Prof. Aharon Gedanken, for mentoring, teaching, guiding, and giving me an opportunity to train myself and produce research work of high quality and productivity during the course of my Ph.D. program.

I cordially and sincerely thank Dr. Indra Neel Pulidindi and extend my gratitude to him for his valuable comments that helped me to improve the quality of this thesis. I appreciate his guidance, his continuous support and thoughtfulness, his technical assistance and precious discussions during all these last 4 years.

A special thanks to my friend Dr. Reuven Eitan for his help, support, and advices to overcome issues I have encountered during my Ph.D. studies.

I would like to thank all the members of Prof. Gedanken's laboratory for their help, encouragement, and friendship, with a special mention to Vijay Booshan Kumar for sharing with me his expertise on carbon dots. I am also thankful to Prof. Nina Perkas and Prof. Yuri Koltypin, for their great help, and advices.

I express my thanks to Dr. Yaron Yehoshua and Dr. Yael Kinel-Tahan from Prof. Zvy Dubinsky lab, from the Faculty of Life Sciences for the research collaboration in the field of microalgae cultivation for biodiesel production.

I would like to thank my parents, Claire and Michel Tangy, and my brother David for all their love, support, and encouragement throughout the years. I would also like to express my deep gratitude and love to my cousin Dr. Jonathan Benchimol for supporting and encouraging me during all these years. Last but not the least; I warmly thank my lovely wife Shirley for her continuous love and support that helped me to overcome obstacles during the course of my Ph.D. study and sharing my challenges and frustrations. Without you, I could have never made it through this. You have been comprehensive and allowed me to come home late during most of my Ph.D. studies. You brought me the most beautiful gift: my daughter Noa. I am extremely lucky to have them in my life.

Alex Tangy Department of Chemistry Bar Ilan University Ramat Gan Israel

Table of Contents

Abbreviations:	
Units:	
List of figures:	
List of tables:	
Abstract	I
1. Background and literature review	1
1.1 Global energy crisis, environmental pollution and demand for renewable ener	gy1
1.2 Biodiesel as a potential alternative for transportation fuel	3
1.2.1 Biodiesel as alternative to fossil fuels	3
1.2.2 Biodiesel-Merits and demerits	4
1.3 Transesterification reaction	5
1.4 Homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts	9
1.4.1 Homogeneous catalysts	9
1.4.2 Heterogeneous catalysts	9
1.4.2.1 Heterogeneous acid catalysts	10
1.4.2.2 Heterogeneous base catalysts	11
1.4.2.2.1 Alkaline earth metal oxides	11
1.4.2.2.1.1 Strontium oxide (SrO)	13
1.5 Feedstocks for biodiesel production	20
1.5.1 Vegetable oil	20
1.5.2 Waste cooking oil (WCO)	20
1.5.3 Microalgae	30
1.6 Microwave irradiation as effective heating source for biodiesel production	40
1.6.1 Principles of microwave irradiation	40
1.6.2 Microwave assisted transesterification reaction	43
1.6.3 Energy consumption of microwave-assisted biodiesel production	45
1.6.4 Microwave-assisted continuous flow process for biodiesel production	46
1.7 Nanocatalytic technology for biodiesel production	49
1.7.1 Synthesis of nanomaterials under microwave irradiation	51
1.7.2 Synthesis of nanomaterials using sonochemical technique	52
2. Research Goals	53
2.1. Research importance and major goal	53

2.2. Minor goals	
2.2.1 Screening of feedstock based on cost as well as feasibility of conversion to biodiesel in large scale	
2.2.2 Designing economically feasible, easily reusable, and environmentally friendly catalyst for the biodiesel production process in a continuous flow system55	
2.2.3 Developing a catalytic process for the production of biodiesel using microalgal biomass as feedstock	
3. Novelty of the research	1
4. Experimental methodology	
4.1. Materials and methods used in the present research	
4.1.1.List of materials and chemicals used during the research)
4.1.2. Pretreatment of WCO)
4.1.3. Cultivation and harvesting of <i>Chlorella vulgaris</i>)
4.1.4.Heating instrumentation for the preparation of the catalysts and transesterification reaction	
4.1.4.1. Domestic microwave oven (DMWO)61	
4.1.4.2. Microwave assisted continuous flow reactor	
4.1.4.3. Ultrasonic irradiation	i.
4.2. Synthesis of SrO based catalyst	
4.2.1.Preparation of SrO/SiO ₂ 64	
4.2.2. Preparation of SrO-C-dots	
4.3. Transesterification reaction	
4.3.1. Transesterification reaction of WCO using SrO/SiO ₂ as catalyst in batch mode <u>66</u>	65
4.3.2. Transesterification reaction of WCO using SrO as catalyst in MW assisted continuous flow process	
4.3.3. Transesterification reaction of WCO using SrO/SiO ₂ as catalyst in MW assisted continuous flow process	
4.3.4. <i>In-situ</i> transesterification reaction of <i>Chlorella Vulgaris</i> using SrO-C-dots as catalyst in batch mode	
4.4. Characterization methods	
	<u>.</u>
4.4.2. Characterization of SrO based catalysts	
4.4.2.1. X-ray Diffraction (XRD)	;

4.4.2.2. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)	69
4.4.2.3. Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) Spectroscopy	<u>70</u> 69
4.4.2.4. Electron microscopy	<u>70</u> 69
4.4.2.5. Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)	<u>71</u> 70
4.4.2.6. Raman spectroscopy	<u>71</u> 70
4.4.2.7. Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) sorptometry	<u>71</u> 70
4.4.2.8. Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP)	<u>71</u> 70
4.4.3.FAME	
analysis <u>7</u>	<u>2</u> 71
5. Logical integration of the research publications	<u>73</u> 72
5.1. List of	
articles	
5.2. Logical connection between the above articles in forming continuous structu	ure of the
thesis	<u>74</u>
13	
.6 Article abstracts	<u>75</u> 74
6.1. Article	
1	
6.2. Article	
2 <u>10</u> 7 3	
6.3. Article	
5 <u>11</u> +0	
7. Incorporation of the research articles	<u>78</u> 77
7.1. Article 1	<u>78</u> 77
7.2. Article	
2 <u>95</u> 94	
7.3. Article	
3 <u>109-108</u>	
8. Conclusion & future perspective	<u>122</u> 121
References	<u>124</u> 123
תקציר:	к

Abbreviations:

BET - Brunauer-Emmett-Teller ¹H NMR Spectroscopy – proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy DLS - Dynamic Light Scattering DMWO - Domestic Microwave Oven EDS – Energy Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy ESEM - Environmental Scanning Electron Microscopy EtOH - Ethanol FAME - Fatty Acid Methyl Ester FFA - Free Fatty Acid FT-IR - Fourier Transform Infrared GC-MS - Gas chromatograph coupled with a mass spectroscope HRSEM - High-resolution scanning electron microscope ICP -- Inductively coupled plasma MeOH - Methanol MW - Microwave NP - nanoparticle SEM - Scanning electron microscope SrCO₃ – Strontium carbonate SrO - Strontium oxide $SrO/SiO_2 - SrO$ coated on millimetric silica beads SrO-C dot - Carbon dots functionalized SrO TEM - Transmission electron microscope TGA - Thermogravimetric Analysis WCO - Waste cooking oil

XRD - X-ray Diffraction

Units:

- % : percent
- θ : diffraction angle
- °C : degree Celsius
- g : gram
- GHz : Giga hertz
- h : hour
- K : degree Kelvin
- M : Molar (moles/liter)
- mg : milligram
- min : minute
- mL : milliliter
- nm : nanometer
- s : second
- t : time
- T : temperature
- W : watt
- wt. : weight

List of figures:

FIGURE 1 WORLD MARKETED ENERGY CONSUMPTION.	1
FIGURE 2: WORLD PRIMARY ENERGY CONSUMPTION IN 2013.	2
Figure 3: Global CO_2 emission from various sectors from 1990 to 2035.	2
FIGURE 4 WORLD TOTAL ENERGY CONSUMPTION; HISTORY AND PROJECTION.	3
$Figure 5: {\it General transesterification process of trigly cerides with methatics} and transformed and trans$	NOL. 6
FIGURE 6: MECHANISM OF BASE CATALYZED TRANSESTERIFICATION.	7
$Figure \ 7: Mechanism \ of \ alkaline \ earth \ metal \ oxide \ catalyst \ in \ contact \ with \ alkaline \ $	TH
METHANOL.	12
FIGURE 8: MECHANISM OF SRO CATALYZED TRANSESTERIFICATION.	15
FIGURE 9: THE PRINCIPLE OF LIGHT DILUTION.	32
FIGURE 10 : DEVELOPMENT OF LOW-COST PHOTO-BIOREACTORS.	33
FIGURE 11 : FLOW DIAGRAM OF BIOFUELS PRODUCTION FROM MICROALGAE	34
FIGURE 12: CONVENTIONAL TRANSESTERIFICATION AND DIRECT TRANSESTERIFICATION	ON
METHOD	36
FIGURE 13: THE ELECTROMAGNETIC SPECTRUM	41
Figure 14 : Energy payback of MW-assisted biodiesel production system	46
FIGURE 15: MODIFIED DOMESTIC MICROWAVE OVEN (DMWO)	<u>6261</u>
$Figure 16: {\tt Experimental setup for the continuous-flow biodiesel production} \\$	NC
BASED ON MICROWAVE IRRADIATION.	63
FIGURE 17: TYPICAL SONOCHEMICAL APPARATUS	64
$Figure \ 18: \ {\it Pictorial Representation SrO/SiO_2 preparation under DMWO}$	<u>65</u> 64
$Figure \ 19: \ Schematic \ overview \ of the \ sonochemical \ synthesis \ of the \ Sr(NC)$) ₃) ₂ -C-
DOT COMPOSITE	<u>66</u> 65
FIGURE 20: TYPICAL DIGITAL IMAGE OF THE PRODUCT OBTAINED FROM THE	
TRANSESTERIFICATION REACTION	<u>67</u> 66

 FIGURE 21: THE TRANSESTERIFICATION REACTION WITH RELEVANT CHEMICAL SHIFTS OF

 PROTONS IN A TRANSESTERIFICATION REACTION.
 7271

List of tables:

TABLE 1: LITERATURE REVIEW on Biodiesel production Using SrO based Catalysts			
FOR TRANSESTERIFICATION REACTION	<u>16</u> 23		
TABLE 2: CATALYTIC PROCESSES FOR THE CONVERSION OF WASTE COOKING OIL (WCC)) то		
BIODIESEL	<u>23</u> 31		
TABLE 3: STATE OF THE STRATEGIES FOR THE PRODUCTION OF BIODIESEL FROM			
MICROALGAE	<u>36</u> 44		
TABLE 4: FEEDSTOCK USED FOR BIODIESEL PRODUCTION	<u>59</u> 68		
TABLE 5: MATERIALS USED AS CATALYST OR FOR BIODIESEL SYNTHESIS	<u>59</u> 68		
TABLE 6: LIST OF SOLVENTS USED IN THIS RESEARCH	<u>60</u> 68		
TABLE 7: EXPERIMENTAL CONDITIONS ADOPTED FOR GC-MS ANALYSIS OF THE BIODIESEL			
SAMPLES FOR THE IDENTIFICATION OF VARIOUS COMPONENTS IN THE FAME	<u>68</u> 76		

Abstract

Science is appreciated if it transforms into real technology that could be used by common person. Energy demands and clean environment are haunting everyone. Energy sources are necessary for human existence, comfort, and progress. Limited crude petroleum resources and increasing awareness of the environmental impacts of fossil fuels motivate the search for new energy sources and alternative fuels. Biodiesel is a renewable, biodegradable, environmentally friendly, and non-toxic fuel, which has attracted considerable attention in the past decades. The feedstock cost and the production process are two major obstacles to large-scale biodiesel production. Microwave-assisted technology has been found to reduce significantly the reaction time and the production cost compared to conventional methods. Using waste vegetable oil or microalgae as a potential alternative feedstock for biodiesel production can significantly lower the production cost. Microalgae, also called 3rd generation of biofuel feedstock, have unique and dominant advantages compared to other feedstock. The current research addresses to solve the energy needs of common person in terms of transportation requirement in an environmentally friendly way by offering a fast method for the transesterification of cooked oil to biodiesel in a domestic microwave oven as well as a continuous flow reactor. SrO, a solid catalyst, was employed as heterogeneous and reusable catalyst for the transesterification reaction. The potential of SrO NPs coated on millimetric silica beads (SrO/SiO₂) in batch and continuous process, as well as carbon dots functionalized SrO (SrO-C dot) synthesized from Sr(NO₃)₂ precursor as solid based catalysts for biodiesel production showed improved performance for the transesterification of waste cooking oil and microalgae, respectively, compared to the conventional SrO catalyst using domestic microwave oven. The catalyst SrO/SiO₂ showed a conversion as high as 99.4% of waste cooking oil to FAME in just 10 s. Moreover, the catalyst could be easily separated and reused for 10 consecutive reaction runs with a loss of only 4.6%. Its high activity is attributed to the unique morphology of SrO particles on the silica bead surface at the nanometric level, resulting in well-dispersed active sites for the transesterification reaction. Moreover, homogeneous surface functionalization of carbon dots on SrO nanoparticles was used for the single step conversion of Chlorella Vulgaris to biodiesel in a microwave. High lipid conversion value of 97 wt. % and FAME yield value 45.5 wt. % were achieved using SrO-C dot composite catalyst in a short reaction time of 2.5 min. SrO-C dot catalyst showed improved performance for the transesterification of lipids compared to the

conventional SrO catalyst (2.4 times). In addition to the batch process, the use of SrO/SiO₂ as promising catalyst in a fixed bed continuous flow microwave irradiation process with a conversion value of 93.3 wt. % while converting 2.46 L of feed (waste cooking oil and methanol) into biodiesel after 24.6 min is demonstrated. Thus, fast and efficient biodiesel production process based on the solid catalyst together with continuous microwave irradiation demonstrate the economic feasibility as well as an industrial adoptability of the process for large scale biodiesel production from cooked oil waste in a short time is developed.

1. Background and literature review

1.1 Global energy crisis, environmental pollution and demand for renew-

able energy

Due to rapid depletion of conventional energy sources or fossil fuels, like pretroleum, coal and natural gas, environmental concerns caused by their emissions, like greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs) ¹, increasing energy demand and consumption generated by population expansion (**Figure 1**)², the conventional energetic system is considered to be unsustainable in the long term.³



Nowadays, more than 80% of the energy used in the world comes from fossil fuels. About 98% of CO_2 emissions are caused by fossil fuel combustion. **Figure 2** illustrated the percentage of world energy consumption in year 2013.⁴



Figure 2: World primary energy consumption in 2013.

Energy generation from fossil fuels has been identified as the main reason of environmental pollution.⁵ The rate of global CO_2 emission by end-used sectors from 1990 to 2035 is shown in **Figure 3**.⁴ Therefore, shifting to renewable energy can help us meet the dual goals of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, and ensuring reliable distribution of energy.



Figure 3: Global CO₂ emission from various sectors from 1990 to 2035.

Renewable energies are energy sources that are continually replenished by nature and derived directly from the sun (such as thermal⁶, and photo-electric⁷), indirectly from the sun (such as wind^{8,9}, hydropower^{10,11}, and photosynthetic energy stored in biomass¹²), or from other natural movements and mechanisms of the environment (such as geothermal energy^{13–15}). The modern renewable energy consists of 3.8% of hydropower, 0.8% of

biofuels, and 5.4% of others energy sources including biomass, solar, geothermal heat, and wind energy for power generation.⁴

The transportation sector, representing 30 % of the world's total energy consumption, is the second largest energy-consuming sector after the industrial sector. Almost 60 % of world oil demand is required in the transportation sector that will probably be the strongest growing energy demand sector in the future. Transportation sector is currently and solely dependent on fossil fuels like petrol and diesel. The reserves are on the verge of exhaustion. The total world energy consumption is expected to grow by 56% between 2010 and 2040 (**Figure 4**).¹⁶ Alternate fuels are necessary for meeting the demands for transportation applications. Therefore, great efforts has been devoted these last decades to develop renewable fuels that are environmentally acceptable, technically feasible as well as can fulfill the global energy demand.



Figure 4 World total energy consumption; history and projection.

1.2Biodiesel as a potential alternative for transportation fuel

1.2.1 Biodiesel as alternative to fossil fuels

The main alternative to fossil fuel is biodiesel. Biodiesel is considered as an important renewable energy source because of its potential to fulfill the energy demand, reduce greenhouse gasses and global warming.¹⁷ Biodiesel is a renewable liquid fuel for diesel

engines. It is composed of mono-alkyl esters of long chain fatty acids derived from vegetable oils, recycled cooking greases or oils, or animal fats.^{18,19}

Vegetable oils have become attractive because of their environmental benefits and renewable nature with energy content close to diesel fuel. Therefore, vegetable oils are becoming widespread primary sources of biodiesel production. Vegetable oils need to be modified suitably for being substituted to petroleum diesel. The incompatibility of crude vegetable oils as fuel for engines is mainly due to its greater viscosity (27.2 to 53.6 mm²/s) compared with that of the diesel fuel, which is 10–20 times higher than that of diesel for which the engines were designed (1.3 to 4.1 mm²/s). However, vegetable oil cannot be an economically viable and sustainable feedstock for the demand based production of biodiesel and alternate feedstock need to be explored. This has been one of the objectives of the present research.

1.2.2 Biodiesel-Merits and demerits

Biodiesel have the main advantage to be used as fuel for transportation in its pure form or blended with petroleum diesel at any percentage with any or little modification of the engine²⁰, as the properties of biodiesel match generally that of petro-diesel. The production process is relatively easy and does not require expensive equipment. Therefore, biodiesel can be considered as the best alternative to petroleum diesel based on the cost of production. Biodiesel is also considered as a renewable, biodegradable, non-toxic and clean energy.¹⁶ The emissions from vehicles that are using biodiesel contain both lower amount of hydrocarbons and CO2 emissions, as the basic feedstocks consume CO2 during its cultivation, and no aromatic compounds compared to conventional transportation fuels. Biodiesel also acts as a good lubricant for diesel engines. These advantages could therefore extend the engine's life. Biodiesel also has higher flash point, defined as the temperature of fuel flammability, which makes it safer to handle compared to diesel.²¹ Other advantages of biodiesel are its availability without any reliance on external countries, renewability, higher combustion efficiency, higher cetane number, and higher biodegradability. Furthermore, the sulfur content of biodiesel is negligible and so no desulphurization process is required.²² Moreover, biodiesel is the only alternate fuel that has obtained the clearance to be used as a transesterification fuel based on 1990 clean air amendment act.²³ So, the use of biodiesel can be a solution to the problem of environmental pollution. Owing to these advantages, biodiesel is a promising alternative to petroleum-based fuels.

On the other hand, disadvantages of biodiesel include higher emission of nitrogen oxides (NOx gas)^{24,25}, lower energy content²⁶, less stability²⁷, decomposition upon thermal stressing of 275°C and above, higher pour points (the temperature at which biodiesel becomes semi solid and loses its flow characteristics). The most important concern of biodiesel it's his high cost compared to diesel due to high price of vegetable oils especially those of edible feedstock²⁸, which appears to be the primary factor preventing its more widespread use. Moreover, current worldwide production of vegetable oil and animal fat is not enough to replace liquid fossil fuel use. Biodiesel is a technologically feasible alternative to fossil diesel, but biodiesel costs 1.5-3 times more than fossil diesel. Regarding actual fuel costs, the current cost of biodiesel is comparable with that of gasoline.²⁹ The oxygen content of biodiesel is responsible for the higher NOx emission and CO2 emission. General trends observed with biodiesel fuel are the increase in emissions of NOx and CO2 approximately by 12% and 14% respectively.21 However, the cost of biodiesel could vary depending on the source of feedstock. Biodiesel could also dissolve and degrade polymers containing in certain parts of the diesel engines. Nevertheless, the advantages of biodiesel overcome its disadvantages on the environmental aspects, making it a potential alternative to petroleum provided strategies for the fast and large-scale production of biodiesel are developed.

1.3 Transesterification reaction

Biodiesel is essentially produced from a chemical process known as transesterification. Transesterification, also called alcoholysis, is the displacement of alcohol group from an ester by another alcohol in a process similar to hydrolysis, except that an alcohol is employed instead of water. The reaction may be facilitated by catalyst using primary or secondary monohydric aliphatic alcohols having 1-8 carbon atoms.³⁰ This process enables the viscosity reduction of triglycerides. Typical transesterification reaction is described in **Figure 5**.³¹ Transesterification is a reversible reaction consisting of mixing the reactants in the presence of an acid or a base catalyst to improve the reaction rate and yield, as the non-catalytic transesterification is too slow and energetically unfavorable.³²



Figure 5: General transesterification process of triglycerides with methanol.

In a transesterification reaction, triglycerides react with, at least, threefold excess of an alcohol, typically methanol or ethanol, to shift the equilibrium towards the formation of fatty acid esters (FAE), the biodiesel. In fact, higher molar ratio between methanol and oil is needed to lead the equilibrium toward a maximum ester yield. The presence of a sufficient amount of methanol during the transesterification reaction is necessary to break the glycerin–fatty acid linkages.³³ Nevertheless, the reverse reaction is negligible, mainly due to the immiscibility of the products, namely, the fatty acid ester and the glycerol as byproduct. As a result, a two-phase system is formed when the FAME settles at the top of the reaction mixture.

The transesterification process consists of three successive reversible reactions ³⁴. The first reaction occurs between triglycerides and short-chains alcohol to produce diglycerides and an ester. In the second reaction, diglycerides (from the first reaction) react with alcohol to produce monoglycerides and a second ester. The third reaction occurs between the monoglycerides (from the second reaction) and alcohol to produce glycerol and an ester. Consequently, a mole of ester is liberated at each step. From these reactions, one molecule of triglycerides reacts with three molecules of alcohol to form three molecules of fatty acid alkyl esters and one molecule of glycerol.

Basic catalysts are known to accelerate the transesterification reaction more than acid catalysts and they are most often used commercially. Therefore, most of the research on the biodiesel production is focused on base catalyzed reactions. The mechanism of transesterification reaction in the presence of basic catalyst is described in **Figure 6**.³² In the first step, base reacts with alcohol to produce an alkoxide and the protonated catalyst. The second steps involve the reaction between alcohol and the base catalyst to form an

alkoxide ion, which attacks the carbonyl of the triglyceride molecule, resulting in the formation of a tetrahedral intermediate. The third step involves the rearrangement of the intermediate to give rise to an alkyl ester and diglyceride anion. In the last step, the catalyst is deprotonated and thus the active species, which react with another molecule of the respective alcohol, are regenerated. This process occurs three times until the formation of fatty acid ester and glycerol.^{31,32}



ROH + B - RO' + BH*

 R^1 , R^2 , R^3 = Different carbon chains of fatty acid

H₂Ċ---0

R = Alkyl group of alcohol

Figure 6: Mechanism of base catalyzed transesterification.

H₂Ċ-

Like base catalyzed transesterification, acid transesterification reaction has three consecutive, reversible reactions. Unlike base catalysis, the carbon atom of the carbonyl group of the triglyceride becomes more electrophilic by the catalyst and more susceptible to be attacked by alcohol. This process is slower than the base mechanism.³⁵

In addition to the type of catalyst (base vs. acid) and the molar ratio of alcohol to triglycerides, several parameters influence the biodiesel yield and affect the rate of the transesterification reaction including molar ratio of alcohol to oil, catalyst type and concentration, reaction temperature and time, and stirring.³⁶ Appropriate molar ratio of alcohol to oil is needed for the transesterification reaction: lower molar ratio than the optimum value could lead to a reversible reaction and then lower the biodiesel yield, when a higher molar ratio also reduces the yield and makes the separation process of esters and glycerol difficult.³⁷ The complexity evolving from the separation process might be because methanol has a polar hydroxyl group that can act as an emulsifier causing emulsification. Regarding the catalyst concentration, the use of more catalyst than the optimum value will not have any significant impact on biodiesel conversion and could even affect it in some cases due to mass transfer issue in the case of heterogeneous catalyst or side reactions when using homogeneous catalyst. Reaction temperature and time play a crucial role as an attempt is already made for accomplishing the transesterification reaction lowest possible temperature and time to reduce the viscosity of the oil in one hand and minimize the energy consumption in other hand. The commonly employed temperature ranges from room temperature to 65°C. Higher reaction temperature and time influence positively the transesterification reaction. The boiling point of methanol is 64.7°C and hence the transesterification reaction is carried out at lower temperature as a temperature higher than this may evaporate methanol and hinder the reaction to occur.³⁶ Higher temperature also favors saponification and hence must be avoided.³⁸ For optimum conditions, a molar ratio of 6:1 of alcohol to triglycerides should be used in the presence of base catalyst and under higher reaction temperatures but below the boiling point of the alcohol. Mixing is a very important criteria in the transesterification reaction for enhancing the contact between oils and methanol, as oils are immiscible with the alcohol solution.¹⁹

Nevertheless, biodiesel produced by transesterification process is completely miscible with commercial diesel in any blending proportion and its cetane number is found to be improved. Therefore, transesterification is the most suitable method for producing an environmentally friendly and safe fuel from unprocessed vegetable oil.

1.4 Homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts

The presence of catalyst is necessary to increase the reaction rate and the transesterification reaction yield. The choice of catalyst for biodiesel production is evaluated based on its economic viability. The largely used catalysts for transesterification reaction in biodiesel production can be divided in two groups: homogeneous and heterogeneous catalyst and subdivided into acid or base catalyst.

1.4.1 Homogeneous catalysts

Homogeneous catalysts act in the same liquid phase as the reactants and products. They are commonly classified into acid and alkali catalysts. They are currently the most widely used catalyst for large scale production of biodiesel, owing to their low cost and less time required for oil conversion to biodiesel.³⁹

The most common homogeneous acid catalysts used are sulfuric acid $(H_2SO_4)^{40-43}$ and hydrochloric acid $(HCl)^{44-46}$. Despite the increase in the yield of the bio-diesel, the acid catalyzed reaction is 4000 times slower than the basic catalyzed reaction, and it also requires higher temperatures and pressures³² due to the involvement of intermediate steps like formation of intermediate molecules which are susceptible to nucleophilic attack, whereas, the base catalyzed reaction proceeds on straight route at which alkoxide ion is initially formed and directly acts as a strong nucleophile.³⁴ Thus the strategy of a based catalyzed transesterification is appropriate for the demand-based production of biodiesel. However, much remains to be done and appropriate solid base catalysts to be developed as substitute to the conventional homogeneous catalysts like NaOH or KOH.

1.4.2 Heterogeneous catalysts

High-energy consumption and costly separation of the catalyst from the reaction mixture have inspired the development of heterogeneous catalysts. Heterogeneous catalytic process involves more than one phase, when usually the catalyst is a solid and the reactants and products are in liquid form. Due to the size of triglycerides molecules and the size of oil micelles formed in the reaction mixture (oil + alcohol) it is expected that the reaction occurs over the external surface of the solid catalyst.⁴⁷ Unlike homogeneous, heterogeneous catalysts are environmentally friendly, could be operated in a fixed bed reactor, are easier to be separated from liquid products, avoid the formation of soap and the catalyst can be reused several times.¹⁶ Therefore, heterogeneous transesterification is a less

expensive alternative to the current homogenous transesterification for biodiesel production, inducing lower energy consumption and leading to high purity of the products.⁴⁸ However, a higher molar ratio of alcohol to oil, larger amount of catalyst, longer time, and higher temperature are generally required when using heterogeneous catalyst for biodiesel production. As heterogeneous catalyst possess less active sites than homogeneous ones, evolving a slower kinetic reaction, the usage of excess methanol is one of the better options for improving the slow reaction rate of the transesterification reactions catalyzed by heterogeneous catalysts.⁴⁹ Additionally, their deactivation with time and several reuses occur systematically due to many possible phenomena, such as poisoning, coking, sintering, and leaching, leading to the increase of the cost process and possibility of product contamination. On the course of the transesterification reaction, the solid catalysts have a tendency to adsorb organic species, causing the inaccessibility of the active sites on the catalyst surface from the reaction medium. Finally, problems related to mass transfer always occur since the catalyst appeared in a solid phase and the reactants in liquid phases. Therefore, the kinetic of reaction is dependent on the diffusion between these phases.³¹ Unlike homogeneous systems, in heterogeneous catalysis adsorption of reactants and desorption of products has to take place on the surface of the solid catalyst for the reaction to proceed at a faster rate.35

1.4.2.1 Heterogeneous acid catalysts

Heterogeneous acid catalysts are preferred over homogenous catalysts, because they do not dissolve in the alcohol and feedstock, hence they can be separated easily by filtration and can be reused. Such catalysts are more suitable for feedstocks having a high content of FFA, catalyzing, as homogeneous acid catalyst, both transesterification and esterification reactions simultaneously, and thus reduce the number of processing steps to biodiesel.^{50,51} In heterogeneous acid catalysts, triglyceride is adsorbed on the surface of the catalyst by protonation of the carbon in carbonyl group which is to be attacked by alcohol in the liquid phase.⁵² Despite their lower activity compared to homogeneous acid catalyst, they contain a multiple sites with different strength of Bronsted or Lewis acidity. These catalysts are less corrosive, less toxic, and generate less environmental issues than homogeneous ones.⁵³ However, the activity of solid acid catalysts requires extreme conditions of temperature and pressure and could lead to unfavorable side reactions.⁵⁰ Common types of solid

catalysts comprise catalyst with sulfonic acid group^{54–56}, heteropoly acids^{57–62}, transition metal oxides^{63,64}, and acid zeolites⁶⁵.

1.4.2.2 Heterogeneous base catalysts

Heterogeneous base catalyst is preferred over acid catalyst for feedstocks with low FFA content, owing to its activity and strong basic sites. However, they are sensitive to water, moisture, and FFA. A small amount of moisture can initiate oil hydrolyzation to form soap and glycerol and thus, the catalytic activity might be reduced.⁶⁶ Therefore, when using a feedstock with low grade that contain high amount of FFA, pretreatment of the feedstock or esterification process is require prior to the transesterification with a base catalyst. In an attempt to reduce the production cost, a variety of catalysts, namely, anion-exchange resin^{67,68}, alkaline earth metal oxides^{69–72}, mixed metal oxides of alkaline earth group elements^{73,74}, rare earth metals⁷⁵, basic zeolites⁷⁶, spinels⁷⁷, hydrotalcites^{78–80}, and perovskites⁸¹ are being tested for the industrial production of biodiesel. The common goals are always lessening the catalyst amount and lowering overall energy requirement of the process. The common problem associated with the heterogeneous biodiesel production process is its slow reaction rate compared with homogeneous catalysts, due to poor surface contact between triglycerides and alcohol during the reaction because of their reciprocal immiscibility.⁸² In the presence of heterogeneous base catalysts, the reaction involves the active participation of methoxide species, formed upon adsorption of methanol on the catalyst surface, and then, the efficiency of the catalyst should be related to the rate of formation of methoxide anion.83

1.4.2.2.1 Alkaline earth metal oxides

Among the solid catalysts, alkaline earth metal oxides have higher basicity, lower solubility in alcohol and produce higher biodiesel yield.⁸⁴ However, leaching of metal oxide catalysts is accelerated in the presence of polar substances such as methanol, water and FFA.⁸⁵ Among the alkaline earth elements, beryllium (Be) and radium (Ra) are not used as catalyst for transesterification reactions because they are carcinogenic and radioactive, respectively.⁸⁶ The order of activity the remaining alkaline earth oxide catalyst is barium oxide (BaO) > strontium oxide (SrO) > calcium oxide (CaO) > magnesium oxide (MgO).⁸⁷ The basic strength of alkaline-earth metal oxide is related to the electronegativity of the conjugated metal cation. This is due to the increase in the ionic radii of alkaline-earth metals and an accompanied decrease in the electronegativity in this order, which

reduced the attractive force of electrons for the conjugated metal cation.⁸⁷ This has improved the basic characteristic of the attaching oxygen anion on the alkaline-earth metal oxide. Various oxygen anions of low coordination number on the MO are considered to be responsible for the basicity.⁴⁹ The structure of metal oxides involves positive metal ions (cations) and negative oxygen ions (anions), which correspond to Lewis acid and Brønsted base sites, respectively. Basicity in alkaline earth oxides arise from M2+- O2- ion pairs present in different coordination environments, with strongest base sites occurring at low coordination defect, corner and edge sites, or on high Miller index surfaces.⁸⁸ The surface oxide anion is the basic site of the catalyst. In methanolysis of oils, these oxides provide sufficient adsorptive sites for methanol, in which the O-H bonds break into methoxide anions (CH₃O⁻) and hydrogen cations (H⁺) on basic sites of metal oxide catalyst surface (Figure 7)⁶⁶, leading to high activity of the catalyst. The methoxide anions then react with the triglyceride molecules to form the corresponding fatty acid methyl esters (FAME).89 According to Lewis theory, the oxides of alkaline-earth metals are stronger bases than their hydroxides. Alkali earth metal oxides have very reactive surface with CO2 and water and should be kept away from atmospheric contact with carbon dioxide to avoid carbonate formation.35 Moreover, recent study have proved that feedstocks containing FFA could be responsible for the alkali earth metal oxide catalyst leaching into the reaction mixture.90 Such catalysts would require an oil with no FFA and no water to attest the heterogeneity of the catalyst and to improve the biodiesel conversion at the end of the transesterification reaction.



Figure 7: Mechanism of alkaline earth metal oxide catalyst in contact with methanol.

MgO have the lowest activity, the weakest basic strength and the lowest solubility in methanol among the alkaline earth metal oxide in the transesterification of triglycerides to biodiesel, and then, provide the slowest reaction rate.^{83,91} The catalytic activity of CaO is

high, its possess a long catalyst life time and its able to operate under mild reaction conditions.⁴⁸ Among alkali earth metal oxides, CaO has attracted many attentions for transesterification reaction these last decades thanks to its relatively high basic strength and low solubility in methanol. Tremendous research was done on the uses of CaO derived from several sources, as suitable catalyst for the transesterification reaction.⁹²⁻¹⁰⁰ Interest in the use of CaO catalyst evolved as it could be prepared from cheaper and abundant materials like, sea sand¹⁰¹, constructional lime^{23,102}, mollusk shell¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵, egg shell¹⁰⁶⁻¹¹¹, and limestone¹¹². These natural sources are composed of calcium carbonates that are calcined in order to decompose it and produce CaO that can be used as a catalyst for the production of biodiesel. However, severe leaching of CaO was observed after the first run, affecting its reusability and long-life durability.¹¹³ Moreover, the catalytic activity of CaO still remain low relative to SrO and BaO that exhibit excellent catalytic performance for the transesterification process.70,114-116 Although BaO is active in transesterification reaction, however, it forms highly toxic barium complex compounds and highly dissolve in methanol compared to CaO and SrO.93 The loss of active component will reduce the catalytic activity of repeated use of BaO and consequently will decrease the biodiesel production yield.⁸⁷ Therefore, BaO is not suitable for bio-diesel production. While Ca and Mg are the most widely used alkaline earth metals in solid base catalysis for transesterification reaction, the basic strength of catalyst is the key determinant in the reaction rate.⁸⁷ Therefore, SrO is a good potential candidate for biodiesel production.

1.4.2.2.1.1 Strontium oxide (SrO)

It has been reported that SrO can catalyze many chemical reactions, such as oxidative coupling of methane^{117,118}, selective oxidation of propane¹¹⁹, nitroaldol reactions and mixed tishchenko reactions¹²⁰, Michael addition¹²¹, and transesterification³⁷. Pure SrO possesses the highest base site density of the alkali earth oxides, stronger than H₌ 26.5 as indicated by hammett indicator method¹²², a measure of the basicity/acidity of solid base catalyst, and a comparable base strength to that of BaO. Despite its lower surface area (1.05 m²/g)³⁷ compared to Mg and Ca oxides and the partial solubility of the metal ion in methanol¹²³, SrO is a suitable catalyst for the transesterification process thanks to its high basicity, strong base sites, relative low lixiviation tendencies in biodiesel and high selectivity towards the transesterification reaction. SrO present superior activity than homogeneous base catalyst.^{37,124} All these parameters represent the contributing factors of

catalyst choice for an optimal biodiesel productivity.¹²⁵ The SrO catalyst derived from thermal decomposition of SrCO3 at 1200°C was found to give high yield of FAME in a short time under mild temperature and pressure conditions.³⁷ Likewise, the long catalyst lifetime of SrO would maintain its activity even after being repeatedly used for 10 cycles, which could be a commercially viable way to decrease the costs of production for industrial application in the transesterification of triglyceride to biodiesel. Moreover, Koberg et al. showed that the transesterification of cooked oil to biodiesel in a microwave domestic oven can be completed using commercial SrO as catalyst in only 10 sec.¹²⁴ Such achievement, at this shorter time, is probably due to the product ratios that fit quickly the equilibrium constant. The short reaction time minimizes the input energy that is consumed for the biodiesel production. Additionally, the loading of SrO into ferric composite oxide enhance the stability of grafted sulfate ions and the catalytic reactivity of the active sites in the esterification of oleic acid with methanol for the production of biodiesel, due to the high chemical and thermal stability of the sulfate ions bonded on Sr cations.¹²⁶ Previous study shows that SrO could be recycle and reusable 10 times with an observation of only 2-3% losses on its activity at the 10th cycle.¹²⁷ The reason for the loss of 2-3% in conversion might be due to the loss of the catalyst during SrO recycling. These results confirm the stability and the sustainability of SrO activity, which is of great importance for industrial application. However, SrO is highly hygroscopic and have a strong tendency to react with CO_2 and water in air to form $SrCO_3$, mostly derived from the chemisorption of CO₂ onto the basic sites, and Sr(OH)₂ and loses its catalytic ability, due to their lower basic strength than the corresponding metal oxide.^{93,128} Despite a similar catalytic activity between SrO and Sr(OH)₂, the later could be partially dissolved in the reaction medium, releasing OH⁻ ions, and then it will not act as fully heterogeneous catalyst.¹²⁴ To reactivate the catalyst, it must be calcined at temperatures higher than 1000°C.¹²⁹ As well, SrO, as other basic catalyst, is very sensitive to the presence of FFA containing in most of low grade feedstocks and/or water.^{123,130} Therefore, both FFA and water should be removed prior the transesterification reaction with SrO in order to obtain optimum conversion of triglycerides to biodiesel. To overcome the FFA and water issues, mixing SrO with acidic material like zirconium oxide^{131,132} or acid zeolite¹³³ was found as an effective method for achieving in one pot esterification and transesterification of feedstocks presenting high amount of FFA and/or water and resulting in high conversion to biodiesel. Another effective process to remove impurities like FFA and water consist of washing the oil with low concentrated homogeneous base catalyst like KOH¹²⁴ and drying the feedstock prior the transesterification reaction.

The catalyst activity of SrO occur on its surface and the reaction mechanism is as follows (**Figure 8**)³⁷: In the beginning, surface O^{2-} extracts H⁺ from CH₃OH to form surface CH3O⁻ (step (2)), which is strongly basic and has high catalytic activity in the transesterification reaction. In the second step, the carbonyl carbon atom of the triglyceride molecule attracts a methoxide anion from the surface of the SrO to form a tetrahedral intermediate (step (3)), where R₁ represents the chain of alkyl group. In the third step, the tetrahedral intermediate picks up H⁺ from the surface of the SrO (step (4)). The tetrahedral intermediate also can react with methanol to generate methoxide anions (step (5)).¹³⁴ In the last step, rearrangement of the tetrahedral intermediate results in the formation of biodiesel (step (6)).³⁷

$$\begin{array}{cccc} CH_3O & H & CH_3O & H^+ \\ \hline & & & & \\ -Sr & -O & \longrightarrow & -Sr & O \end{array}$$

$$(2)$$

$$R_{1} - C_{OR}^{+} + CH_{3}O^{-} H^{+} \longrightarrow R_{1} - C_{O}^{-} O^{-} + H^{+} \longrightarrow R_{1} - C_{O}^{-} O^{-} + H^{+}$$
(3)

$$\begin{array}{c} \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_0}{\overset{|}}} & \overset{H^+}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{|}}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{|}}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\overset{I} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\underset{R_r}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH_3}{\overset{I}} & \overset{OCH$$

$$R_{1} \xrightarrow{OCH_{3}} R_{1} \xrightarrow{OCH_{3}} R_{1} \xrightarrow{OCH_{3}} + HOR$$
(6)

Figure 8: Mechanism of SrO catalyzed transesterification.

In order to increase the number of SrO active sites and/or to increase the surface area of the catalyst, great efforts were done recently to synthesize SrO on a suitable material

support.^{81,123,130,133} Such process involves a modification of the surface morphology and the texture of SrO. The homogenized dispersion of SrO in reaction medium will be also promoted after supporting it on a proper material.

Table 1 summarize <u>M</u>most of the <u>researchs</u> <u>developments</u> made on biodiesel production using SrO catalyst for transesterification reaction as bulk, or as mixed metal oxide, or as supported catalyst, using different sources of heating <u>are summarized in Table 1</u>.

Table 1. Literature review on biodiesel production using SrO based catalyst for transesterification reaction

Catalyst	Feedstock	Reaction conditions	Biodiesel yield (wt. %)	Refer- ence
Ba–Sr/ZSM-5 (6 wt.% Sr based on ZSM-5 wt and 4 wt.% Ba based on the Sr wt catalyst amount)	Sunflower oil	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount; Stirring: 500 rpm	87.7	133
Cu/SrO (CuO: 10 wt. %)	Hempseed oil	Hydrothermal heating; T=180°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 12:1; 3wt.% catalyst amount; 3 MPa	96	135
MgO - SrO (5 mmol Sr/g)	Palm olein oil	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 30 min ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 9:1; 5 wt. % catalyst amount	97.3	49
Sr/Ca (molar ratio : 0.5)	Palm oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 30 min ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 9:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount	98.31	136
Sr/CaO (Sr: ~ 17 wt. %)	Cotton- seed oil Waste fry- ing oil	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 2 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 3.5 wt.% catalyst amount	97.3 96.7	137
Sr/hydroxyapatit e (2.5 mmol Sr/g	Soybean oil	Conventional heating; T = 70°C; 5 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 5.6 wt.% catalyst	85	138

support)		amount		
Sr/Mg _{0.72} Al _{0.2} oxide (Sr: 1.5 wt. %)	Rice bran oil	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 20:1; 1.5 wt. % catalyst amount	56	139
Sr/MgO (2.5 mmol Sr/g support)	Soybean oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 30 min ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 12:1; 5 wt.% cata- lyst amount	93	140
Sr/NiO (molar ratio : 1)	Macaw oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 5 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 2 wt.% catalyst amount	97	141
Sr/ZnO (2.5 mmol Sr/g support)	Soybean oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 5 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount	94.7	142
Sr/ZrO ₂ (Sr: ~ 7wt. %)	Waste cooking palm oil	Hydrothermal heating; T = 113.7°C; 89 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 30:1; 2.1 wt.% catalyst amount	86.7	143
Sr ₂ TiO ₄ (molar ratio Sr/Ti: 0.8)	Soybean oil	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 15 min ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 15:1; 1wt. % cata- lyst amount	98	144
Sr ₃ Al ₂ O ₆ nano- composite	Soybean oil	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 61 min ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 25:1; 1.3 wt. % cata- lyst amount	95.7	145
SrAl ₂ O ₄	Rapeseed oil	Hydrothermal heating; T = 160°C; 2 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; Catalyst amount: 1.95 g	89	77
Sr-cinder (SrAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈ and Sr ₅ Al ₈ O ₁₇)	Soybean oil	Hydrothermal heating; T = 180°C; 1 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 24:1; 4 wt. % catalyst amount	97.1	123
SrO	Fried veg- etable oils	Catalytic bed sytem; T = 65°C; 40 min; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount; Flow rate of 100 mL/min	85	146

SrO	Camelina Sativa oil	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 120 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 0.5 wt.% catalyst amount	82	70
SrO	Babassu oil Castor oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 1 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount	97.2 96.4	129
SrO	Olive oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 15 min ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 6:1; 5wt. % catalyst amount	82	130
SrO	Palm oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 15:1; 3 wt. % catalyst amount	~ 92	147
SrO	Soybean oil	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 30 min ; MeOH: oil mo- lar ratio = 12:1; 3wt. % cata- lyst amount	95	37
SrO	Babassu coconut oil	Fixed bed reactor; RT (~25°C); 3 h ; Oil: MeOH weight ratio = 5:1; 1.5 wt.% catalyst amount	98.54	148
SrO	Waste cooking oil	Microwave irradiation; T = 60°C; 10 s ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 1.8 wt.% catalyst amount	99.8	124
SrO	Castor seed Jatropha seed	Microwave irradiation; T = 60°C; 5 min. ; 30 wt.% catalyst amount; CHCl ₃ :MeOH (1:2 v/v)	99.95 99.7	127
SrO	Nannochl oropsis sp.	Microwave irradiation; T = 60°C; 5 min. ; 30 wt.% catalyst amount; CHCl ₃ :MeOH (1:2 v/v)	99.9	149
SrO	Rapeseed oil	Supercritical MeOH condi- tions: hydrothermal heating; T = 220°C; 10 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 40:1; 1wt. % cat- alyst amount	> 90	150
SrO	Palm oil	Ultrasound heating; $T = 65^{\circ}C$;	93.37	151

		30.7 min ; MeOH: oil molar		
		ratio = $9:1: 2.5$ wt.% catalyst		
		amount: 130W: Pulse on: 9 s		
		and pulse off: 1 s		
		Ultrasound heating: $T = 65^{\circ}C$:		
		60 min : MeOH : oil molar ra-	95.2	
SrO	Palm oil	tio = 9:1: 3 wt.% catalyst		114
		amount: 50% amplitude		
		Ultrasound heating: $T = 65^{\circ}C$:		
SrO – CaO	Jatropha	30 min : MeOH: oil molar ratio		
(Sr/Ca wt. ratio-	oil	= 10:1:6 wt.% catalyst	95.4	152
1:6)	011	amount: 210W		
		Ultrasound heating: Supercriti-		
		cal EtOH: 30 min : $T = 350^{\circ}C$:		
SrO/Al ₂ O ₃	Rapeseed	EtOH : oil molar ratio = $12:1$:	97.46	153
(SrO: 2 wt. %)	oil	2 wt % SrO amount: Flow rate	,,,,,	
		of 300 mL/min: 30 MPa		
		Conventional heating: $T =$		
SrO/SiO ₂		65°C: 10 min : MeOH: oil mo-		
(molar ratio	Olive oil	lar ratio = 6.1 : 5wt % catalyst	95	130
Sr/Si: 6)		amount		
		Microwave irradiation: T =		
SrO/SiO ₂	Nannochl	60°C: 2 min. : 60 wt.% catalyst		
(wt. ratio Sr/Si:	oronsis sn	amount: CHCl ₂ :MeOH (1:2	99.9	154
2)	cropsis spi	v/v)		
	Chlorella	Conventional method: T =		
SrO/SiO ₂	vulgaris	45°C: 6 h .: 5.5 wt.% catalyst		
(molar ratio	ESP-31-	amount: MeOH : oil molar	81.8	155
Sr/Si: 6)	22.7 wt.%	ratio= 424:1		
		Hydrothermal heating; T =		
	Palm ker-	170°C: 3 h : MeOH: oil molar		
SrTiO ₃	nel oil	ratio = $20:1$; 10 wt. % catalyst	99.9	81
		amount		
		Conventional heating; T =		
	Soybean	60°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil molar	0.2	121
SrZrO ₃	oil	ratio = 12:1; 3wt. % catalyst	98	151
		amount		
870	***	Conventional heating; T =		
$SrZrO_3$	Waste	75°C; 7 h ; EtOH: oil molar	00.61	122
(2:1 atomic ra-	cooking	ratio = 12:1; 5 wt. % catalyst	99.61	132
tio)	011	amount; Stirring: 400 rpm		

Owing to the great potential of SrO, proper design of the catalyst¹⁵⁶ will allow in near future to move from laboratory scale to industrial and commercial biodiesel production, replacing the homogeneous base catalyst used nowadays in large-scale production for industry.

1.5 Feedstock for biodiesel production

The cost of feedstocks for biodiesel production represents 70–95% of the total production cost. Globally, there are more than 350 oil-bearing crops identified as potential sources for biodiesel production. Therefore selecting the cheapest feedstock is a vital issue to ensure low production cost of biodiesel.¹⁵⁷ The properties of biodiesel depend on the physico-chemical properties of feedstock and the production method.¹⁵⁸ A variety of feedstocks containing fatty acids, divided into different categories, such as vegetable oils or edible oils, non-edible oils, waste oils, animal fats, and algal lipids, have been evaluated for the production of biodiesel. It is very important to consider some parameters when comparing different feedstocks. Among the parameters, the most important ones are: availability of land, cultivation practices, energy supply and balance and, emission of greenhouse gases.

1.5.1 Vegetable oil

Vegetable oils and animal fats are considered an inexhaustible renewable source of energy. On the other hand, use of edible oil as feedstock gives rise to certain concerns like food crisis and subsequently, the price of edible oil raises, making the biodiesel production more expensive than petroleum. Moreover, the large-scale usage of vegetable oils for biodiesel production evolve a constant increase of starvation, deforestation, and usage of arable land.¹⁶ Therefore, great efforts have been devoted during the last decade to employ non-edible oils, waste cooking oils, and microalgae as feedstock for biodiesel production to overcome these issues.

1.5.2 Waste cooking oil (WCO)

The residual obtained after using oil for the cooking purposes is generally discarded with no further application, causing also environmental damage¹⁵⁹. Among the common used non-edible vegetable oils for biodiesel production, like jatropha seed oil^{160–163}, castor seed oil^{164–167}, karanja oil^{108,168}, linseed oil¹⁶⁹, cottonseed oil¹⁷⁰ that generally require extraction of oil before the transesterification process, WCO could be use as it or with pretreatment,

depending of its composition and of the type of the catalyst used. Moreover, the use of WCO as feedstock for biodiesel production can offer an interesting alternative to achieve a more sustainable biodiesel production worldwide, avoiding the use of edible oils in fuel applications.¹⁷¹ The price of waste edible oils, like cooked oils, is estimated to be 2-3 times cheaper than the virgin vegetable oil. Therefore, the use of cost-effective WCO can be a way to improve the economy of biodiesel production and its commercial production at an industrial scale.¹⁵⁷ The amounts of WCO generated by homes and restaurants are increasing rapidly due to the tremendous growth in human population. Moreover, the increment in food consumption has also contributed to the production of huge amounts of WCO.²⁹ Estimations on the amounts of annually generated WCO worldwide would account for a total of more than 15 million tons per year.²⁹ Using the wastes from cooking oil as a source of bio-diesel are not only economical, but also will affect positively the quality of the environment, because nowadays most of the used cooking oil is discharged into the city sewage system, causing water pollution and blockages in water drainage systems, which require extra work to clean. Moreover, water and soil pollution disturb the aquatic ecosystem in addition to being a human health concern.¹⁷² Despite the feasibility of recycling WCO, it is believed that such process would cause cancer because of the toxic contents produced when the oil is oxidized.²⁹

WCO have different physiochemical properties from those of refined and crude vegetable oils because of the physical and chemical changes, mainly due to thermolytic, oxidative and hydrolytic reactions that take place during frying at a temperature of $160 - 200^{\circ}$ C for relatively long period of time. Their properties depend on their composition and the degree of heating. A thermolytic reaction occurs in the absence of oxygen at high temperatures. A series of alkanes, alkenes, lower fatty acids, symmetric ketones, oxopropyl esters, CO, and CO₂ are produced from the saturated fatty acids in the oil. From the unsaturated fatty acids, diametric compounds such as dehydrodimers, saturated dimers, and polycyclic compounds are formed. Oxidative reaction occurs when oxygen in air meets the oil and reacts mainly with unsaturated fatty acids, resulting in the formation of various oxidation products. In the case of hydrolytic reaction, the steam produced during the processing of food containing water causes the hydrolysis of triglycerides, resulting mainly in the formation of FFA.¹⁷³ WCO contain generally high amounts of free fatty acids (FFA) compared to edible oils (5–20% w/w)¹⁷⁴, due to the presence of heat and water that accelerate the hydrolysis of trij
glycerides. Therefore, the transesterification reaction may be greatly affected and the conversion of WCO to biodiesel will be complicated, as FFA undergoes saponification in the presence of basic catalyst. Soap formation deactivates the catalyst activity, thus lowering the yield of biodiesel produced. Water and heat hinder also the separation of fatty acid esters and glycerol. Particularly, the viscosity of the oil increases considerably, because of the formation of dimeric, polymeric acids and glycerides in used cooking oils.¹⁷⁵ Hence, experimental conditions used in the transesterification reaction will influence the viscosity of the biodiesel. Different viscosities are due to the incomplete reaction of the WCO, leaving conjugated or free glycerol in the alkyl ester phase. In fact, the presence of glycerides changes the apparent viscosity of alkyl esters.¹⁷⁵ Nevertheless, the engine performance of biodiesel obtained from WCO is better than that of diesel fuel while the emissions produced by the use of biodiesel are less than those of diesel fuels except that there is an increase in NOx.¹⁵⁸

The use of base catalysts in the transesterification of cooked oil is limited because of the formation of soap during the reaction of fatty acid esters containing water with the catalyst. In addition, catalyst efficiency is reduced, the fatty acid esters yield is also reduced, and then, the separation of glycerol is difficult. To reduce the high FFA content in the oil, several pretreatment techniques of WCO have been proposed. The most common technique consists of a two-step transesterification process required to convert the FFA oils to its mono-esters. The first step, acid catalyzed esterification, aimed to reduce the FFA content of the oil to less than 2%. The second step, alkaline catalyzed transesterification process converts the products of the first step to its mono-esters and glycerol.^{176–178} Other processes consist of esterification with ion-exchange resins⁶⁷, neutralization with alkalis followed by soap separation by a decanter or centrifugation¹²⁴, and extraction with polar liquids along with acid esterification and distillation of FFA. To eliminate water content, a WCO sample is often heated to above 100°C. Then, the suspended solids, phospholipids, and other impurities commonly found on such oils after several reuses can be washed away with hot water or removed by centrifugation and paper filtration.

A summary of the recent developments in the catalytic processes for the conversion of waste cooking oil into biodiesel in batch and continuous flow process is presented in Table 2.

Catalyst	Reaction conditions	Batch/ Contin-	Conver- sion of WCO to biodiesel	Ref- er-
		uous	(wt. %)	chee
NaOH	Conventional heating; $T = 50^{\circ}C$; 30 min ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 7.5:1; 0.5 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	96	179
КОН	Conventional heating; T = 50°C; 30 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	99.46	180
КОН	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 1 h; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 7.5:1; 1.4 wt.% catalystBatch		99.38	181
NaOH	Conventional heating; $T = 65^{\circ}C$; 45min; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 0.72wt.% catalyst amount		92.05	182
КОН	Conventional heating; T=60°C; 2 h;MeOH: oil molar ratio = 10:1; 4wt.%catalyst amount		100	183
NaOH	Helicoidal; reactor; $T = 60^{\circ}C$; 75 min ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 0.6 wt.% catalyst amount		89.5	184
КОН	Hydrodynamic cavitation reactor; $T =$ 60 °C; 30 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1:1 wt. % catalyst amount		≥96.5	185
NaOH	Microwave irradiation; 3 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 15:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	97.2	186
NaOCH ₃	Microwave irradiation; 4.47 min; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 11.62:1; 0.68wt.% catalyst amount	Contin- uous	97.13	187
NaOH	H Microwave irradiation; $T = 78^{\circ}C$; 30 s ; EtOH : oil molar ratio = 12:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount		97	188
NaOH	Ultrasound heating; 150 s ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 8.6:1; 0.5 wt.% catalyst amount; 1 L/min		90	189
NaOH	Ultrasound heating; 2 min ; MeOH- EtOH (50%-50%): oil molar ratio =	Batch	98.7	190

Table 2: Catalytic processes for the conversion of waste cooking oil (WCO) to biodiesel

	9:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount; 300W			
КОН	Ultrasound heating; T=45°C; 40 min ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount; 200W	Batch	89.5	191
КОН	Ultrasound heating; ultrasonic amplitude of 56 %, vibration pulse of 62 % and flow rate of 50 mL/min	Contin- uous	91.6	192
Tris-dodecyl cerium (III)	Conventional heating; T = 100°C; 1 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 10 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	91.6	193
Mo-Mn/γ- Al ₂ O ₃ -15 wt % MgO			91.4	194
Encapsulated mixed lipaseConventional heating; T = 35°C; 60 h; MeAcetate : oil molar ratio = 12:1; 2 g catalyst loadingtilis and B. cepaciacatalyst loading		Batch	93.61	195
Novozyme 435 the im- mobilized form of Pseudozyma Antarctica lipase B in a macroporous resin	he m- d f Conventional heating; $T = 40^{\circ}C$; 24 h ; ma EtOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 5 wt. % ca catalyst n a bus		89.5	196
KOH/TZT (treated zeo- litic tuft)	Conventional heating; T = 50°C; 2 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 11.5:1; 6 wt. % catalyst amount	Batch	96.7	197
Cu doped ZnO nano- composite	ped Conventional heating; $T = 55^{\circ}C$; 50 ano- min; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 8:1; 12 wt. % catalyst		97.71	198
Tri- potassium phosphate	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 2 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 4 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	97.3	199
Acidic ionic liquid from 1-allyl-1H- imidazole, 1,3-propyl	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 20 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 25:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	87.58	200

sulfonic acid lactone and H ₂ SO ₄ on silica-gel				
Hydrated lime	Conventional heating; $T = 60^{\circ}$ C; 2h ; MeOH : oil ratio (vol.) = 0.17; 3.6 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	100	201
CaO derived from Mereterix mereterix	Conventional heating; $T = 60^{\circ}C$; 3 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6.03:1; 3.2 wt.% catalyst amount		97.74	202
Oil palm ash	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 30 min ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 18:1; 5.35 wt.% catalyst amount	71.74	203	
Sea sand	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 6 h; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 7.5 wt. % catalyst		95.4	101
CaO sup- ported on activated carbon	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 8 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 25:1; 295 mm packed bed height	Fixed bed re- actor	94	204
Snail shell	Snail shellConventional heating; T = 60°C; 8 h; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6.03:1; 2 wt.% catalyst amount		99.58	205
Mg-Al-Na mixed oxides	Conventional heating; T = 60°C; 8 h; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 9:1; 7 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	67	206
Egg shell	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 1 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	94.52	110
KBr impreg- nated CaO	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 1.8 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 3 wt. % catalyst	Batch	83.6	207
$\begin{array}{c} Zn_{1.2}H_{0.6}PW_1\\ {}_2O_{40}\ Nano-\\ tubes \end{array}$	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 12 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 28:1; 2.5 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	97.2	208
Zr _{0.7} H _{0.2} PW ₁ 2O ₄₀ with nanotube structure	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 14 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 20:1; 2.12 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	98.5	209
Al _{0.9} H _{0.3} PW ₁	Conventional heating; $T = 65^{\circ}C$; 14 h ;	Batch	96.1	210

2O40 nano-	MeOH : oil molar ratio = 34:1: 3 wt.%				
tubes	catalyst amount				
Heteropoly acid	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 14 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 70:1; 10 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	88.6	211	
β-K ₂ Zr ₂ O ₅	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 2 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 10:1; 4 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	96.85	212	
Waste coral fragments	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 2 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 15:1; 100 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	98	213	
CaO and ZrO ₂ mixed oxides	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 2 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 30:1; 10 wt.% catalyst amount	Conventional heating; $T = 65^{\circ}C$; 2 h;MeOH : oil molar ratio = 30:1; 10Batchwt.% catalyst amount $Batch$			
Waste os- trich- and chicken- eggshells	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 2 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 1.5 wt. % catalyst amount	Batch	96	215	
Calcined scallop shell	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 2 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 5 wt. % catalyst	Batch	86.0	104	
Waste mud crab shells and cockle- shells	d s MeOH : oil molar ratio = 13:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount		98	216	
CaO	CaO Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 3 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount		92	146	
Ba meliorat- ed construc- tion site waste marble	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 3 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 9:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	88	102	
Cs _{0.6} Zr _{0.4} O ₂ / Al ₂ O ₃	$/ \begin{array}{c} \text{Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 3 h;} \\ \text{MeOH: oil molar ratio = 30:1; 3 wt.\%} \\ \text{catalyst amount} \end{array} $ Bat		90	217	
Ba doped CaO derived from waste shells of T	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	>98	218	
Chicken	Conventional heating; $T = 65^{\circ}C$; 4 h ;	Batch	89.33	219	

bone	MeOH: oil molar ratio = 15:1; 5 wt. % catalyst; agitation speed of 500 rpm			
Mono lacu- nary phos- photungstate anchored to MCM-41	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 6 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 8:1; 6wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	90	220
KF supported Mg ₃ Al _{0.6} La _{0.4}	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 8 h; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	98.9	221
KHCO ₃ loaded in Al ₂ O ₃	Conventional heating; T = 65°C; 90 min ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 1.5 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	96.8	222
p- toluenesul- fonic acid doped poly- aniline	Conventional heating; T = 70°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 10:1; 4 wt.% catalyst amount		97.1	223
Sr:Zr mixed oxide	Conventional heating; T = 75°C; 7 h;EtOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 5 wt. %catalyst amount; Stirring: 400 rpm		99.61	132
FeCl ₃ - modified res- in	Conventional heating; T = 78°C; 3 h ; EtOH: oil molar ratio = 4:1; 10.97 wt. % catalyst	Batch	92.13	224
KF- Impregnated Clam Shells	Conventional heating; T=65°C; 2 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 4wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	95.77	225
Potassium methoxide	Hydrodynamic cavitation reactor; 30 min ; MeOAc : oil molar ratio = 12:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	90	226
Basic ionic liquid [TBP][OH]	Hydrothermal heating; T = 100°C; 3 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 21:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	82	227
Pyrolyzed Rice husk	Pyrolyzed Rice huskHydrothermal heating; T = 110°C; 15 h; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 20:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount		87.57	228
WOx/Al ₂ O ₃	Hydrothermal heating; $T = 110^{\circ}$ C; 2 h ; MeOH : oil weight ratio = 0.3:1; 1 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	97.5	229
Sulfonated carbon mi-	Hydrothermal heating; T = 110°C; 4 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 10:1; 10%	Batch	89.6	230

crospheres	catalyst amount			
Sr/ZrO ₂	Hydrothermal heating; T = 115.5°C; 87 min ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 29:1; 2.7 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	79.7	231
SO ₄ ²⁻ /ZrO ₂	Hydrothermal heating; T = 120°C; 4 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 9:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	93.6	232
Silica sulfu- ric acid	Hydrothermal heating; T = 120°C; 8h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 20:1; 4 wt.% catalyst amount	98.66	233	
Zinc alumi- nate	Hydrothermal heating; T = 150°C; 2 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 40:1; 10 wt.% catalyst amount	>95	234	
SO ₄ ²⁻ /SnO ₂ - SiO ₂	Hydrothermal heating; T = 150°C; 3 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 15:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	92.3	235
Barium- modified montmoril- lonite K10	Hydrothermal heating; T = 150°C; 5 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 12:1; 10.97 wt. % catalyst		83.38	236
Active clay- based cata- lyst	Hydrothermal heating; $T = 150^{\circ}C$; 5 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 15:1; 3.5 B wt.% catalyst amount		96	237
Mn _{1.4} Zr _{0.35} Al 0.6O ₃	Hydrothermal heating; T = 150°C; 5h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 14:1; 2.5 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	93	238
CuO-CeO ₂	Hydrothermal heating; T = 160°C; 20 min ; 30% MeOH; 1% wt./v catalyst	Batch	92.59	239
Metakaolin- ite	takaolin- ite Hydrothermal heating; T = 160°C; 4 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 23:1; 5 wt.% catalyst amount		95	240
TiO ₂ –MgO	Hydrothermal heating; T = 160°C; 6 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 50:1; 10 wt.% catalyst amount		92.3	241
Activated carbon sup- ported KF	Hydrothermal heating; T = 175°C; 1 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 8.85:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	83	242
$\begin{array}{c} Mg_{1\text{-}x}\\ Zn_{1\text{+}x}O2 \end{array}$	ported KFwt.% catalyst amount Mg_{1-x} Hydrothermal heating; T = 188°C; $Zn_{1+x}O2$ 4h15 ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 9:1;2.55 wt.% catalyst amount		80	243

Ferric– Manganese Doped Tung- stated Zirco- nia NPs	Hydrothermal heating; T = 200°C; 4h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 25:1; 4 wt.% catalyst amount; 600 rpm	Batch	96	244
Ionic liquid [HMim][HS O ₄]	Hydrothermal heating; T = 255°C; 45 min ; 9.62 MPa; 0.35 mL catalyst	Batch	97.6	245
SO4 ^{2–} /Zr- SBA-15	Hydrothermal heating; T=160°C; 12 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 30:1; 10wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	91.7	246
SrO	Microwave irradiation; T = 60°C; 10 s ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 6:1; 1.8 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	99.8	124
Zr-SBA- 15/bentonite	Packed bed reactor; T = 210°C; 30 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 50:1; 28 g catalyst amount	Contin- uous	96	247
Zinc stearate immobilized on silica gel (ZS/Si)	Parr reactor; T = 200°C; 10 h ; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 18:1; 3 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	98	248
Waste egg	Reactive distillation system; $T = 65^{\circ}C$; 7 b: MeOH: oil molar ratio = 4.1	Contin-	93.48	249
Egg shell	RT; 11 h ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 5.8 wt.% catalyst amount	Batch	94.52	109
BaO	Simultaneous microwave and ultra- sound irradiations: 2 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 0.75 wt. % catalyst amount; 200W (100/100 MW/US).	Batch	93.5	250
Modified coal fly ash	d Ultrasound heating; 1.41 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 10.71:1; 4.97wt.% catalyst amount		95.57	251
Hydrotalcite	Ultrasound heating; 60 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 15:1; 8 wt. % catalyst amount; ultrasound amp. 55%	Batch	76.45	80
Sulfonated carbon de- rived from cyclodextrin	Ultrasound heating; T = 117°C; 8.8 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 20:1; 11.5 wt. % catalyst	Batch	90.8	252
K ₃ PO ₄	Ultrasound heating; T = 50°C; 90 min ; MeOH: oil molar ratio = 6:1; 3 wt.%	Batch	92	253

	catalyst amount			
	catalyst alloulit			
Na-silica	Ultrasound heating; $T = 55^{\circ}C$; 30 min ;			
unasta sponga	MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 3 wt.%	Batch	98.4	254
waste sponge	catalyst amount			
Calaium di	Ultrasound heating; $T = 60^{\circ}C$; 30 min ;			
Calcium ui-	MeOH: oil molar ratio = 9:1; 1 wt.%	Batch	93.5	255
glyceroxide	catalyst amount			
Novozym				
435 (lipase B				
from Can-				
dida antarcti-				
ca; immobi-	Ultrasound heating; $I=60^{\circ}C$; 4 n ; Di-	D 1	0.6.61	250
lized on	methyl carbonate: oil molar ratio = $6:1;$	Batch	86.61	230
macro-	10 wt.% catalyst amount; 200W			
porous poly-				
acrylic resin				
beads)				

The potential for biodiesel production from WCO is still limited, as the estimation of WCO generation can meet less than 30% of the world's biodiesel demand.¹⁷⁴ Therefore, the remaining amounts of biodiesel production need to be provided from other feedstocks.

1.5.3 Microalgae

Algae are another <u>sustainable</u> source of triglycerides. Algae are a large and diverse group of simple aquatic organisms that are mostly microscopic. Microalgae are unicellular photosynthetic microorganisms that are deficient of cell types found in land plants.⁴ Microalgae are photosynthetic microorganisms capable of converting sunlight, atmospheric CO₂ and wastewater into a variety of high energy molecules, including fatty acids (FA) and triacylglycerols (TAGs), the major feedstock used for biodiesel or FAME production.^{257,258} Microalgae, also called third generation fuel, are considered one of the most promising feedstocks for biofuels.²⁵⁹ The productivity of these photosynthetic microorganisms in converting CO₂ into carbon rich lipids greatly exceeds that of agricultural oleaginous erops (6.9*10⁴ cells/mL/h)²⁶⁰, without competing for arable land and food crops.²⁶¹ The microalgae efficiency is also high, with biofuel yields up to 12000L/ha, which is much higher than terrestrial plants.²⁵⁸ Microalgae can be grown on fresh or salt water, and even in a wastewater environment.²⁵⁸ Microalgae represent a large

number of different photosynthesis species in both heterotrophic and autotrophic. The autotrophic microalgae species can fix inorganic carbon from CO2, to form mainly carbohydrates, in which the carbohydrate can be converted into fermentable sugars for further conversion to bioethanol by selected microbial.²⁶³ The heterotrophic microalgae species take up organic molecules and convert into mainly lipids, which are used in biodiesel production.⁴ Phototrophic cultivation is the most common way of microalgae cultivation. The photosynthesis required two sources, which are solar radiation and carbon sources. The light is needed for carbon fixation and for increasing the growth rate of microalgae, resulted in high production of microalgae biomass. However, low intensity of light will inhibit the photosynthesis process. The carbon source is a vital for the growth of microalgae.²⁶⁰ The higher concentration of carbon will result in faster growth rate and higher biomass productivity, but has the tendency to reduce the pH in the cultivation medium that may inhibit the growth of microalgae. Concentration of nitrogen and carbon to nitrogen ratio are also crucial to determine the growth rate of microalgae. As a result, selecting right cultivation system for microalgae biofuels production highly depends on the type of microalgae strain, applied technology, and biological conversion process.⁴ Microalgae are known to produce high oil and biomass yields, can be grown on non arable land and do not compete with common food resources. Recent advances present opportunities to develop microalgae as feedstock for biodiesel production in a sustainable and economical way within the next 10 to 15 years.^{264,265} Microalgae can be cultivated from several aqueous systems such as open ponds, closed pounds, photo bioreactors, or hybrid photo reactors. The most common cultivation technologies are ponds and photobioreactors. Microalgae cultivation systems are usually classified into open or closed systems depending on their cultivation conditions. In open systems, microalgae are cultivated in open area environment such as ponds, lagoons, deep channels, and others. In closed systems, microalgae are cultivated in vessels with transparent wall and exposed under sunlight or artificial radiation to facilitate photosynthesis.²⁶⁶ Among the different types of open ponds used for microalgae cultivation, such as raceway, shallow ponds, or circular ponds, the most common open system is raceway pond due to its potential to produce large quantity of microalgae. However, the problem with raceway pond system is the difficulty to control the surrounding environment condition, like temperature and pressure, which will directly affect the microalgae biomass productivity. The highest biomass production rate obtained with raceway pond are 60 100mg/L/day of dry microalgae weight.²⁶⁷ Photo-bioreactors technologies are closed systems designed to overcome the problems associated with open pond system. Photo-bioreactors will allow the cultivating of single species microalgae for longer period than open raceways and able to produce large quantity of microalgae biomass. Photo-bioreactors are more practical and productive in order to cultivate microalgae due to the effective controlled conditions cultivation (pH, temperature, CO₂ concentration, etc.) and the reduction of the risk of contamination. The two main factors that affect reactor efficiency are the total illuminated surface area of the reactor and culture volume. The lower these values, the more efficient and cost effective the reactor. In order to reduce the light intensity at the reactor surface, loading the reactor units vertically could be an efficient way as shown in **Figure 9** and **Figure 10.**^{264,268} Narrow spacing in the panels minimizes loss of light to the ground surface.



Figure 9: The principle of light dilution. The light intensity (I), striking closely spaced vertical panels, is much lower than the intensity striking a horizontal reactor on the same surface. (our emphasis is not on algae cultivation and harvesting rather on the conversion so please delete these aspects) and focus more on the catalytic conversion of algae to biodiesel

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean



Figure10 : Development of low-cost photo-bioreactors. Flat panel reactors from Proviron, Belgium

Open raceway ponds are more productive per unit illuminated area than flat plate reactors, but they require six times more volume than closed photo-bioreactors to produce the same amount of algae.²⁶² However, capital costs are much higher than open systems.²⁶⁹ Microalgae have the highest growth rates among all the photosynthetic organisms.²⁷⁰ Approximately 46 tons of oil/hectare/year can be produced from diatom algae.²⁷¹ These characteristics make them an attractive source of biodiesel production. However, microalgae have low biomass concentrations and need controlled environment with specific physical and chemical conditions for an optimal cultivation and harvesting.²⁷⁰ Therefore, the cultivation of microalgae remain costly in comparison with common crops used for biodiesel production.

Algal biomass contains macromolecular proteins, polysaccharides, and lipids, along with inorganic components.²⁷² Only the lipid contents are extracted and generally targeted to produce biodiesel whereas carbohydrates are extracted to produce ethanol.

Biodiesel production from microalgae is mainly divided into 3 main stages: a) cultivation, b) harvesting, and c) lipid extraction and transesterification for biodiesel production. A process flow of biofuels derived from microalgae biomass is shown in **Figure 11**.⁴



Figure 11: Flow diagram of biofuels production from microalgae (delete the flow chart). Harvesting process is usually costly and accounted about 20 30% of total biofuels production cost. Therefore, it is important to choose appropriate harvesting methods to minimize the overall cost. The harvesting methods are highly dependent on the type of microalgae, cells density and desired target products. Algal cultures are very dilute, usually around 1% for autotrophic growth up to 10% for heterotrophic growth, and dewatering is necessary prior to biomass use.²⁵⁸ Harvesting of microalgae can be divided into two step process. The first step is bulk harvesting where biomass is separated from the bulk culture, such as floeculation, flotation or sedimentation. The second step is to concentrate the biomass slurry via techniques like centrifugation and filtration.^{273,274} Dehydration process is an immediate process after harvesting which is important for dried microalgae biomass production. The most common drying methods that are usually used are sun drying, lowpressure shelf drying and, freeze drying (lyophilized). Sun drying process is the cheapest among all dehydration methods, but requires large surfaces area and very time consuming. Consequently, harvesting and dewatering methodologies require high energy consumption,

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

such as centrifugation and tangential filtration, representing until 57% of the final biomass cost, and compromise the overall net energy ratio.²⁵⁸

The lipids produced by microalgae are usually between 12 and 22 carbons long and can be saturated or unsaturated. For biodiesel production, saturated fatty acids between 12 and 16 carbons are desirable.²⁵⁸ The lipid content of microalgae is dependent on the microalgae species and cultivation conditions. This means that the microalgae could be tailored such that the lipid content is maximum leading to higher yields of biodiesel. Microalgae have the capability to grow rapidly and could accumulate large amounts of natural lipid, which is approximately between 20 and 70 % of lipid content from the dry biomass.⁴ The growth of rich lipid microalgae requires a long period of microalgae starvation of nitrogen, rising the energy consumption during the cultivation step. Faced with stresses such as nutrient deprivation, algae store chemical energy in the form of oils such as neutral lipids or triglycerides.²⁶⁴

The usual method for extracting lipids from the whole algae biomass consists of mixing the microalgae with an organic solvent or adopt other methods like the use of a functional membrane coated with a cationic polymer²⁷⁵ or the use of ionic liquids.²⁷⁶ This strategy of extracting the lipids from the rest of the components of algae is cumbersome and increase the operation cost. Thus strategies for the insitu isolation of lipids and their conversion to biodiesel are developed (add references). Due to the low performance of aliphatic alcohols such as methanol as lipids extractants from microalgae, the incorporation of a co-solvent like chloroform could accelerate lipids extraction; improve the mass transfer as well as the performance of direct transesterification process. Extracted microalgae lipids are then converted to biodiesel by transesterification using alcohol and catalyst. Recently, a combination of lipid extraction and biodiesel conversion in a one step process, called direct (in-situ) transesterification, was reported.¹⁴⁹ This methodology simplifies the production process and improves the biodiesel yield compared to conventional extraction because of the elimination of a lipid extraction step that involves lipid loss and reduces the number of stages in the biodiesel production process as shown in Figure 12.4 Direct transesterification has several advantages, like the cell disruption, lipid extraction and transesterification reaction in single step and was proven to be favorable over conventional methods.²⁷⁷ The conventional two-step preparation of biodiesel from microalgae display several disadvantages in comparison to in situ transesterification, including the operation complexity, a longer process time, a high energy consumption and a relatively high cost, which restricted the commercial production of biodiesel from microalgae. Higher biodiesel yield is obtained in direct transesterification than in a two stages process.^{17,20} Moreover, direct transesterification provides energy efficient and economical routes for biodiesel production.²⁷⁹



Transesterification of microalgal oils for biodiesel production has been carried out by both homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis. A brief summary, pros, and cons of the state of the art processes for the conversion of microalgal lipids from different species into

Table 3: State of the strategies for the production of biodiesel from microalgae

biodiesel are presented in Table 3.

Catalyst	Micro algae species - oil content	Reaction conditions (Lipid extraction method; Transesterification reaction: heating source strategy; tem- perature; time; catalyst amount; MeOH : oil molar ratio)	Biodiesel yield (wt. %)	Reference
H_2SO_4	<i>Chlorella</i> algae – 15 wt.%	<i>In situ</i> transesterification: con- ventional heating; 60°C; 4 h ; 20 wt.%; 801:1	98.44	40
H_2SO_4	Chlorella pyr- enoidosa - 20 wt.%	Hexane; MW irradiation; 90°C; 30 min .; 3 vol. %; 8:1	86.74	280

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

		In situ transesterification: con-		
Haso	Chlorella sp	ventional heating; 60°C; 19 h .;	92	281
112504	12 wt.%	catalyst : lipid molar ratio =	92	-
		0.35:1; 600:1		
		Ultrasonic irradiation; T =		
	Entenomente	65°C; 1h30 ; 10 wt.% catalyst		
H_2SO_4	Enteromorpha	amount; MeOH: algal biomass	98.89	282
	compressa	ratio = 5.5:1; 30 vol% of THF		
		as a co-solvent		
	Nannochlo-	Conventional method; T =		
H_2SO_4	ropsis	95°C; 1h30; 0.3 g H ₂ SO ₄ ;	91.1	283
	oceanica	$CHCl_3:MeOH = 1:2 (v/v)$		
		MW irradiation; $T = 60^{\circ}C$; 15		
КОН	Chiorella vul-	min .; 1.5 wt.% catalyst amount;	84.01	284
	garis	MeOH: lipid molar ratio = 10:1		
	Inoculum	MW irradiation; $T = 60^{\circ}C$; 4		
VOU	Nannochlo-	min. ; 2 wt.% catalyst amount;	00.12	285
КОН	ropsis	MeOH : algae ratio $= 12:1$	80.13	285
	sp.,	(wt./vol)		
		MW irradiation; 350 W; 6 min.;		
NaOH	Chlorella sp.	2 wt.% catalyst amount; EtOH:	96.2	286
		algae molar ratio $= 500:1$		
		Lipid extraction: Folch method;		
NEOU	Chlorella vul-	incubator shaker; $T = 60^{\circ}C$; 10	06	287
NaOH	garis	min.; 96 wt.% catalyst amount;	96	207
		MeOH : oil molar ratio = 925:1		
	Chlandland	Conventional method; T =		
NaOU	Chiorella vul-	45°C; 15 min. ; 0.5 wt% catalyst	07.2	288
NaOH	garls ESP-51-	amount; hexane/ MeOH/ sam-	91.2	200
	20.5 WL.%	ple = 12 mL/8 mL/2 g		
		Conventional method; T =		
NaOU	Nannochlo-	60°C; 75 min .; catalyst : lipid	77 6	289
ПаОп	ropsis sp.	molar ratio of 0.15:1; MeOH:	//.0	207
		lipid molar ratio = $600:1$		
		Lipid extraction: MW irradia-		
		tion (5 min., 65°C) using		
	Nannochlo-	MeOH – hexane in the ratio of		
NaOH	ropsis sp. –	1:2 (% v/v) as solvent; MW ir-	86.41	290
	38.31 wt.%	radiation; T = 65°C; 10 min. ;		
		0.2 g of catalyst; MeOH : hex-		
		ane (1:1 v/v)		

Ca(OCH ₃) ₂	Nannochlo- ropsis oculata	Conventional method; 80°C; 3 h .; 3 wt.% catalyst amount; MeOH : oil molar ratio= 30 :1	99	291
CaMgO/Al 2O3	Chlorella pro- tothecoides	Ultrasonic irradiation (5 min.) using Bligh and Dyer method; Microreactor; 60°C; 3 h ; 10 wt.%; 60:1	85.3	292
CaO/Al ₂ O ₃	Nannochlo- ropsis oculata	Hexane; conventional heating; 50°C; 4 h ; 2 wt.%; 30:1	97.5	293
CH ₃ COCl	Nannochlo- ropsis gaditana - 11.1 wt%	Bligh and Dyer method; hydro- thermal; 100°C; 1h45 ; 5 % (v/v); 171.1:1 (mL.g ⁻¹)	100	294
Free lipase NS81006 and Novo- zym 435	Chlorella pro- tothecoides	Bligh and Dyer method; con- ventional heating; 45°C; 6 h ; 5 wt.%; 5:1	97	295
Ion ex- change resins	Nannochlo- ropsis gaditana – 42 wt.%	Hydrothermal method; T = 100°C; 4 h ; 0.8 wt.% catalyst amount; MeOH: lipid weight ratio = 40:1	90	296
KF/CaO	Chlorella vul- garis – 21.13 wt. %	Combination of ultrasound and MW irradiation; T = 60°C; 45 min .; 12 wt.% catalyst amount; MeOH: lipid molar ratio = 8:1	93.07	297
Li4SiO4	Dry microal- gae powder - 30 wt.%	Lipid extraction: MW irradia- tion (40 min.) using n-hexane / iso-propanol (2:1) as solvent; conventional heating; T = 68°C; 4 h ; 3 wt.% catalyst amount; MeOH : oil molar ratio = 18:1	76.2	298
Mg/Al hy- drotalcites	Chlorella pro- tothecoides CS-41	Conventional method; T = 66°C; 4 h ; 1.7 wt.% catalyst amount; MeOH: lipid molar ratio = 6.4:1	90.3	299
Mg–Fe LDH	Chlorella pro- tothecoides CS-41	Conventional method; T = 60°C; 1.5 h .; 2 wt.% catalyst amount; MeOH : oil molar ra- tio= 6:1	88	300

		Conventional method; T =		
	Nannochlo-	65°C; 4 h ; 10 wt.% catalyst		
Mg-Zr	ropsis sp	amount; MeOH: lipid weight	28	301
C	46.43 wt.%	ratio = $10:1$; volume ratio		
		MeOH : $CH_2Cl_2 = 2:1$		
	Aurantio-	Conventional method; T =		
Novozyme	chytrium sp.	50°C; 12 h .; enzyme to biomass		202
435	KRS101- 56.8	ratio of 30% (w/w); DMC to	89.5	302
	wt.%	biomass ratio of 5:1 (v/w)		
		Incubation; $T = 35^{\circ}C$; 72 h .; 70		
Rhizopus	Nannochlo-	wt% lipase/lipid ratio: MeOH:		202
oryzae li-	ropsis	lipid molar ratio = $11:1:10$ mL	83	303
pase	gaditana	t-butanol/g Lipid.		
	Nannochlo-	Conventional method; T =		
Sand dollar	ropsis	60°C; 3 h .; 3 wt.% catalyst	90	304
	oculata	amount; MeOH : $oil = 30:1$		
		MW irradiation; $T = 60^{\circ}C$; 5		
SrO	Nannochlo-	min. ; 30 wt.% catalyst amount;	99.9	149
	ropsis sp.	CHCl ₃ :MeOH (1:2 v/v)		
	<i></i>	Conventional method; T =		
~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Chlorella vul-	45°C; 6 h.; 5.5 wt.% catalyst		155
$SrO/S1O_2$	garis ESP-31-	amount; MeOH : oil molar ra-	81.8	155
	22.7 wt.%	tio= 424:1		
		Conventional method; TiO ₂ -		
	Hydrodictyon	CaO molar ratio $0.25T = 50^{\circ}C;$		
TiO ₂ -CaO	reticulatum -	8.5 h .; 5.12 wt.% catalyst	86.4	305
	41.4 wt.%	amount; MeOH : oil molar ra-		
		tio= 15.68:1		
		Lipid extraction: ultrasonic ir-		
XX7	Nannochlo-	radiation (5 min.) using Bligh		
waste snell	ropsis	and Dyer method; conventional	04.11	306
of Angel	Oculata – 29.2	heating; T = 65°C; 1 h ; 9 wt.%	84.11	500
Wing	wt.%	catalyst amount; MeOH : oil		
		molar ratio $= 150:1$		
		Ultrasonic irradiation; Lipid		
	Somoder	extraction solvent: hexane; T =		
WO ₃ /ZrO ₂	Sceneaesmus	50°C; 20 min. ; 4 wt.% catalyst	71.37	307
	<i>sp 29</i> Wt.%	amount; MeOH : oil molar ra-		
		tio = 60:1		

Although microalgae have high potential to produce biodiesel with high conversion and replace the current fossil fuels, challenges to commercialize the production at large scale need to be overcome. The main challenge is the cost for the biodiesel production from microalgae that is high. Low cost with high efficient and low contamination harvesting techniques are non-negligible obstacles faced by the current stages of microalgae cultivation. Extracting the oil from the dried microalgae is another challenge; even though the microalgae are recognized of high lipid contents, but oil extraction is not as predicted.

Beside or because of the production limitations mentioned above, in a practical point of view, if, for example, all transport fuels were to be replaced by biodiesel in Europe, the scale of microalgae production needs to increase at least three orders of magnitude, with a decrease in the cost of production by a factor of 10. Consequently, large scale of biodiesel production from microalgae is challenging in both economic viability and energetic balance.²⁵⁹ Therefore, the main objective targeted in this arena is to reduce production costs and energy requirements while maximizing lipid productivity and increasing the biomass value by making use of all algal biomass components. For cost, energy reduction and maximization of lipid productivity cell properties, bioreactor design, efficiency in supply, and use of nutrients and resources need to be improved, and to make use of all biomass ingredients, a biorefinery infrastructure needs to be established in addition to the development of innovative strategies for the single step catalystic conversion of algal biomass to bio-deisel.²⁶⁴

1.6 Microwave irradiation as effective heating source for biodiesel production

1.6.1 Principles of microwave irradiation

Microwave (MW) irradiation is a potential technique for accelerating chemical reactions by several orders of magnitude. MW is a non-ionizing radiation, specifically electromagnetic waves that can be transmitted, reflected, or absorbed. MW irradiation is an electromagnetic irradiation in the range of wavelengths from 0.01 to 1 m and corresponding frequency range of 0.3 to 300 GHz (Figure 13).³⁰⁸ Generally, most of the microwaves irradiations operate at a frequency of 2.45 GHz.



Figure 13: The electromagnetic spectrum (delete the figure; this is present in several text books)

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

A MW heating process can be divided into two stages: the input electrical energy is first converted to MW energy, and then the microwave energy, in the form of electromagnetic waves, is absorbed by dielectric media and converted to effective heat. A macroscopic consequence of the whole process is the rising temperature of the heating media.³⁰⁹

Microwaves, as an energy source, produce heat by the interaction of the electric field of radiation with the materials at molecular level without altering the molecular structure, due to their low energy content.³¹⁰-The microwave-absorption ability of a certain material depends on its dielectric properties, including dielectric constant and dielectric dissipation factor, which yet may be varying with temperature and microwave frequency.³⁰⁹ MW have a selective heating function, depending on the polarity of the heated material. Non-polar molecules are inert in their contact with MW electric fields while polar molecules with high dielectric constant and low molecular weight can selectively absorb MW energy.³¹¹ This selective heating of certain compounds may lead to the formation of microzones with a temperature much higher than the overall recorded temperature of the reaction bulk mixture. These high temperature microzones are called "hot spots" (above 1200° C).³¹² Thus, a rapid enhancement of temperature is produced which may lead to an increase in the acceleration of chemical reaction rate.³¹³ Dielectric properties are defined as frequency of applied electric field of the MW and temperature dependent of the sample. The dielectric loss factor is related to the electromagnetic energy dissipation in the material. Interaction between MW energy and the mixture occurs through two major mechanisms: dipolar rotation and ionic conduction.³¹⁴ These mechanisms by which MW energy can interact with the material, depending if the material possesses or not a dipole moment at the molecular level. If a molecule, especially the solvent, possesses a dipole moment, then, the interaction between the material and the applied electrical field generated by the microwaves during irradiation will lead to the heating of the material due to its net polarization. Because of the dipole moment, the molecules will be reoriented and aligned with the electric field through continuous oscillations of the dipole moment molecules, resulting in friction, and thus, heat. In ionic conduction, the electric field of the MW will generate the movement of the ions from side to side through the dissolved charged particles. When the electric field direction changes, the larger ions dissipate their kinetic energy as heat as they slow down and change direction via friction at molecular levels. Consequently, collisions and friction between the moving molecules is created and generated heat again. In addition, because of the molecular collisions at high frequency, the molecules do not have enough time to relax and the generated heat can be, for short times, much greater than the overall temperature of the bulk reaction mixture, obtaining instantaneous localized superheating. Both mechanisms contribute to localized superheating leading to high temperature and pressure gradients. At the same time, the probability of molecular encounters increases by accelerating the molecular/ionic movement, which leads to increased reaction rates.315 Nevertheless, the mechanisms of interaction and their efficiency in term of heat production are strongly dependent on the structure of materials, type and strength of chemical bonds between atoms.³¹⁶-MW acceleration of chemicals is strongly dependent on the reaction mixture or the solvent having a dipole moment.

The electromagnetic energy (average power) absorbed by the volume V of a dielectricmaterial, which is converted into heat, is obtained from Maxwell's equations, and is given by equation 1:

$$P = \omega \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{ef}^{"} E_{rms}^2 V - (eq.1)$$

Where P is the power (W) absorbed by the material,

 $-\frac{\varepsilon_{\rm ff}}{\varepsilon_{\rm ff}}$ is the vacuum permittivity (=8.85 *10⁻¹² F/m),

 $-\frac{c_{at}^{\mu}}{c_{at}}$ is the dielectric loss factor - the thermal conversion of electromagnetic energy

 E_{rms}^2 is the root mean square of the applied oscillating electrical field (V/m) with frequency

Formatted: Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Formatted: Justified, Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Formatted: Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

 $f(\omega = 2\pi f)$ over the volume V (m³) of the sample.

Another factor that can be used to explain the dielectric heating is the loss tangent, which depends

on relaxation time (τ), as is defined as: $\tan \delta = \frac{\varepsilon_{eff}^{\mu}}{\epsilon_{ef}^{\prime}} / \frac{\varepsilon_{eff}^{\prime}}{\epsilon_{eff}^{\prime}} (eq. 2)$ (ε^{-1} is the relative dielectric constant — the storage of electromagnetic energy in the material) and is an important parameter in describing the dielectric response of materials in terms of, for example, the penetration depth (Dp), the distance at which the amplitude of the electrical field is restrained to $1/\epsilon = 0.369$ of its initial value at the surface of the material.³¹⁴ The microwave absorption ability of a material is directly proportional to its dissipation factor.

1.6.2 Microwave assisted transesterification reaction

MW efficiency may relate to the ionic nature of the transition state of the transesterification reaction. The mixture contains fatty acid and alcohol, which have polar and ionic components, and hence MW irradiation can play an active role in heating the reactants to the required temperature quickly and efficiently. Therefore, MW is coupling with the reacting molecules and causing the acceleration of the chemical reaction.³¹⁶ The microwave interaction with the reaction compounds (triglycerides and methanol) results in a large reduction of activation energy due to an increased dipolar polarization phenomenon.²⁷⁹ Likewise, methanol is known to be very active under a specific frequency of the microwave, which increases its collision probability with other reactant. For a reaction rate, $K = A \times e^{-\Delta G/_{RT}}$ (Arrhenius equation describing the reaction rate by two factors: ΔG , which is Gibbs free energy of activation and A, which is the pre-exponential factor), the constant A, which describes the molecular mobility, is increased under microwave irradiation due to the increased vibration frequency of the molecules at the reaction interface.³¹⁷ Methanol is more polar than other alcohols because of its smaller molecular size and the shorter distance between the poles, which allows it to rotate and realign faster. Furthermore, the smaller molecules also have a higher dipole moment.³¹⁸ Presence of methanol in transesterification reaction helps also to decrease catalyst requirement to less than ten-fold under MW irradiation.³¹⁵ However, triglycerides, as the non-polar materials, are unaffected by the variations in frequency and temperature. In addition, the MW radiation can also break the immiscible two-phase interface between triglycerides and methanol. Therefore, under microwave heating, the kinetic reaction

degree of methanol will be more intense than the conventional heating, which leads to the increase of the reaction order.³¹⁹ Because the mixture of oil, methanol, and catalyst contains both polar and ionic components, rapid heating is observed upon MW irradiation, and because the energy interacts with the sample on a molecular level, very efficient heating can be obtained. In addition, because the MW photons interact with the molecules at a very fast rate, the molecules do not have time to relax and the heat generated can be, for short times, much greater than the overall recorded temperature of the bulk reaction mixture. In essence, there will be instantaneous localized superheating. The mass transfer resistance is counteracted by high reaction temperature caused by MW in the case of heterogeneous catalyst. Asakuma et al.³²⁰ further attributed the positive effect of MW on transesterification to factors other than heating efficiency. Firstly, the conformal isomer of the triglyceride has a lower dipolar moment under MW irradiation and consequently a lower activation energy. Secondly, the vibration around the C=O bond is stronger under MW irradiation, thereby facilitating the reaction. Finally, the conformal isomer has a planar structure, which is more easily accessible for the nucleophile attack.

MW heating compares very favorably over conventional methods where heating can be relatively slow and inefficient because transferring energy into a sample depends upon convection currents, thermal conductivity, and radiation of heat energy from the surfaces of the reactor to the reactants; it is, therefore, a slow and inefficient heat transfer of the reaction mixture. The reason for the short reaction time under MW is due to the higher temperature obtained under MW of the super-heated liquids.¹⁷³

MW irradiation is commonly used for accelerating and enhancing chemical reactions because it provides the energy directly to the reactant, reducing the reaction time from hours to minutes or even a few seconds in some cases.¹²⁴ When 30-60 s were sufficient for MW heating, 30-60 min were required for conventional heating to achieve comparable biodiesel yields. This large difference in reaction time can be attributed to the limitations of conventional heating in which the energy is first utilized to increase the temperature of the reaction vessel and the higher temperature of the reaction vessel results in higher heat losses to the ambient.³²¹ Therefore, heat transfer is more effective compared to conventional heating and the reaction can be completed in a much shorter time, using lower oil/methanol ratio, and reducing drastically the energy consumption. The short reaction time is allowed due to the higher temperatures achieved under MW irradiation,

which affected the formation of spatial hot spots at higher temperatures than would have occurred at the average temperatures observed under a conventional reaction. The reaction conversion is more dependent on the final temperature than the residence or reaction time. However, the temperature is significantly influenced by MW power, components absorption ability and residence time.³¹² The decreasing rate of dielectric constant decays as the temperature rises, which is related to the kinetic energy of molecules. Therefore, the response to the changing electric field is faster, which increases the realignment process, enhancing the dipolar rotation of molecules and the dielectric constant of the material compared to lower temperature.³¹⁸-Direct production of biodiesel from microalgae biomass of Nannochloropsis by MW and ultrasound radiation was reported by Koberg et al.¹⁴⁹ MW and ultrasound radiation with the aid of SrO catalyst were compared to identify the most effective technique. It was observed that a direct transesterification reaction using microwave irradiation resulted in a higher biodiesel yield of 37.1% in 5_min at 60_°C, while only 20.9% yield can be obtained in the same reaction time by using the sonication technique. Additionally, Cheng et al.³²² have reported that the kinetic rate of converting wet microalgae into biodiesel via the two-step method using conventional heating is approximately six times slower than that via the one-step method using MW irradiation. Thus, MW irradiation is one of the best methods for reducing the reaction time and obtaining higher yields in the production of biodiesel. It enhances the speed of the reaction and makes the separation process easier in comparison to conventional heating.

1.6.3 Energy consumption of microwave-assisted biodiesel production

MW requires less energy input for heating compared with the conventional heating method. The conventional heating takes longer time for preheating and reaction, consuming tremendous energy, which depends on the thermal conductivities of the materials. In the microwave-assisted process, energy can penetrate within materials.³¹⁵ The energy required by the conventional method is found to be around 23 times greater than that by the MW irradiation.³²¹ Furthermore, Motasemi et al.³²³ show that for the production of one kg biodiesel, 0.4681kWh electrical energy has been used in a simple MW-assisted biodiesel production system. On the other hand, according to Chauhan et al.³²⁴ the brake specific fuel consumption, which measures the efficiency of an engine in case of biodiesel, was found to be about (average) 0.47 kg/kWh. As a result, an average of 2.1277 kWh electrical energy can be produced from one kg biodiesel, while production of one kg

biodiesel needs only 0.4681 kWh electricity, as shown in Figure 14.³²⁵ Thus, using MWassisted production of biodiesel can save the energy significantly. This system has the potential for production of 1.6596 kWh extra electrical energy per kg biodiesel, which it proves the sustainability of system. Consequently, the energy consumption is greatly reduced when using MW irradiation as heating source for transesterification reaction.³²³ Then, MW irradiation is an efficient heating method to strengthen the chemical reaction, improve the reaction rate, shorten the reaction time, and reduce significantly the energy consumption in comparison with conventional heating.



Figure 14: Energy payback of microwave-assisted biodiesel production system

1.6.4 Microwave-assisted continuous flow process for biodiesel production

However, t<u>T</u>he use of MW batch reactors for industrial production is limited due to the penetration depth of MW that is only few centimeters into the absorbing materials, which means that a homogeneous field of MW intensity is extremely difficult to achieve in large volume reactors. Depending on the dielectric properties of the liquid reaction mixture, the

penetration depth is about 10^{-2} to 10^{-3} m and, therefore, the heating is dominated by convective heat-transfer at larger liquid volumes. Another limitation is the specific security measures that should be taken into account when MW is used at high intensities (power up to 5000 W), requiring sophisticated cooling systems, thereby increasing the complexity, cost, and size of the reactor.³²⁶

In order to move from laboratory to industrial scale, the extension of the MW-heating methodology to continuous-flow processing, as an alternative of the penetration depth issue, has been used in previous researches. Successful scale up of pharmaceutically relevant reaction in a commercial continuous flow microwave reactor (Flow SYNTH) resulting in the production rates of 1-6 L/h were reported. Substantial manufacture capability (processing of 30 kg raw material) was achieved.³²⁷ Such microwave reactor has attracted attention in the synthesis of organic reactions, allowing scale-up and energy efficiency of the reaction.^{328–332} Upscaling microwave technology to higher production scales, from multi-gram to kilogram scale, has become a major topic for industrial chemists.³³³

There are several reports in literature related to the use of continuous flow MW irradiation technique for the large scale production of biodiesel from several feedstocks using conventional homogeneous catalysts like KOH and NaOH. For example, using a 9 mm diameter coiled tube in a household microwave and a flow rate of 19.8 L/h at an average outlet temperature of 78 °C with a maximal power of 800 W and NaOH as catalyst, Lertsathapornsuk et al. 188 investigated MW assisted continuous biodiesel production from waste frying palm oil. It has been reported that continuous conversion of waste frying palm oil to ethyl ester was 97% at ethanol to oil molar ratio of 12:1 with catalyst loading of 3% NaOH (in ethanol) and 30 s residence time. In addition, the energy consumption for MW assisted continuous transesterification process was about 269 kJ/L, while the energy consumption for conventional heating process was 799 kJ/L. Barnard et al.³¹⁶ studied the continuous flow preparation of biodiesel from used vegetable oil using a commercially available multimode MW apparatus in a 4 L non agitated continuous tank with a flow rate of 7.2 L/min and a 1:6 molar ratio of oil/alcohol. A 98.9 % conversion was obtained in 30 s at 50 °C using a maximum power of 1600 W in a large multimode microwave cavity. Energy consumption calculations suggest that the continuous-flow MW methodology for the transesterification reaction is more energy-efficient than using a conventional heated apparatus. Quantitatively, the MW process has an energy requirement of 26.0 kJ/L of biodiesel as compared to 94.2 kJ/L required for the conventional mode of heating. Continuous flow microwave induced transesterification reaction conducted by Terigar et al. using a 2 L cylindrical Teflon beaker lead to a biodiesel yield as high as 99.3 % in 10 min at 73 °C using ethanol and 0.6 wt. % NaOH as catalyst from soybean and rice bran oil.³³⁴ The reaction mixture was pumped into the microwave reactor at a constant flow rate of 100 mL/min and was pumped out using a peristaltic pump. Encinar et al. successfully converted soybean oil to biodiesel with a yield as high as 97 wt. % with 1.5 wt.% KOH in a Teflon tubing reactor of 150 mL coiled into the microwave oven. This oven is a household microwave, 700 W, which was modified with two holes at the top oven for inlet and outlet.³¹² A 2,45 MHz microwave generator having a maximum power of 6 kW and a partially modified 10 L conventional stainless steel vessel by Kim et al. allowed an accelerated conversion of 95% in 5 min using KOH as catalyst.335 Mohd et al.187 studied the optimization of WCO transesterification in a continuous MW assisted reactor (CMAR) using sodium methoxide (NaOCH3) as catalyst. The custom-built CMAR employed an integrated proportional integral-derivative controller for accurate control of temperature and reactant flow rate. The reactor is connected to three tanks for storing the reactant and product. The feed flow rate is controlled using two solenoid metering pump. The optimum WCO conversion (97.13%) was found at 11.62: 1 methanol to oil molar ratio, 4.47 minutes of reaction time and 0.68 wt. % of catalyst loading at 720W of MW irradiation power. Finally, Choedkiatsakul et al.³³⁶ got recently an ester content of 99.4% using a commercial FlowSynth microwave reactor for the continuous production of biodiesel from palm oil. Such improvement was obtained in 1.75 min residence time at a methanol to oil molar ratio of 12, MW heating power of 400 W, 70°C and 1 wt. % NaOH loading. The energy consumption of only 0.1167 kWh/L of biodiesel was required.

Therefore, Uuse of MW irradiation as heating source allow improvement of extraction and acceleration of chemical reactions such as those of hydrolysis and esterification as well as offering a fast and easy route to biodiesel production. Typical advantages include enhancement of the reaction rate and improvement in the separation process. Consequently, the most optimize heating source for biodiesel production was found to be the MW irradiation.¹⁴⁹

The combination of MW-assisted heterogeneous catalysis and continuous processing may have strong industrial potential for FAME production.¹²⁴

In our current research, we could successfully transform the batch MW irradiation process of biodiesel production to a continuous flow process overcoming the limitation of up scaling. This has opened a new avenue for up scaling and the possibility of developing a commercial process for biodiesel production is high.

1.7 Nanocatalytic technology for biodiesel production

The activity of the catalyst has been reported to be dependent on the particle size. Smaller catalyst particles, in the nanometer range, are expected to exhibit higher rate of reaction than micrometric ones, and consequently higher conversions of biodiesel due to increased external surface area to volume ratio. Nanocatalyst has high selectivity due to nanodimensional pores on the surface. The nanoparticle tends also to reduce the diffusion limitations. Nanocomposites have gained attention in biomass conversion to chemicals and fuels, as they possess a large surface area with enhanced interaction between the reactant and catalyst.337 Moreover, the nanometric size of the catalyst provides shorter paths to access active sites for molecules, which reduces the internal diffusion significantly.³³⁸ For example, in contrast to bulk CaO, which is hardly active, nanocrystalline powder of this material are capable of producing biodiesel with 99% conversion of the triglyceride. In addition, this type of nanocatalyst has also shown good recycling characteristics lasting up to five reuses.³³⁹ Tremendous researches were conducted this last decade to synthesize both acid and basic catalysts in nanometer size for transesterification reaction from edible and non-edible feedstocks, affording FAME conversion higher than 95% and reusability several times.^{198,291,340-347} It was shown that to obtain similar biodiesel conversion, the amount of nanocatalyst required is only 30% of that of common catalysts, and additionally, the reaction is less affected by the moisture of the oil and not influenced by FAA content.339,348,349 Hsiao et al. have showed that use of CaO nanoparticles as catalyst improves the biodiesel conversion by more than 31 time compared to bulk CaO under same reaction conditions.^{338,350} Moreover, extraction of oils from non edible oils could be enhanced and accelerated by the use of catalysts having nanometric dimensions.^{351,352} However, utilization of powdered catalyst in catalytic reactions is problematic because

powder form presents several disadvantages like high pressure drop, high mass/heat transfer, poor contact efficiency, and complex separation processes from the media.

The heterogeneous catalysts are generally in the form of powders with diameter ranging from nano- to micrometer. The volatility of nanomaterials involves possible health risks caused by inhalation of small particles as well as treatment issues. Utilization of powders in catalytic reactions renders their recovery and purification challenging, and energy intensive is needed for the subsequent separation operation. The separation processes represents more than half of the total investment in equipment for biodiesel production.¹⁵⁶ In addition, the active phase of the powdered catalyst may not be uniformly distributed on the support but rather form localized aggregates leading to low contact of active surface in the catalyst.

Thus, the efficiency of the catalyst and its feasibility at industrial scale might be improved by making use of the new inventions in the nanoscale materials. Designing a catalyst on a support with millimetric dimension seems to be an appropriate solution to overcome problems associated with the powdered catalysts. The mechanical strength and shape of the catalyst is the key issue for the millimetric heterogeneous catalysts. Additionally, supported catalyst in spherical form can offer shape dependent advantages such as minimizing the abrasion of catalyst in the reaction environment. It is further highlighted that high mechanical strength is crucial for long term stability of catalyst. Therefore, easy handling, separation and reusability are the main strength which could response to select the spherical millimetric catalyst.⁶⁶ Moreover, such catalysts could be adapted for a catalytic bed system. Such technique doesn't require the separation of the catalyst at the end of the reaction process. The limiting step will be the deactivation of the catalyst. Therefore, the fabrication of structured catalyst with a support having a macroscopic form could be the most appropriate and optimal solution for industrial applications.

For an optimal design of the material support, several properties are required:

- Inertness: support materials should have no catalytic activity leading to undesirable side reactions.

-Stability at high temperature reactions and regeneration conditions.

- Shape, preferably, spherical in order to minimize the resistance to transport of reactants and products.

-Low cost.

Materials with low surface area are generally useful in supporting very active catalytic components in reactions where further side reactions may affect the activity and selectivity.¹⁵⁶ Microwave based and sonochemical driven strategies offer simplified pathway for the production of new catalytic materials that revolutionaize the conversion of biomass to biofuels.

1.7.1 Synthesis of nanomaterials under microwave irradiation

MW assisted chemical reactions have shown superiority over other synthetic techniques in the fields of organic, inorganic, and analytical chemistry.³¹⁷ As compared to conventional synthetic methods, use of MW heating processes showed a dramatic reduction of reaction times, increased product yields, and a higher purity of products because of reducing unwanted side reactions. The reduction of heating time during the synthesis process is due to an extremely rapid kinetics of crystallization (one to two orders of magnitude) and to the formation of novel or metastable phases.³⁵³ With no direct contact between the chemical reactants and the energy source, MW assisted chemistry is energy efficient, and enables rapid optimization of procedures.³⁵⁴ MW provides uniform heating of reagents, solvents, and products. This homogeneous MW heating also provides uniform nucleation and growth conditions, leading to uniform nanomaterials with small sizes. Due to rapid and homogeneous MW heating, a better crystallinity can be obtained.355 Another thermal effect specific to MW irradiation is the formation of hot spot: when some solids heated by MW are involved in the reaction system, hot spots are created on the solid-liquid surfaces. The uniform formation of hot spots also accelerate the reduction of metal precursors and the nucleation of the metal cluster, leading to uniform nanostructures with small sizes. In recent years, MW assisted synthesis has established as a modern way of producing different nanomaterials in order to influence positively both size distribution and material properties. Therefore, the use of MW assisted synthesis offers unique opportunities in the generation of nanomaterials of uniformly small size, which is not easily achievable via other synthesis techniques. The rapid consumption of starting materials in kinetically driven reactions reduces the formation of agglomerates in MW-assisted methods for nanomaterials with narrow-size distribution. In the general synthesis of nanoparticles via a bottom-up approach, the reduction of inorganic salts and their subsequent capping is the common procedure.³⁵⁶ The use of MW has already been demonstrated as well to be a Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

suitable deposition technique for anchoring NPs on solid supports, enabling homogeneous dispersion of the NPs on the support.357-360 H2O is the most commonly used solvent for the synthesis of inorganic nanostructures. In the case of MW assisted preparation of nanostructures in aqueous solution, polar molecules such as H2O try to orientate with the electric field, in the MW frequency range. When dipolar molecules try to re-orientate with respect to an alternating electric field, they lose energy in the form of heat by molecular friction.³⁶¹ Tuval et al.³⁶⁰ suggested that coating under MW irradiation might be obtained for substrates that show high slope in the temperature time plots, which are referred to as 'thermal runaways'. This phenomenon, where solids are heated to very high temperatures in a very short time, would create hotspots on their surfaces. At these hotspots, local reactions can occur, leading to the formation of NPs that will eventually be deposited on their surfaces. Using MW irradiation as heating source, it is possible to synthesize NPs with exact parameter control in a short time and change particle properties and particle size as required. Moreover, these last decades, Nps synthesis in large-scale process was able using MW-assisted continuous flow process method, enabling scale of NPs yield from grams to kilograms.^{353,362,363} Constant conditions, which can be easily tuned under MW, are crucial during nucleation and nanomaterial growth and augment the reaction rate.

1.7.2 Synthesis of nanomaterials using sonochemical technique

Ultrasound has proven to be a very useful tool in enhancing the reaction rates in a variety of reacting systems. Acoustic cavitation is the physical phenomenon responsible for the sonochemical process. Ultrasound is defined as sound of a frequency beyond that to which the human ear can respond. The normal range of hearing is between 16 Hz and about 18 kHz and ultrasound is generally considered to lie between 20 kHz to beyond 10 MHz like any sound wave, ultrasound alternately compresses and stretches the molecular spacing of the medium through which it passes, causing a series of compression cycles.³⁶⁴ The main event in sonochemistry is the creation, growth, and collapse of a bubble formed in the liquid. The stage leading to the growth of the bubble occurs through the diffusion of solute vapour into the volume of the bubble. The last stage is the collapse of the bubble, which occurs when a large negative pressure gradient is applied to the liquid so that the distance between the molecules exceeds the critical molecular distance necessary to hold the liquid intact, the liquid will break down and voids (cavities) will be created, i.e., cavitation bub-

bles will form.³⁶⁵ During the collapse of bubble, very high temperatures (5000–25,000 K) ³⁶⁶ are obtained/reached causing the breaking of chemical bonds. Since this collapse occurs in less than a nanosecond, very high cooling rates (in excess of 1011 K/s) are also obtained. This high cooling rate hinders the organization and crystallization of the products. The formation of nanostructures is the result of the fast kinetics which does not permit the growth of the nuclei. In each collapsing bubble, a few nucleation centres, whose growth is limited by the short collapse, are formed. If, in contrast, the precursor is a non-volatile compound, the reaction occurs in a 200 nm ring surrounding the collapsing bubble.³⁶⁷ The temperature in this ring is approximately 1900 °C³⁶⁸, which is lower than the temperature inside the collapsing bubble, but higher than the temperature of the bulk. In almost of the sonochemical reactions leading to inorganic products, nanomaterials were obtained. They vary in size, shape, structure, and in their solid phase (amorphous or crystalline). But, these reactions were always nanometric size.

2. Research Goals

2.1. Research importance and major goal

The demand for alternate energy sources is increasing exponentially. Population explosion and depleting fossil fuel reserves prompt vigorous research into alternate fuel sources. Transportation section is currently and solely dependent on fossil fuels like petrol and diesel. The reserves are on the verge of exhaustion. Alternate fuels are necessary for meeting the demands for transportation applications. Biodiesel, a biofuel, is an alternative to fossil fuels and an immediate substitute for the currently used transportation fuels. Biodiesel is considered as the less expensive renewable energy resource. Moreover, its use does not require major modification in the physical structure of the current transportation vehicles. However, the industrialization process for biodiesel production remains a challenge due to the high production cost compared to petroleum. Despite encouraging research that has been conducted during the last decade to optimize the production process of biodiesel using non-edible feedstock instead of edible ones, by decreasing the process time from several hours to several seconds, and by decreasing the energy consumption of the process, these processes could not be up scaled and the catalyst cost remained expensive. The present research is aimed at solving the above specified problems with specific research targets and objectives specified below. The main goal of this research is to develop a large scale utility for the sustainable and demand based production of biodiesel. Towards fulfilling this goal, a continuous flow microwave irradiation process is exploited for the conversion of waste cooking oil into biodiesel. The potential of microalgae as promising feedstock for is also examined. Another main goal of this study is to design innovative solid based catalysts for the conversion of microalgae and waste cooking oil into biodiesel.

2.2. Minor goals

2.2.1 Screening of feedstock based on cost as well as feasibility <u>of for</u>conversion to biodiesel in large scale

The replacement of fossil fuel with biodiesel is feasible only if it encounters two basic requirements: first, is its easy availability and environmentally adoptability, and second being economically reasonable. The price of biodiesel mainly depends on the cost of feedstocks, which makes up 70-95% of the total production cost.¹⁵⁷ As much as possible, the biodiesel feedstock should fulfil two requirements for production of biodiesel; these are low production costs and large production scale. Actually, most of industrial biodiesel production is made from edibles feedstocks. However, since vegetable oils are vital constituents of human food consumption and their limited availability can lead to an increase in price of the oil in the market, which will obviously increase also the price of biodiesel. Moreover, the viability of such feedstocks for biodiesel production is challenging because of the conflict with food supply, and risk of starvation in several undeveloped countries. Therefore, the use of non-edible oils can be a way to improve the economy of biodiesel production and its commercial production at an industrial scale. Globally waste cooking oil is generated in ton quantities globally. Nowadays, it is estimated that more than 60% of the WCO produced is improperly disposed.¹⁵⁷ Inappropriate disposal of WCO have a negative impact on the environment. Its price is estimated to be 2-3 times cheaper than any other vegetable oils. Therefore, producing biodiesel from WCO can play a vital role in meeting the energy demands of the growing population as well as diminishing the pollution caused by its non-appropriate disposal. Nevertheless, converting the same in an economical viable and fast way is a challenge, mainly due to high content of FFA and water containing in such feedstocks. The objective Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

of this study is to develop a catalytic process for the conversion of waste cooking oil into biodiesel in large scale. To overcome the issues encountered with WCO and scale-up the biodiesel production from such attracting feedstock, appropriate pretreatment of WCO was evaluated prior to its transformation to biodiesel in a continuous flow MW irradiation with catalytic bed reactor. Extending the batch process of microwave irradiation to a continuous process could produce large quantities of biodiesel that could indeed meet the increasing demand for the transportation fuel. For moving from milliliter to liter scale, the transesterification reaction was first optimized under domestic MW oven (DMO). However, the sustainability of the biodiesel production process being developed is also governed by feedstock. Even though waste cooking oil is an abundant and inexpensive source, the estimation of WCO generation doest not exceed 30% of the world's biodiesel demand.¹⁷⁴ Therefore, to make the process sustainable, the remaining amounts of biodiesel production need to be provided from other non-edible feedstocks. Then, So our the objective was to explore other possible renewable feedstocks as well. is further extended to evaluate the feasibility of the single step conversion of Marine microalgae are an appealing sustainable candidateto biodiesel. Microalgae have the potential to produce 25 to 220 times higher triglycerides than terrestrial plants without competing with arable lands or food crops.²⁶² Producing biodiesel from microalgae in a single step by reducing significantly the energy consumption generally required for both extraction and transesterification was evaluated and optimized during my research studies using appropriate catalyst. The lipids in the algae was extracted in situ into the solvent (chloroform) contained in the reaction mixture in addition to methanol and catalyst and simultaneously the extracted lipids are converted to biodiesel.

2.2.2 Designing economically feasible, easily reusable, and environmentally friendly catalyst for the biodiesel production process in a continuous flow <u>microwave</u> system

Catalyst is another major component that adds to the process cost of biodiesel production apart from the feedstock. SrO is a suitable catalyst for the transesterification process thanks owing to its high basicity, strong base sites, relative low lixiviation tendencies in biodiesel and high selectivity towards the transesterification reaction. Basic catalysts, despite their sensitivity to FFA and water, operate in moderate conditions compared to acid catalyst, reducing the cost of biodiesel production process. Previous researches in our laboratory indicated that for a microwave-based process SrO based catalyst are the best offering fast reaction rates for the transformation of vegetable oil, marine algae, and other terrestrial biomasses.¹⁷² SrO have shown showing a potential catalyst the ability of converting 99.8% of WCO to biodiesel in 10 s under domestic MW irradiation using commercial micro-powder of strontium oxide (SrO).¹²⁴ However, despite the reusability for several runs, the catalyst remain expensive. Additionally, demonstration of industrialization and commercialization of biodiesel production in optimal and cheapest conditions need to be done.

Initial studies were carried out with commercial SrO on MW assisted continuous flow system to optimize the transesterification reaction-process conditions. Even though, SrO powder has been demonstrated to be an active catalyst in a batch process, for its industrial adoptability such a catalyst needs-to be used as a coating on an inert solid material, reducing the process cost by substantial reduction in the utilization of SrO and scaling-up of the process. Therefore, in addition to theas a substitute to the use of commercial SrO catalyst, we had synthesized SrO deposited on millimetric silica beads (SrO/SiO2) catalyst was synthesized using strontium nitrate (SrNO₃)₂ precursor and MW irradiation with success in a batch process. Such low cost, fast, and green methodology for the synthesis of this hybrid solid base catalyst present several advantages over commercial SrO. SrO/SiO₂ as solid and reusable catalyst is particularly appealing for use in a fixed bed continuous flow microwave reactor for biodiesel production. The micrometer size of the supported catalyst eliminates the mass flow constraints as well as pressure drops in a batch process as well as in a continuous flow industrial process and the possibility of this system being a candidate for industrial utility is high. The cost reduction is due to the effective utilization of the catalyst by the homogeneous dispersion of the active sites on the glass beads. Owing to the peculiar properties attributed to the nano-dimension of the synthesized SrO, like high reactivity, lower amount of SrO is needed for the completeing conversion of WCO to biodiesel. Moreover, such a catalyst contributes to the increase of mass and heat transfer, improves the contact between the liquid medium and the catalyst surface, and facilitates its separation from the products mixture either by filtration or by centrifugation. In addition, depositing the catalyst on solid supports can help prevent possible health risks caused by inhalation of fine powders. In addition, catalysts supported on spherical beads can offer shape-dependent advantages such as minimizing the abrasion of the catalyst in the reaction environment.

_The idea behind the use of a continuous flow reactor for biodiesel production is to transform the batch process to an industrial operation. Such a study could lead to the development of a startup plant for biodiesel production and could cater to the energy needs of Israel in particular. Therefore, regarding the aspects of feedstock, catalyst, and faster technology based on microwave irradiation, and a flow process, the probability of a startup plant on biodiesel production is high and realizable. Currently, the minimum cost of bus fare for transport is 6.60 NIS. Such price could be cut down and used by common person for purchasing a packet of milk for the family. One of the ways of such cost reduction in transportation sector is by developing an economically viable process for the production of biodiesel, which could be an alternative to the current fossil-based fuels. Thus, the objective of the research is to reduce the transportation expenses for the consumer.

2.2.3 Developing a catalytic process for the production of biodiesel using micro algal biomass as feedstock

Combining MW irradiation and SrO catalyst for the conversion of microalgae to biodiesel allow high reduction of production costs and energy consumption compared to conventional heating method and even ultrasonication irradiation.¹⁴⁹ Such achievement is the consequence of enhancement of cells disruption <u>of the algae</u> and efficient lipid extraction under MW irradiation in relatively shorter time. Therefore, lipid productivity can be maximized and the utilization efficiency of the biomass can be increased by making use of all algal biomass components and by reducing the process time. However, the existence of both microalgae, catalyst dispersed in methanol, and biodiesel at the end of the transesterification reaction when a heterogeneous catalyst is used leads to diffusion constraints of various components present in the medium relative to the case when a homogeneous catalyst is used. This leads to lowering of the reaction rate. The reaction takes place in the interfacial region between the catalyst, lipids, and methanol. Thus, a highly active catalyst is required to increase the area of interaction/contact between the two phases.

The use of metal-oxide as a host matrix for carbon dots (C-dots) has the potential to open a new technological gateway for the development of catalysts due to the novel inherent
characteristics of carbon nanostructures as well as nanometal-oxides. It is expected that replacing the commercial micron-sized catalytic particles by nanosized particles of SrO and C-dots can lead to further improvement in the transesterification rate of the conversion of algal biomass. C-dots have dimensions of 10 nm or less, so that the mobility of the internal electrons is restricted within the nanoscale dimensions in all directions. Therefore, C-dots may be a promising catalytic material because of their high chemical stability and multifunctionality. C-dot-modified by SrO (SrO-C-dots) could enhance the reduction of energy consumption during the transesterification reaction by completing the conversion of microalgae to biodiesel in lesser time than commercial SrO in a single step of lipid extraction and transesterification. Unfortunately, up scaling of biodiesel production from microalgae remain very challenging and all attempts to achieve such a goal until yet isnow are unfruitful. The complex harvesting and processing procedures combined with insufficient production of algal dry mass and high cost of productivity are limiting factors for algal biofuel production. Additionally, an attempt was made in our laboratory to convert 1 kg of microalgae to biodiesel using MW assisted continuous flow system. Regrettably, the mixture content of the reaction medium was highly viscous and inappropriate for such technique, causing high pressure and high constrain of flowing, which leadleading to the damage of the machine.

3. Novelty of the research

There are three novel aspects of the present doctoral research. The first one is to identify WCO as sustainable feedstock for large-scale production of biodiesel. The second novelty of the study is to develop state of the art catalyst for the conversion of waste cooking oil in a batch as well as in a continuous flow MW irradiation process. The catalyst, namely SrO/SiO₂, was highly active for transesterification of waste cooking oil and sustained the continuous flow of ~ 2.5 L of feed for ~ 25 min. The fixed bed catalyst comprise of 41.3 wt. % SrO deposited on millimetric silica beads prepared using a unique microwave assisted process. Owing to the large particle size of the support (silica beads), the nanoparticles of SrO were homogeneously distributed over the surface rendering the high catalytic activity. Moreover, industrial constraints in large-scale biodiesel production like the mass flow hindrances are effectively surmounted using the catalyst. Thus indeed a catalytic process for biodiesel production from non-edible feedstock that is adaptable to

large-scale systems is brought to existence. This research could be termed both as innovative as well as breakthrough in the field of renewable energy. Apart from demonstrating the potential of waste cooking oil as a sustainable feedstock for the demand based production of biodiesel, attempts were further devoted to wards converting a more complex non-edible feedstock to biodiesel. Micro algal biomass, Chlorella vulgaris, was successfully transformed to biodiesel in a single step under MW irradiation in a batch process. The novelty of the study is that the biomass is used as received or harvested without any separate step of extraction of lipid component, the starting material for fatty acid methyl ester, FAME. Moreover, the biomass is used as such without any prior esterification of free fatty acids, FFA's, which would hinder the catalytic activity of the base (SrO) catalyst for transesterification. The problem posed by the FFA's of algae is surmounted by designing a novel composite catalyst based on SrO and Carbon dots (Cdots). The unique feature of the C-dots is that the material has a variety of oxygen function groups on theare carbon nanoparticle surface structure. The carboxy and phenolic groups on the carbon dot structure would promote the in-situ transesterification of FFA's of algae into esters and the basic component of the composite, SrO, would promote the transesterification of the lipid fraction of the algae leading to the formation of biodiesel. Thus, a single step and efficient conversion of micro=-algae to biodiesel is demonstrated. The research results form a founding stone for the upcoming biorefinery.

4. Experimental methodology

4.1. Materials and methods used in the present research

4.1.1. List of materials and chemicals used during the research

Table 4: Feedstocks used for biodiesel production

Feedstock	Place of purchase
Waste cooking oil (WCO)	Restaurant
Crude dried solid microalgae biomass of	Prof. Zvy Dubinsky Laboratory (Faculty of
<u>(</u> Chlorella Vulgaris <u>)</u>	Life Sciences, Bar-Ilan University, Israel)

Table 5: Materials used as catalyst or for its preparation

Material	Place of purchase
Strontium oxide (SrO) (99.5%)	Alfa Aesar

Strontium nitrate (SrNO ₃) ₂ (≥99.0%)	Sigma Aldrich
Sodium carbonate (Na ₂ CO ₃)	Sigma Aldrich
Silica gel (1-3 mm)	Sigma Aldrich
Silica gel (3-6 mm)	Sigma Aldrich
Ethylene diamine (EDA) ($C_2H_8N_2$) (+99%)	Acros Organics
Potassium Hydroxide (KOH)	Alfa Aesar
Sodium Hydroxide (NaOH)	Alfa Aesar

Table 6: List of solvents used in this research

Solvent	Place of purchase	
Methanol (CH ₃ OH)	Bio-Lab	
Chloroform (CHCl ₃)	Bio-Lab	
Polyethylene glycol-400 (PEG-400, 99.998%)	Sigma Aldrich	
Isopropyl alcohol (C ₃ H ₈ O)	Bio-Lab	
Acetone	Bio-Lab	
Ethanol	Bio-Lab	

Formatted Table

4.1.2. Pretreatment of WCO

WCO was filtered through a USA standard testing sieve of mesh size 250 μ m to remove residues and impurities. The acid value of the cooking oil was determined by a titrimetric method and was found to be 3.6 mg KOH/g. The titration of WCO was made by dissolving 20 g of WCO in 75 mL of a solvent that is a 1:1 v/v mixture of distilled water and EtOH that is first neutralized with the 0.02 M aqueous NaOH solution until the appearance of a slight pink color. The sample is then added and the solution is vigorously shaken during the titration process until the reappearance of the pink color, as in the neutralization of the solvent. The acid number of oils was calculated through equation (2) where A is the titrat.

Acid Number = $\frac{(A-B)\times C \times 56.1}{m} \times (mg \frac{KOH}{g}(sample))$ Equation (2)

Where B is the titrant solution volume, in mlL₇ used in titration of a blank. C is the concentration of the titrant solution in M, and m is the mass of the sample in grams.³⁶⁹ To avoid the saponification FFA and the hydrolysis during the transesterification reaction, FFA and water were removed from the cooking oil before the transesterification reaction. The cooking oil was mixed with a solution of KOH to remove the FFA in the form of soap. The soap was separated from the oil content by centrifugation. Then, the cooking oil was heated at 110 °C to evaporate the water.

4.1.3. Cultivation and harvesting of *Chlorella vulgaris*

Freshwater microalgae *C. vulgaris* cultures were grown as a part of our collaboration in the laboratory of Prof. Dubinski in a 3 L sterile flask using a Bristol medium, with air bubbling, under 70 μ mol of photons m⁻² s⁻¹ and continuous LED light, at 22 °C with three replicates. After a week, the algae are transferred outdoors to a 30 L flat-panel photobioreactor (PBR). The light, temperature, oxygen, and pH were monitored with a computerized system for 12 days. The light is monitored with a Li-COR QUANTUM sensor; LDO sensors (HACH LANGE) monitor the temperature and dissolved oxygen; the pH was monitored by pHD sc Digital Differential pH/ORP sensors (HACH LANGE). The daylight (12 h) reached up to 2,200–2,500 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹. The temperature reached up to 29–42°C at noon and 16–24°C at night. The pH range was 6.1–7.8. During the first 7 days of the experiment, the initial inoculum reached maximum culture density. The nutrient deficiency diverted the biosynthesis toward lipid accumulation in the algae cells. The algal culture was harvested by centrifugation and freeze-dried in a lyophilizer.

4.1.4. Heating instrumentations for the preparations of the catalysts and transesterification reaction

4.1.4.1. Domestic microwave oven (DMWO)

The preparation of SrO/SiO_2 and the transesterification reaction in batch mode were conducted under DMWO irradiation. The DMWO was operated at 2.45 GHz in a batch mode. The output of the DMWO reactor was 1100 W. The MW oven was operated at 70% power (cycle mode of 21 s on and 9 s off), a cycle mode function provided by the DMWO's manufacturer. The microwave oven was modified, to have a provision for the distillation column passing through the MW oven (for enhanced safety of operation) and with a stirring facility during the reaction. The modification was performed by replacing the bottom part of the oven by a rounded aluminum plate. The plate was carefully attached to the framework in such a way as to allow for magnetic stirring (**Figure 15**).



Figure 915: Modified domestic microwave oven (DMWO)

4.1.4.2. Microwave assisted continuous flow reactor

The transesterification reaction of WCO to biodiesel in large-scale process was carried out with a continuous-flow process on a FlowSYNTH microwave system (Milestone FlowSYNTH ATC-F0 300 continuous-flow microwave reactor, Figure 16). The FlowSYNTH system is a continuous-flow microwave reactor with 1000W available power with a magnetron able to deliver power in 1 W increments, heating a vertically mounted 200-mL flow reactor capacity running through the center of the cavity. The mixture is pumped in at the bottom of the reactor and out at the top, passing through a microwave cavity. A high-pressure membrane pump from the base upwards through the column to the top pumps the reaction mixture. In-line sensors allow continuous monitoring of the reaction temperature. Homogeneity of the temperature along the entire length of the reactor is ensured by a magnetically driven paddle-stirrer. An Archimedean screw provides agitation and helps maintain plug flow characteristics, while reducing back mixing. The reaction mixture is stirred mechanically inside the microwave cavity by means of a stir shaft equipped with three paddles. These paddles fit the agitator aid heating through conduction. The reactor is also equipped with a pump, to enable flow of the reaction solution through the reactor. The temperature of the reaction mixture is measured both in

the microwave cavity and after exiting the cooler by by in-line thermocouple sensors. An external touch-screen terminal controls the FlowSYNTH, controlling process conditions such as temperature, power, and feed flow rate via software process control. The reaction chamber, with 190 mL working volume, is mounted vertically in the microwave cavity. The reaction mixture exits through a back pressure regulator which regulates the pressure of the system/solvent, although in principle this is not needed when operating below the solvent boiling point. The maximum working conditions for the reactor are 200_°C, 30 bar and 1000_W. The reaction mixture is pumped continuously through the reaction vessel under microwave heating. The peristaltic pump enables flow rates from 0.06 to 3400 mL/min. The continuous-flow process facilitates the large-scale production of biodiesel in a shorter time than the conventional biodiesel production process.



Figure <u>10</u>46: Experimental setup for the continuous-flow biodiesel production based on microwave irradiation. Stirring shaft with three Weflon15 blades for the tubular reactor of the FlowSYNTH (the outlet and inlet marked are for the experiments using commercial SrO as the catalyst; however, the inlet and outlet are reverted when the biodiesel production is carried out using a fixed bed reactor packed with the SrO/SiO₂ catalyst).

4.1.4.3. Ultrasonication irradiation

The preparation of SrO-C-dots was carried out under ultrasonic irradiation (Sonics and Materials Inc., USA, model VCX 750, frequency 20 kHz, AC voltage 230 V, 70_% amplitude). The tip of an ultrasonic transducer made from titanium rod was immersed in the reaction liquid which is driven to vibration by a piezoelectric, transducer which vibrates when subjected to an alternating current electric field. A typical ultrasonic probe is shown in **Figure 17**. The mixture was dipped in a water/Si-oil bath at 70 °C.



Figure 1117: Typical sonochemical apparatus

4.2. Synthesis of SrO based catalyst

4.2.1. Preparation of SrO/SiO₂

The deposition of SrO on SiO₂ gel consists of dissolving equal molar amounts of Sr(NO₃)₂ and Na₂CO₃ in water under vigorous stirring. Optimized catalyst preparation was obtained by dissolving 4.23 g of Sr(NO₃)₂ and 2.11 g of Na₂CO₃ into 100 mL of water taken in a 250 mL round-bottom flask at RT. 10 mL of ethylenediamine (EDA) were then added. Subsequently, 6 g of SiO₂ gel beads (3–6 mm particle size) was added to the solution and irradiated under DMWO (**Figure 18**). The optimized irradiation time of the slurry under DMWO was 30 s. After having been cooled, the residual solid mass was separated by centrifugation from the supernatant, washed with EtOH three times, and subjected to drying under vacuum overnight. The optimum calcination temperature and time of the obtained material Sr(CO₃)₂/SrO (Sr(CO₃)₂ deposited on SiO₂ beads) was 900_°C for 4 h in air, yielding in situ deposition of SrO NPs on SiO₂ beads (SrO/SiO₂).

Formatted: Subscript



Figure 18: Pictorial representation SrO/SiO₂ preparation under DMWO (delete; this fig is similar to fig 15).

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

4.2.2. Preparation of SrO-C-dots

The synthesis of SrO-C-dots (Figure 19) was performed as follows: firstly, 20 mL of polyethylene glycol (PEG-400) was transferred into a quartz test tube. The tip of an ultrasonic transducer was dipped in the solution, about 2 cm above the bottom of the test tube for 2.5 h, leading to the formation of C-dots. Subsequently, 10 g of $Sr(NO_3)_2$ was added to the test tube, and the sonication was continued for another 30 min in a hot water bath at 50°C. Then, the product mixture was centrifuged. The $Sr(NO_3)_2$ -C-dot nanoparticles were washed with double-distilled water and acetone (1:1) and then dried in vacuum at room temperature. The dried product was subjected to calcination for varying periods of time to determine the optimal conditions for the decomposition of $Sr(NO_3)_2$.



Figure 19: Schematic overview of the sonochemical synthesis of the $Sr(NO_3)_2$ -C-dot composite (delete; this is present in our manuscript that is present in the subsequent sections of the thesis).

4.3. Transesterification reaction

4.3.1. Transesterification reaction of WCO using SrO/SiO₂ as catalyst in batch mode

The transesterification reactions were carried out in a 50 mL round-bottom flask. A typical batch process of the transesterification reaction comprises of taking 15 g of WCO, 4 mL of MeOH, and 0.5 g of catalyst, SrO/SiO₂, and irradiating the content in MW for 10 s at 70% (cycle mode of 21 s on and 9 s off) power. This means that the actual irradiation time is only 7 s during the reaction. First, SrO/SiO₂ was dispersed in MeOH with high magnetic stirring to ensure a good dispersion of the catalyst into the MeOH. WCO was subsequently added, and the mixture was irradiated for 10 s. At the end of the reaction, the temperature of the mixture was measured by a pyrometer (Fluke, 65 Infrared thermometer) and was found to be 60 °C. The mixture was then centrifuged, and three distinguished layers were observed: the top layer was composed of FAME and excess MeOH, the middle one was SrO/SiO₂, and the bottom layer was glycerol—(Figure 20). Then, the top layer was then separated in order to recycle it and study the catalyst activity and stability. To each sample, cooking oil and MeOH were added in the same amounts used for the initial reaction.

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean



Figure 20: Typical digital image of the product obtained from the transesterification reaction (not very informative; present in the supplementary of one of our publications).

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

4.3.2. Transesterification reaction of WCO using SrO as catalyst in MW assisted continuous flow process

A typical transesterification process in the flow system consists of feeding a mixture of WCO and methanol (different mole ratios, 1:6 - 1:12) and a SrO catalyst (5 - 8.75 g) at different flow rates (100 - 300 mL/min). The effect of various reaction parameters such as the stirring shaft rotation velocity, mole ratio of WCO to methanol, amount of catalyst, reaction time, reaction temperature, flow rate of the feed and microwave power on the conversion of waste cooking oil into biodiesel was evaluated.

4.3.3. Transesterification reaction of WCO using SrO/SiO₂ as catalyst in MW assisted continuous flow process

In the case of SrO/SiO_2 (41 wt% SrO/SiO_2), 15 g of the catalyst is packed in the microwave reactor system using a permeable membrane at its bottom that only enables the liquid product, but not the solid catalyst, to pass through. The feed (WCO and methanol) flows from the top of the fixed bed of the catalyst packed in the reactor, under the optimized process parameters found using SrO as catalyst.

4.3.4. *In-situ* transesterification reaction of *Chlorella Vulgaris* using SrO-C-dots as catalyst in batch mode

A typical batch process of the transesterification reaction consists of taking 1 g of dried microalgae mixed with 10 mL of chloroform, 5mL of MeOH (1:2 v/v), and 0.3 g of SrO–C-dots and irradiating the content in a microwave oven for a certain time. First, the catalyst was dispersed in MeOH by high magnetic stirring to ensure good dispersion of the catalyst into the MeOH. The microalgae and chloroform were subsequently added, and the

mixture was irradiated. At the end of the reaction, the temperature of the mixture was measured with a pyrometer and was found to be 60_°C, owing to the presence of the condenser, which allowed the cooling of the reaction. After the completion of the reaction, the samples were centrifuged and filtered under vacuum to separate the methanol–chloroform phase that contained the FAME from the residual microalgae, the glycerol, and the catalyst. The solution of methanol–chloroform was evaporated in a rotary evaporator, and the FAME content was determined gravimetrically. The oil content was expressed by its weight relative to the weight of the microalgae biomass.

4.4. Characterization methods

4.4.1. Analysis of WCO

Gas chromatography – Mass spectra (GC-MS) analysis (Varian 431-GC, 220-MS) using a VF-5 ms column allowed the determination of the chemical composition of FAME produced from WCO. Various components present in FAME were identified by comparison of the retention time and mass spectra with library data of mass spectra compounds. The GC–MS conditions used are detailed in **Table 7**.

 Table 7: Experimental conditions adopted for GC-MS analysis of the biodiesel samples

 for the identification of various components in the FAME

GC-MS conditions				
Injection mode		Splitless		
Injector te	emperature	250) °C	
Split	ratio	2	.0	
Constant colu	mn flow mode	1 mI	_/min	
Carri	Carrier gas		Helium	
Column oven temperature progress				
Temperature (°C)	Rate (°C/min)	Hold (min)	Total (min)	
70	-	1	1	
180	35	1	5.14	
220	3	0.67	19.15	
280	45	0.5	20.98	
Column: VF-5 ms				
Length 30 m		m		

Diameter	0.25 mm	
Film thickness	0.25 μm	
MS		
Ionization mode EI auto	EI auto	
Start m/z 50	m/z 50	
End m/z 350	m/z 350	

4.4.2. Characterization of SrO based catalysts

4.4.2.1. X-ray Diffraction (XRD)

Powder X-ray diffraction (PXRD, Bruker AXS Advance powder X-ray diffractometer (Cu Ka radiation; $\lambda = 0.154178$ nm)) analyses were conducted to probe the crystallographic nature of SrO-of the solid based catalysts. obtained from the decomposition of SrCO₃/SiO₂ and Sr(NO₃)₂-C dots. XRD patterns were collected using a Bruker AXS Advance powder X-ray diffractometer (Cu Ka radiation; $\lambda = 0.154178$ nm) operating at 40 kV/30 mA with a 0.02 step size and 0.0019 step size per 0.5 s in the range of 10–80° (20) for identifying SrO compound in SrO/SiO₂ and SrO-C dots, respectively. The phases were identified using the power diffraction file (PDF) database (JCPDS, International Centre for Diffraction Data). The crystallite size of SrO from SrO/SiO₂ was estimated from by Scherrer equation choosing the most intense signal and finding the full width at half maxima in the XRD patterns. Then, the parameters λ and θ (in radians) were substituted in the Scherrer' equation: L = 0.9 λ /B cos θ , where L is the crystallite size, λ is the X-ray wavelength, B is the line broadening, and θ is the Bragg angle in radians.

4.4.2.2. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)

The precise decomposition temperature of SrCO₃ from SrCO₃/SiO₂, a reaction intermediate for the generation of SrO from Sr(NO₃)₂, was deduced from TGA. The TGA curves were recorded using a Q500 Thermogravimetric Analyzer (TGA) in the temperature range of 25-1000 °C in the air atmosphere at a heating rate of 10 °C/min.

For the temperature decomposition of Sr(NO₃)₂- C dot to SrO- C dot, the TGA curves were recorded using TGA GC MS (EI/CI) Clarus 680/Clarus SO 8C by PerkinElmer over the temperature range 25-900 °C in both nitrogen and air atmospheres at a heating rate of 10 °C/min

4.4.2.3. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy

FTIR spectroscopy <u>(Nicolet (Impact 410) FT-IR spectrophotometer)</u> identifies is used to <u>evaluate</u> the chemical composition of **the** <u>solid base</u> catalysts. The vibrations of different chemical species, such as functional groups of molecules, occur in defined ranges of infrared spectrum. Therefore, particular peak in the spectrum can be assigned to a specific chemical moiety. FT-IR spectra **of both catalysts** were recorded in KBr pellet mode on a Nicolet (Impact 410) FT-IR spectrophotometer under atmospheric conditions. The samples were scanned in the range of 400 – 4000 cm⁻¹.

4.4.2.4. Electron microscopy

The imaging and morphology of both SrO/SiO₂ and SrO-C-dots catalysts and their respective elemental mapping were evaluated using a high-resolution scanning electron microscopy (HR-SEM) having a JEOL-JSM 700F instrument and an LEO Gemini 982 field emission gun SEM (FEG-SEM). Due to the low conductivity of SrO, the catalysts were coated with iridium (Ir). Elemental analysis was carried out using Energy-dispersive X-ray analysis (EDAX) in conjunction with the HR-SEM instrument.

Transmission electron microscope (TEM) images of SrO particles from SrO/SiO₂ particles <u>as well as SrO–C-dot particles</u> were taken with JEM-1400, JEOL to visualize their morphology. TEM image<u>s</u> of the SrO–C dot particles-were obtained using a Tecnai G2 (FEI, Oregon USA), a high-contrast/cryo TEM equipped with a bottom CCD 1 Kx1 K camera. to visualize and evaluate the shape, size, and surface morphology of the SrO–C dots. Both samples for TEM were prepared by making a suspension of the particles in isopropyl alcohol, using water bath sonication. Two small droplets of the samples were then applied on a TEM copper grid coated with a carbon film, and dried on a covered Petri dish in vacuum. The crystal structure of the SrO from SrO/SiO₂ was determined by selected area electron diffraction (SAED) crystallographic analysis.

4.4.2.5. Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)

The dynamic light scattering (DLS) instrument was used to measure the size and size distribution of molecules and particles, dispersed in a liquid, typically in the submicron region. The particle size distribution of the SrO-C dot nanoparticles was measured by DLS particle size analysis model using a using a Zetasizer Nano SZ (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, UK) device.

4.4.2.6. Raman spectroscopy

Raman spectra of the SrO–C-dots were performed on a Renishaw inVia Raman microscope equipped with RL785 and RL830 Class 3B wavelength stabilized diode lasers and a Leica DM2500 M (Leica Microsystems) materials analysis microscope. A powder sample was sprinkled on the glass slide, and the Raman spectra were recorded to confirm the presence of C dots on the surface of SrO in the SrO–C dot composite.

4.4.2.7. Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) sorptometry

The specific surface area of the catalysts was measured by the BET method at 77 K under liquid nitrogen on a Micromeritics instrument (Gemini 2375) after the samples were evacuated at 25 °C for 12 h with an evacuator (Micromeritics, Flow Prep 060).

4.4.2.8. Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP)

ICP analysis was carried out using Ultima 2, Jobin Yvon Horiba. This study was main used for the determination of SrO loading on SiO₂ beads as well as to know the content of SrO in the SrO-C dot composite catalyst.-is an analytical atomic spectrometer. It can identify most of the elements and quantify their concentration in ppm units (mg/L). The analysis is performed in aqueous homogeneous media.

To evaluate the exact amount of SrO deposited on silica beads and the leaching of SrO from the SiO₂-surface after transesterification reaction of the catalytic bed process, ICP analysis was used. Typical methodology for this is comprised of taking a known amount of SrO/SiO₂ in concentrated HNO₃ and stirring at 50 °C on a magnetic stirring base for 1 h to dissolve the SrO coated on the silica beads. Subsequently, the silica beads were separated from the filtrate using Whatman (150 MM Φ) filter paper. The filtrate was analyzed for

Formatted: Subscript

Sr²⁺ ions using an inductively coupled plasma (ICP) spectrometer (Ultima 2, Jobin Yvon Horiba).

4.4.3. FAME analysis

After each production of FAME, the FAME product was analyzed by nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) spectroscopy. ¹H NMR <u>is carried out on a Bruker 300 MHz NMR</u> <u>spectrometer</u><u>analysis</u><u>provided</u><u>important</u><u>information</u>, <u>like</u><u>progress</u><u>of</u><u>the</u><u>transesterification</u><u>reaction</u>. ⁴H NMR spectroscopy enables the simultaneous detection of the product (FAME) and the precursor (oil), and as a result, the progress of the transesterification reaction can be monitored. Secondly, a ⁴H NMR spectrum can identify whether the resulting product is pure or perhaps includes impurities such as glycerol, methanol, chloroform, acetone, or other extracted components in addition to the extracted oil phase. Thirdly, the conversion of FAME can be calculated. The conversion of oil to FAME might be calculated by the integration of ⁴H NMR signals. The relevant signals chosen for integration were those of the methoxy groups in the FAME (3.65 ppm, singlet) and those of the α methylene protons present in all the triglyceride derivatives (2.29 ppm, triplet) of the oil (**Fig. 21**).¹²⁷ The decision to use the described signals resulted from the fact that selected signals are distinct, compared to other signals in the spectrum. As a result, the integration value can be estimated with a low percentage error in integration.</u>

$\begin{array}{c} & & & \\ CH_2 & - O & - C & - CH_2 & - R1 \\ & & & \\ 4 - 4.4 & & & 2.29 \ (tr) \\ & & & \\ CH_2 & - O & - C & - CH_2 & - R2 & + & 3CH_3OH \end{array}$	SrO CH ₂ —OH	$\begin{array}{c} & & \text{O} \\ \text{R1CH}_2 - \overset{\text{O}}{\text{C}} - \text{O} - \text{CH}_3 \\ & & 2.29 \text{ (tr)} \\ & & \text{O} \\ \text{R2CH}_2 - \overset{\text{U}}{\text{C}} - \text{O} - \text{CH}_3 \end{array}$
O CH ₂ —O—C —CH ₂ —R3	CH ₂ —OH	0 R3-CH ₂ -С ⁰ -CH ₃
Triglyceride	Glycerol	FAME

Figure 21: The transesterification reaction with relevant chemical shifts of protons in a transesterification reaction. (delete)

The equation (3) used to quantify the yield of transesterification was:

$$\frac{Conversion(\%) = \frac{2I_{ME}}{3I_{CHZ}} \times 100 \dots \dots (3)$$

The conversion ratio of the oil to the resultant fatty acid methyl ester was obtained by dividing I_{Me} (the integration value of the protons of the methyl esters) by I_{CH2} (the integration

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

value of the methylene protons). Factors 2 and 3 were derived from the fact that the methylene carbon possesses two protons and the methyl carbon has three attached protons. The signals in the range of 4–4.4 ppm are attributed to the CH₂ groups (CH₂ O COR) of triglycerides. The weak or absent intensity of these peaks along with the strong intensity of the methyl ester peak are a good indication of high yield of FAME. (delete ; this information is present in all the three publications of ours).

Using the ⁺H NMR technique it is difficult to identify other components in the biodiesel phase at-lower concentration than < 3 wt. %. For more precision and accuracy, GC MS technique is preferable and commonly used for determining the yield of biodiesel, despite its relative complexity.

5. Logical integration of the research publications

5.1. List of articles

I have published the following the research articles as first author:

(1) Alex Tangy, Indra Neel Pulidindi, and Aharon Gedanken, SiO₂ beads decorated with SrO nanoparticles for biodiesel production from waste cooking oil using microwave irradiation, *Energy & Fuels*, 2016, 30, 3151–3160.

(2) Alex Tangy, Indra Neel Pulidindi and Aharon Gedanken, **Continuous flow biodiesel** production from waste cooked oil using microwave irradiation and supported SrO catalyst, *Bioresource Technology*, 2016, 10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.068.

(3) Alex Tangy, Vijay Bhooshan Kumar, Indra Neel Pulidindi, Yael Kinel-Tahan, Yaron Yehoshua and Aharon Gedanken, **In situ transesterification of** *Chlorella Vulgaris* using carbon dot functionalized strontium oxide as heterogeneous catalyst under microwave irradiation, *Energy & Fuels*, 2016, 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b02519.

Formatted: Font: (Asian) Korean

5.2. Logical connection between the above articles in forming continuous structure of the thesis

The main objective of my doctoral research is to make the biodiesel production process sustainable and demand based by designing energy efficient, economically viable, and environmentally benign strategies. My first publication deals with the identification of the most viable feedstock for biodiesel production, namely, waste cooking oil (WCO). Tons of this feedstock are generated around the world each day and are an environmental waste. We have designed a novel methodology for the efficiently and quick conversion of this feedstock to biodiesel. To this end, a potential solid base catalyst comprising of the deposition of SrO nanoparticles on millimetric (3-6 mm) SiO₂ beads is produced under microwave irradiation in an aqueous medium. Conversion values of WCO to biodiesel as high as 99.4 wt. % were achieved using this catalyst in a transesterification reaction carried out in a batch process in a domestic microwave oven. Moreover, the reusability of the catalyst for over 10 repeated reaction runs without appreciable loss in catalytic activity was demonstrated. This is a breakthrough in the field of renewable energy research.

Another challenge is to make the above batch process of conversion of WCO to biodiesel into a continuous flow microwave irradiation process that facilities handling of large quantities of the feed and makes the biodiesel production process sustainable and profitable. Towards solving this problem, we have used the novel solid base catalyst that we have developed (41.3 wt. % SrO/SiO₂) in a fixed bed flow reactor. Interestingly, owing to the large size of the silica bead support (3-6 mm), several conventional process obstacles, like the mass flow constraints for the feedstock, as well as catalyst deactivation were successfully surmounted in the innovative strategy we have developed. A conversion value of WCO to biodiesel as high as 99.2 wt. % was achieved with the reactor packed with 15 g of 41 wt. % SrO/SiO₂ catalyst in 8.2 min. with 820 mL of feed. Excellent performance of the fixed bed catalyst without loss in activity for a lifetime of 24.6 min. converting a feed of 2.46 L to FAME was observed. Thus, an industrially adoptable biodiesel production process is designed. These research results provide a foundation for the development of a pilot plant for the conversion of WCO to biodiesel.

Another major challenge facing the upcoming biorefinery is the bottle neck of the inflexibility of using multiple feedstock. Even though, large quantities of WCO are accessed

sible, this feedstock alone could not meet the exponentially growing demand for biodiesel for transportation as well as industrial needs. So, in addition to the WCO, other appropriately and abundant feedstock need to be explored and strategies for the conversion of such feedstock to biodiesel in an econmomnically feasible manner need to be developed. With this objective in mind, we have explored lipid rich micro algal biomass, Chlorella vulgaris, as feedstock for the production of biodiesel. In addition to the use of micro-algea as feedstock, another novelty of the work comprise of the design of a SrO-Carbon dot catalyst for the single step conversion of *Chlorella vulgaris* to biodiesel. The use of carbon dot in the composite catalyst is that no addition or prior pretreatment of the biomass is required for the conversion of free fatty acids to esters. The surface acid groups on the C-dots in the SrO-C dot composite promote the esterification of FFA's to esters and in addition the SrO component of the composite promote the transesterification of lipids to biodiesel formation. Using this hybrid catalyst, as 2.4 fold enhancement in the rate of lipid conversion of biodiesel comparted to conventional commercial SrO catalyst is observed. FAME yields of 97 wt. % are observed in a short during of 2.5 min of microwave irradiation of the reaction medium using this hybrid catalyst.

Thus, there is logical connection between the three research articles I have published.

6. Articles abstracts

6.1. Article 1

SiO₂ Beads Decorated with SrO Nanoparticles for Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Microwave Irradiation

> Alex Tangy, Indra Neel Pulidindi, and Aharon Gedanken Energy & Fuels, 2016, 30, 3151–3160

Energy sources are necessary for human existence, comfort, and progress. Limited crude petroleum resources and increasing awareness of the environmental impacts of using fossil fuels motivate the search for new energy sources and alternate fuels. Herein, a low cost, fast, and green methodology for the synthesis of a hybrid solid base catalyst, strontium oxide coated millimetric silica beads (SrO@SiO₂), is designed for the transesterification of cooking oil into biodiesel in a domestic microwave oven. The cost reduction is due to the effective utilization of the catalyst by the homogeneous dispersion of the active sites on the Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Subscript

silica beads and their reusability. The catalyst synthesis process was optimized with respect to the amount of glass beads, microwave irradiation time, calcination time, and calcination temperature. Several methods for synthesizing SrO by minimizing energy consumption were investigated, and an optimized process for designing SrO@SiO₂ was developed. The SrO@SiO₂ catalyst produced under optimum conditions was characterized by TGA, XRD, FTIR, ICP, SEM, and TEM. XRD analysis indicated peaks typical of SrO alone. ICP analysis indicated 41.3 wt. % deposition of SrO on silica beads. The novel solid base catalyst thus generated was used for the transesterification of waste cooking oil. Conversion values as high as 99.4 wt. % in 10 s irradiation were observed from ¹H NMR analysis using this composite catalyst, indicating the feasibility of economical biodiesel production from cooking oil waste in a very short time.

6.2. Article 2

Continuous flow through a microwave oven for the large-scale production of biodiesel from waste cooking oil

Alex Tangy, Indra Neel Pulidindi, Nina Perkas, Aharon Gedanken

Bioresource Technology, 2016, DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.068

This report presents a method for producing large quantities of biodiesel from waste cooking oil (WCO). Preliminary studies on optimization of the WCO transesterification process in a continuous-flow microwave reactor are carried out using commercial SrO as a catalyst. The SrO catalyst can be separated and reused for five reaction cycles without loss in activity. Challenges like mass flow and pressure drop constraints need to be surmounted. SrO nanoparticles deposited on millimeter-sized (3–6 mm) silica beads (41 wt.% SrO/SiO₂) are prepared and evaluated as a substitute for the SrO catalyst. A WCO conversion value to biodiesel as high as 99.2 wt% was achieved with the reactor packed with 15 g of 41 wt% SrO/SiO₂ catalyst in 8.2 min with 820 mL of feed. Excellent performance of the fixed-bed catalyst without loss in activity for a lifetime of 24.6 min converting a feed of 2.46 L to FAME was observed.

6.3. Article 3

In-Situ Transesterification of *Chlorella vulgaris* Using Carbon-Dot Functionalized Strontium Oxide as a Heterogeneous Catalyst under Microwave Irradiation

Alex Tangy, Vijay Bhooshan Kumar, Indra Neel Pulidindi, Yael Kinel-Tahan, Yaron Yehoshua, and Aharon Gedanken

Energy & Fuels, 2016, DOI: 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b02519

The main goal of this study is to functionalize SrO with carbon dots (C-dots) and to explore the composite as a catalyst for fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) production using Chlorella vulgaris as feedstock. C-dots are synthesized by sonicating polyethylene glycol followed by sonochemical modification of Sr(NO₃)₂ (precursor for SrO) with C-dots. Sonication facilitates the adhesion of C-dots to the surface of $Sr(NO_3)_2$. The resulting material is calcined in an inert environment to form a SrO-Cdot composite. The effect of functionalizing SrO with C-dots on the transesterification of the lipids in the alga with methanol is studied. The optimization of a one-stage process of conversion of the lipid fraction of microalga Chlorella vulgaris into FAME using direct transesterification under microwave irradiation is illustrated. A lipid conversion value of 45.5 wt. % is achieved using the SrO-C-dot catalyst after 2.5 min of microwave (MW) irradiation. The catalyst displayed better activity than commercial SrO. Microwave irradiation accelerates the disruption of the microalgal cells and facilitates the release of lipid content into the reaction medium. The catalyst is characterized by a variety of physicochemical techniques. The FAME product obtained from the alga is quantified using ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The new catalyst, namely, SrO-C-dot nanoparticles (NPs), yielded 97 wt. % FAME from Chlorella vulgaris in 2.5 min of MW irradiation.

7. Incorporation of the research articles

7.1. Article 1

SiO2 Beads Decorated with SrO Nanoparticles for Biodiesel Production fromWaste Cooking Oil Using Microwave Irradiation

> Alex Tangy, Indra Neel Pulidindi, and Aharon Gedanken Energy & Fuels, 2016, 30, 3151–3160



Electronic Supplementary Information, ESI

SiO₂ beads decorated with SrO nanoparticles for

biodiesel production from waste cooking oil using

microwave irradiation

Alex Tangy,^a Indra Neel Pulidindi,^a and

Aharon Gedanken^{a,b}*

^aDepartment of Chemistry, Bar-Ilan University, Ramat-Gan 52900, Israel and

^bDepartment of Materials Science and Engineering, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan

70101, Taiwan

Tel: +972-3-5318315; Fax: +972-3-7384053; *E-mail: gedanken@mail.biu.ac.il



Figure S1. Modified domestic microwave oven



Figure S2. The XRD pattern of the material obtained after calcination of $SrCO_3@SiO_2$ at 900 °C for 2 h in air



Figure S3. The effect of calcination temperature (900 °C, 3 h) on the conversion of SrCO₃@SiO₂ to SrO@SiO₂



Figure S4. The XRD pattern of commercial SrO (standard) from Sigma-Aldrich



Pictorial representation of the catalyst (SrO@SiO2) preparation under microwave irradiation


Figure S6. Product obtained from the transesterification reaction



Figure S7. A typical ¹H NMR of FAME obtained from transesterification of cooked oil with SrO@SiO₂ yielding 99.4 wt. % conversion

7.2. Article 2

Continuous flow through a microwave oven for the large-scale production of biodiesel from waste cooking oil

Alex Tangy, Indra Neel Pulidindi, Nina Perkas, Aharon Gedanken *Bioresource Technology*, 2016, DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.068



Sustainable catalytic activity of SrO/SiO₂ in fixed bed continuous flow MW irradiation process is observed for 24.6 min of irradiation.

Electronic Supplementary Material

Continuous flow through a microwave oven for the large-scale production of biodiesel

from waste cooking oil

Alex Tangy, Indra Neel Pulidindi, Nina Perkas and Aharon Gedanken*

Department of Chemistry, Bar-Ilan University, Ramat Gan 5290002, Israel

*Corresponding author:

e-mail: gedanken@mail.biu.ac.il

Tel: +972-3-5318315; Fax: +972-3-7384053



Fig. S1. Experimental setup for the continuous-flow biodiesel production based on microwave irradiation. Stirring shaft with three Weflon15 blades for the tubular reactor of the FlowSYNTH (the outlet and inlet marked are for the experiments using commercial SrO as the catalyst; however, the inlet and outlet are reverted when the biodiesel production is carried out using a fixed-bed reactor packed with the SrO/SiO₂ catalyst).



Fig. S2. Product obtained from the transesterification reaction.

Table S1. Experimental conditions adopted for GC-MS analysis of the biodiesel samples for the identification of various components in the FAME

Instrument		GC-MS conditions	
GC			
Injection mode		Splitless	
Injector temperature		250 °C	
Split ratio		20	
Constant column flow mode		1 mL/min	
Carrier gas		Helium	
Column oven temperature progress			
			Total
Temperature (°C)	Rate (°C/min)	Hold (min)	(min)
70	-	1	1
180	35	1	5.14
220	3	0.67	19.15
280	45	0.5	20.98
Column: VF-5 ms			
Length		30 m	
Diameter		0.25 mm	
Film thickness		0.25 μm	
MS		•	
Ionization mode EI auto		EI auto	
Start m/z 50		m/z 50	
End m/z 350		m/z 350	



Fig. S3. Effect of cycle number and velocity of rotation (VOR) of the stirring shaft on the conversion of WCO.



Fig. S4. Effect of amount of SrO catalyst on the conversion of WCO to biodiesel.

FAME components	Biodiesel composition (%)
Hexadecanoic acid methyl ester (Z)	11.7
Octadecanoic acid methyl ester	7.2
9-Octadecenoic acid methyl ester (Z)	30.1
11-Octadecenoic acid methyl ethyl ester (E)	9.2
8,11 - Octadecadienoic acid methyl ester	6.2
9,12 - Octadecadienoic acid methyl ester	34.6
Eicosanoic acid methyl ester	1.0
∑Saturated Fas	19.9
\sum Monounsaturated Fas	39.3
∑Polyunsaturated Fas	40.8

Table S2. FAME components – GC-MS analysis of the FAME produced from WCO under optimized reaction conditions.



Fig. S5. Energy consumption profile for the biodiesel production process (reaction conditions: 1:12 mole ratio of waste cooking oil to methanol; 5 g SrO; 65 $^{\circ}$ C; after 30 min irradiation).

7.3. Article 3

In-Situ Transesterification of *Chlorella vulgaris* Using Carbon-Dot Functionalized Strontium Oxide as a Heterogeneous Catalyst under Microwave Irradiation

Alex Tangy, Vijay Bhooshan Kumar, Indra Neel Pulidindi, Yael Kinel-Tahan, Yaron Yehoshua, and Aharon Gedanken

Energy & Fuels, 2016, DOI: 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b02519



A lipid conversion value of 97 wt. % and a corresponding FAME yield of 45.5 wt % are achieved in reaction time of 2.5 min.

Electronic supplementary material

In-situ transesterification of Chlorella Vulgaris using carbon-dot functionalized stron-

tium oxide as heterogeneous catalyst under microwave irradiation

Alex Tangy^{#†}, Vijay Bhooshan Kumar^{#†}, Indra Neel Pulidindi[†], Yael Kinel-Tahan[‡], Yaron Yehoshua[‡] and Aharon Gedanken[†]*

 $\mathbf{Note:}^{\texttt{\#}}$ Alex Tangy and Vijay Bhooshan Kumar have contributed equally for this work

[†] Department of Chemistry, Bar-Ilan University, Ramat-Gan 52900, Israel

[‡] The Mina and Everard Goodman Faculty of Life Sciences, Bar-Ilan University, Ramat-Gan 5290002, Israel

*Corresponding author:

e-mail: gedanken@mail.biu.ac.il

Tel: +972-3-5318315; Fax: +972-3-7384053



Figure S1. Modified domestic microwave oven



Figure S2. FT-IR spectra of SrO-C-dots and commercial SrO



Figure S3. Dynamic light scattering (DLS) of SrO-C dot composite



Figure S4. Raman spectra of C-dots and SrO-C-dot composite (PEG-400 is the precursor for C-dots).

8. Conclusion & future perspective

The potential of microwave irradiation for the acceleration of the transesterification reaction of waste cooked oil was exploited in a continuous flow process. Heterogeneous solid base catalysts, that could be a substitute to the commercial SrO catalyst, were developed. SrO/SiO₂ was synthesized by fabrication and deposition of SrO NPS on millimetric silica beads. The catalyst showed activity for the conversion of WCO to FAME close to 100% in just 10 s irradiation. Moreover, the catalyst could be easily separated and reused for 10 consecutive reaction runs with only less than 5 wt. % decrease of its activity. Such improvement was attributed to the unique morphology of SrO particles on the silica bead surface at the nanometric level, resulting in well dispersed active sites for the transesterification reaction even at a modest loading of 41.3 wt. % of SrO. SrO/SiO2 is particularly important owing to the millimetric size, which could function as a potential catalyst in a continuous flow system without mass flow constrains. Therefore, this low cost, effective, and reusable catalyst was further adopted as fixed-bed catalyst in a continuous-flow MW reactor for the conversion of WCO to FAME. The catalyst exhibited a lifetime of 24.6 min with sustainable activity converting 2.46 L of feed to biodiesel without almost any loss in activity.

Conversion of microalgae (*Chlorella vulgaris*) to FAME under MW irradiation in a batch process was also performed in a single step by synthesizing carbon dots on SrO (SrO-C-dots), enhancing functionalization, increasing the surface area of the catalyst and then, increasing the number of accessible active reactant sites. A lipid conversion value of 45.5 wt. % and a FAME yield of 97 wt. % were achieved using the SrO–C-dot composite catalyst in a short reaction time of 2.5 min. The SrO–C-dot catalyst shows improved performance for the transesterification of lipids compared to the conventional SrO catalyst. The enhanced catalytic activity (2.4-fold) of the SrO–C-dot composite is attributed to the unique structural features of carbon-dots with a variety of oxygen, carboxylic, and phenolic functionalities that promote the esterification of FFAs in the algal biomass along with its advantageous properties attributed to its nanometric dimension. Thus, a SrO–C-dot composite catalyst is designed in an innovative way with very high potential for the fast and enhanced production of FAME from microalgae.

Therefore, the obvious deduction from all these reactions conducted using strontium based catalyst is that the combination of SrO and MW irradiation allow an almost complete conversion of WCO and microalgae, to biodiesel in short time, from hours to seconds, and in moderate conditions, reducing drastically the energy consumption required when using conventional heating. Moreover, most of the literature based on comparison with other catalysts proved both the superior catalytic activity of SrO and its reusability several times. However, some challenges need to be solved for the adoptability of SrO based catalyst in an industrial process. Converting WCO in large scale using such catalyst remains problematic due to the short lifetime of the catalyst, because of the leaching of SrO and its partial dissolution in both biodiesel and methanol. A cheap and efficient technique need to be optimized also for the removal or conversion of FFA containing in WCO in esters. Therefore, great efforts should be made to improve the process efficiency and economically viable. Moreover, large-scale production of biodiesel from microalgae remains a dream due to the high production cost even in the early stage of the growth and harvest of microalgae.

Nevertheless, all of these goals are aimed at an industrial scale biodiesel production in an economically viable and environmentally friendly way, replacing, hopefully, in near future, the homogeneous base catalyst used nowadays in large-scale production for industry. This could be a possible solution to the current twin problems being faced by humankind namely, the energy crisis, and the environmental decay.

References

- Dogan, E.; Seker, F. Determinants of CO2 Emissions in the European Union: The Role of Renewable and Non-Renewable Energy. *Renew. Energy* 2016, 94, 429–439.
- (2) Ahmad, A. L.; Yasin, N. H. M.; Derek, C. J. C.; Lim, J. K. Microalgae as a Sustainable Energy Source for Biodiesel Production: A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2011, 15 (1), 584–593.
- (3) Ellabban, O.; Abu-Rub, H.; Blaabjerg, F. Renewable Energy Resources: Current Status, Future Prospects and Their Enabling Technology. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* **2014**, *39*, 748–764.
- (4) Milano, J.; Ong, H. C.; Masjuki, H. H.; Chong, W. T.; Lam, M. K.; Loh, P. K.; Vellayan, V. Microalgae Biofuels as an Alternative to Fossil Fuel for Power Generation. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* **2016**, *58*, 180–197.
- (5) Hussein, A. K. Applications of Nanotechnology in Renewable Energies A Comprehensive Overview and Understanding. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2015, 42, 460–476.
- (6) You, T.; Wu, W.; Shi, W.; Wang, B.; Li, X. An Overview of the Problems and Solutions of Soil Thermal Imbalance of Ground-Coupled Heat Pumps in Cold Regions. *Appl. Energy* 2016, *177*, 515–536.
- (7) Branker, K.; Pathak, M. J. M.; Pearce, J. M. A Review of Solar Photovoltaic Levelized Cost of Electricity. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2011, 15 (9), 4470– 4482.
- (8) Blackler, T.; Iqbal, M. T. Pre-Feasibility Study of Wind Power Generation in Holyrood, Newfoundland. *Renew. Energy* 2006, *31* (4), 489–502.
- (9) Singh, A. K.; Parida, S. K. Evaluation of Current Status and Future Directions of Wind Energy in India. *Clean Technol. Environ. Policy* 2013, 15 (4), 643–655.
- (10) Mishra, M. K.; Khare, N.; Agrawal, A. B. Small Hydro Power in India: Current Status and Future Perspectives. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2015, 51, 101–115.
- (11) Rosso, M.; Bottero, M.; Pomarico, S.; La Ferlita, S.; Comino, E. Integrating Multicriteria Evaluation and Stakeholders Analysis for Assessing Hydropower Projects. *Energy Policy* **2014**, *67*, 870–881.
- (12) Srirangan, K.; Akawi, L.; Moo-Young, M.; Chou, C. P. Towards Sustainable Production of Clean Energy Carriers from Biomass Resources. *Appl. Energy* 2012, 100, 172–186.
- (13) Gholizadeh Doonechaly, N.; Abdel Azim, R.; Rahman, S. S. Evaluation of Recoverable Energy Potential from Enhanced Geothermal Systems: A Sensitivity Analysis in a Poro-Thermo-Elastic Framework. *Geofluids* **2016**, *16* (3), 384–395.
- (14) Ezzat, M. F.; Dincer, I. Energy and Exergy Analyses of a New Geothermal-Solar Energy Based System. *Sol. Energy* 2016, *134*, 95–106.
- (15) Santilano, A.; Donato, A.; Galgaro, A.; Montanari, D.; Menghini, A.; Viezzoli, A.; Di Sipio, E.; Destro, E.; Manzella, A. An Integrated 3D Approach to Assess the Geothermal Heat-Exchange Potential: The Case Study of Western Sicily (Southern Italy). *Renew. Energy* **2016**, *97*, 611–624.

- (16) Avhad, M. R.; Marchetti, J. M. A Review on Recent Advancement in Catalytic Materials for Biodiesel Production. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2015, 50, 696–718.
- (17) Mofijur, M.; Atabani, A. E.; Masjuki, H. H.; Kalam, M. A.; Masum, B. M. A Study on the Effects of Promising Edible and Non-Edible Biodiesel Feedstocks on Engine Performance and Emissions Production: A Comparative Evaluation. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2013, 23, 391–404.
- (18) Knothe, G. Biodiesel and Renewable Diesel: A Comparison. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.* **2010**, *36* (3), 364–373.
- (19) Meher, L. C.; Vidya Sagar, D.; Naik, S. N. Technical Aspects of Biodiesel Production by Transesterification - A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2006, 10 (3), 248–268.
- (20) Misra, R. D.; Murthy, M. S. Straight Vegetable Oils Usage in a Compression Ignition Engine - A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2010, 14 (9), 3005–3013.
- (21) Datta, A.; Mandal, B. K. A Comprehensive Review of Biodiesel as an Alternative Fuel for Compression Ignition Engine. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2016, *57*, 799– 821.
- (22) Luque, R.; Lovett, J. C.; Datta, B.; Clancy, J.; Campelo, J. M.; Romer, A. A. Biodiesel as Feasible Petrol Fuel Replacement: A Multidisciplinary Overview. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2010**, *3*, 1706–1721.
- (23) Ghanei, R.; Moradi, G.; Heydarinasab, A.; Seifkordi, A. A.; Ardjmand, M. Utilization of Constructional Lime as Heterogeneous Catalyst in Biodiesel Production from Waste Frying Oil. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *10* (4), 847–854.
- (24) Bazooyar, B.; Hashemabadi, S. H.; Shariati, A. NOX Formation of Biodiesel in Utility Power Plant Boilers; Part B. Comparison of NO between Biodiesel and Petrodiesel. *Fuel* 2016, *182*, 323–332.
- (25) Lanjekar, R. D.; Deshmukh, D. A Review of the Effect of the Composition of Biodiesel on NOx Emission, Oxidative Stability and Cold Flow Properties. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2016, 54, 1401–1411.
- (26) Ashraful, A. M.; Masjuki, H. H.; Kalam, M. A.; Rizwanul Fattah, I. M.; Imtenan, S.; Shahir, S. A.; Mobarak, H. M. Production and Comparison of Fuel Properties, Engine Performance, and Emission Characteristics of Biodiesel from Various Non-Edible Vegetable Oils: A Review. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2014, *80*, 202–228.
- (27) Yaakob, Z.; Narayanan, B. N.; Padikkaparambil, S.; Unni K., S.; Akbar P., M. A Review on the Oxidation Stability of Biodiesel. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2014, 35, 136–153.
- (28) Bergthorson, J. M.; Thomson, M. J. A Review of the Combustion and Emissions Properties of Advanced Transportation Biofuels and Their Impact on Existing and Future Engines. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2015, *42*, 1393–1417.
- (29) Yaakob, Z.; Mohammad, M.; Alherbawi, M.; Alam, Z.; Sopian, K. Overview of the Production of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2013, 18, 184–193.
- (30) Demirbas, A. Biodiesel Production from Vegetable Oils via Catalytic and Non-Catalytic Supercritical Methanol Transesterification Methods. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.* 2005, *31* (5–6), 466–487.
- (31) Ullah, F.; Dong, L.; Bano, A.; Peng, Q.; Huang, J. Current Advances in Catalysis

toward Sustainable Biodiesel Production. J. Energy Inst. 2015, 89 (2), 282-292.

- (32) Sivasamy, A.; Cheah, K. Y.; Fornasiero, P.; Kemausuor, F.; Zinoviev, S.; Miertus, S. Catalytic Applications in the Production of Biodiesel from Vegetable Oils. *ChemSusChem* 2009, 2 (4), 278–300.
- (33) Al-Widyan, M. I.; Al-Shyoukh, A. O. Experimental Evaluation of the Transesterification of Waste Palm Oil into Biodiesel. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2002, 85 (3), 253–256.
- (34) Lotero, E.; Liu, Y.; Lopez, D. E.; Suwannakarn, K.; Bruce, D. A.; Goodwin, J. G. Synthesis of Biodiesel via Acid Catalysis. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2005, 44 (14), 5353–5363.
- (35) Endalew, A. K.; Kiros, Y.; Zanzi, R. Inorganic Heterogeneous Catalysts for Biodiesel Production from Vegetable Oils. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 2011, 35 (9), 3787–3809.
- (36) Sharma, Y. C.; Singh, B. Development of Biodiesel: Current Scenario. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2009, 13 (6–7), 1646–1651.
- (37) Liu, X.; He, H.; Wang, Y.; Zhu, S. Transesterification of Soybean Oil to Biodiesel Using SrO as a Solid Base Catalyst. *Catal. Commun.* 2007, 8 (7), 1107–1111.
- (38) Verma, P.; Sharma, M. P.; Dwivedi, G. Impact of Alcohol on Biodiesel Production and Properties. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2016, *56*, 319–333.
- (39) Borges, M. E.; Diaz, L. Recent Developments on Heterogeneous Catalysts for Biodiesel Production by Oil Esterification and Transesterification Reactions: A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2012, *16* (5), 2839–2849.
- (40) Viêgas, C. V.; Hachemi, I.; Freitas, S. P.; Mäki-Arvela, P.; Aho, A.; Hemming, J.; Smeds, A.; Heinmaa, I.; Fontes, F. B.; Da Silva Pereira, D. C.; Kumar, N.; Aranda, D. A. G.; Murzin, D. Y. A Route to Produce Renewable Diesel from Algae: Synthesis and Characterization of Biodiesel via in Situ Transesterification of Chlorella Alga and Its Catalytic Deoxygenation to Renewable Diesel. *Fuel* **2015**, *155*, 144–154.
- (41) Souza, G. K.; Scheufele, F. B.; Pasa, T. L. B.; Arroyo, P. A.; Pereira, N. C. Synthesis of Ethyl Esters from Crude Macauba Oil (Acrocomia Aculeata) for Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* 2016, *165*, 360–366.
- (42) Lieu, T.; Yusup, S.; Moniruzzaman, M. Kinetic Study on Microwave-Assisted Esterification of Free Fatty Acids Derived from Ceiba Pentandra Seed Oil. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2016, 211, 248–256.
- (43) Idrissou, Y.; Mazari, T.; Benadji, S.; Hamdi, M.; Rabia, C. Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Sunflower Oil Methanolysis over 12-Tungstophosphoric, Sulfuric and Boric Acids. *React. Kinet. Mech. Catal.* **2016**, *119* (1), 291–304.
- (44) Kim, B.; Im, H.; Lee, J. W. In Situ Transesterification of Highly Wet Microalgae Using Hydrochloric Acid. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2015, 185, 421–425.
- (45) Su, C. H. Recoverable and Reusable Hydrochloric Acid Used as a Homogeneous Catalyst for Biodiesel Production. *Appl. Energy* **2013**, *104*, 503–509.
- (46) Su, C.-H. Kinetic Study of Free Fatty Acid Esterification Reaction Catalyzed by Recoverable and Reusable Hydrochloric Acid. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2013, 130, 522– 528.
- (47) Dias, A. P. S.; Bernardo, J.; Felizardo, P.; Correia, M. J. N. Biodiesel Production by Soybean Oil Methanolysis over SrO/MgO Catalysts: The Relevance of the Catalyst

Granulometry. Fuel Process. Technol. 2012, 102, 146–155.

- (48) Atadashi, I. M.; Aroua, M. K.; Abdul Aziz, A. R.; Sulaiman, N. M. N. The Effects of Catalysts in Biodiesel Production: A Review. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2013, 19 (1), 14–26.
- (49) Yoosuk, B.; Krasae, P.; Puttasawat, B.; Udomsap, P.; Viriya-empikul, N.; Faungnawakij, K. Magnesia Modified with Strontium as a Solid Base Catalyst for Transesterification of Palm Olein. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2010**, *162* (1), 58–66.
- (50) Su, F.; Guo, Y. Advancements in Solid Acid Catalysts for Biodiesel Production. *Green Chem.* 2014, 16 (6), 2934–2957.
- (51) Sani, Y. M.; Daud, W. M. A. W.; Abdul Aziz, A. R. Activity of Solid Acid Catalysts for Biodiesel Production: A Critical Review. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* 2014, 470, 140–161.
- (52) Kulkarni, M. G.; Gopinath, R.; Meher, L. C.; Dalai, A. K. Solid Acid Catalyzed Biodiesel Production by Simultaneous Esterification and Transesterification. *Green Chem.* 2006, 8 (12), 1056–1062.
- (53) Aransiola, E. F.; Ojumu, T. V.; Oyekola, O. O.; Madzimbamuto, T. F.; Ikhu-Omoregbe, D. I. O. A Review of Current Technology for Biodiesel Production: State of the Art. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **2014**, *61*, 276–297.
- (54) Xie, W.; Zhang, C. Propylsulfonic and Arenesulfonic Functionalized SBA-15 Silica as an Efficient and Reusable Catalyst for the Acidolysis of Soybean Oil with Medium-Chain Fatty Acids. *Food Chem.* **2016**, *211*, 74–82.
- (55) Konwar, L. J.; Wärnå, J.; Mäki-Arvela, P.; Kumar, N.; Mikkola, J. P. Reaction Kinetics with Catalyst Deactivation in Simultaneous Esterification and Transesterification of Acid Oils to Biodiesel (FAME) over a Mesoporous Sulphonated Carbon Catalyst. *Fuel* 2016, *166*, 1–11.
- (56) Konwar, L. J.; Das, R.; Thakur, A. J.; Salminen, E.; Mäki-Arvela, P.; Kumar, N.; Mikkola, J. P.; Deka, D. Biodiesel Production from Acid Oils Using Sulfonated Carbon Catalyst Derived from Oil-Cake Waste. J. Mol. Catal. A Chem. 2014, 388– 389, 167–176.
- (57) El, A.; Khder, R. S.; Hassan, H. M. A.; Samy El-Shall, M. Metal-Organic Frameworks with High Tungstophosphoric Acid Loading as Heterogeneous Acid Catalysts. "*Applied Catal. A, Gen.* **2014**, *487*, 110–118.
- (58) Badday, A. S.; Abdullah, A. Z.; Lee, K. T. Optimization of Biodiesel Production Process from Jatropha Oil Using Supported Heteropolyacid Catalyst and Assisted by Ultrasonic Energy. *Renew. Energy* 2013, 50, 427–432.
- (59) Baroi, C.; Dalai, A. K. Review on Biodiesel Production from Various Feedstocks Using 12-Tungstophosphoric Acid (TPA) as a Solid Acid Catalyst Precursor. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2014**, *53* (49), 18611–18624.
- (60) Zhang, D. Y.; Duan, M. H.; Yao, X. H.; Fu, Y. J.; Zu, Y. G. Preparation of a Novel Cellulose-Based Immobilized Heteropoly Acid System and Its Application on the Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* 2016, *172*, 293–300.
- (61) Ngu, T. A.; Li, Z. Phosphotungstic Acid-Functionalized Magnetic Nanoparticles as an Efficient and Recyclable Catalyst for the One-Pot Production of Biodiesel from Grease via Esterification and Transesterification. *Green Chem.* 2014, *16* (3), 1202.
- (62) Talebian-Kiakalaieh, A.; Amin, N. A. S.; Zarei, A.; Noshadi, I. Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil by Heteropoly Acid (HPA) Catalyst: Optimization and

Kinetic Model. Appl. Energy 2013, 102, 283–292.

- (63) Alhassan, F. H.; Rashid, U.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Biodiesel Synthesis Catalyzed by Transition Metal Oxides: Ferric-Manganese Doped Tungstated/molybdena Nanoparticle Catalyst. J. Oleo Sci. 2015, 64 (1), 91–99.
- (64) Chen, S. Y.; Mochizuki, T.; Abe, Y.; Toba, M.; Yoshimura, Y. Ti-Incorporated SBA-15 Mesoporous Silica as an Efficient and Robust Lewis Solid Acid Catalyst for the Production of High-Quality Biodiesel Fuels. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* 2014, 148–149, 344–356.
- (65) Baroi, C.; Mahto, S.; Niu, C.; Dalai, A. K. Biofuel Production from Green Seed Canola Oil Using Zeolites. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* 2014, 469, 18–32.
- (66) Islam, A.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H.; Chu, C.-M.; Chan, E.-S.; Ravindra, P. Studies on Design of Heterogeneous Catalysts for Biodiesel Production. *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.* 2013, 91 (1–2), 131–144.
- (67) Shibasaki-Kitakawa, N.; Hiromori, K.; Ihara, T.; Nakashima, K.; Yonemoto, T. Production of High Quality Biodiesel from Waste Acid Oil Obtained during Edible Oil Refining Using Ion-Exchange Resin Catalysts. *Fuel* 2015, *139*, 11–17.
- (68) Ren, Y.; He, B.; Yan, F.; Wang, H.; Cheng, Y.; Lin, L.; Feng, Y.; Li, J. Continuous Biodiesel Production in a Fixed Bed Reactor Packed with Anion-Exchange Resin as Heterogeneous Catalyst. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2012, *113*, 19–22.
- (69) Singh, a. K.; Fernando, S. D. Reaction Kinetics of Soybean Oil Transesterification Using Heterogeneous Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. Technol.* 2007, 30 (12), 1716–1720.
- (70) Patil, P. D.; Deng, S. Transesterification of Camelina Sativa Oil Using Heterogeneous Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Energy and Fuels* **2009**, *23* (9), 4619–4624.
- (71) Teo, S. H.; Rashid, U.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Heterogeneous Catalysis of Transesterification of Jatropha Curcas Oil over Calcium-Cerium Bimetallic Oxide Catalyst. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4* (90), 48836–48847.
- (72) Salamatinia, B.; Hashemizadeh, I.; Zuhairi Abdullah, A. Alkaline Earth Metal Oxide Catalysts for Biodiesel Production from Palm Oil: Elucidation of Process Behaviors and Modeling Using Response Surface Methodology. *Iran. J. Chem. Chem. Eng* **2013**, *32* (1), 113–126.
- (73) Chang, F.; Zhou, Q.; Pan, H.; Liu, X.; Zhang, H.; Xue, W.; Yang, S. Solid Mixed-Metal-Oxide Catalysts for Biodiesel Production: A Review. *Energy Technol.* 2014, 2 (11), 865–873.
- (74) Limmanee, S.; Naree, T.; Bunyakiat, K.; Ngamcharussrivichai, C. Mixed Oxides of Ca, Mg and Zn as Heterogeneous Base Catalysts for the Synthesis of Palm Kernel Oil Methyl Esters. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2013**, *225*, 616–624.
- (75) Zhang, Y.; Jin, L.; Sterling, K.; Luo, Z.; Jiang, T.; Miao, R.; Guild, C.; Suib, S. L. Potassium Modified Layered Ln 2 O 2 CO 3 (Ln: La, Nd, Sm, Eu) Materials: Efficient and Stable Heterogeneous Catalysts for Biofuel Production. *Green Chem.* 2015, *17* (6), 3600–3608.
- (76) Sun, K.; Lu, J.; Ma, L.; Han, Y.; Fu, Z.; Ding, J. A Comparative Study on the Catalytic Performance of Different Types of Zeolites for Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* 2015, *158*, 848–854.
- (77) Mierczynski, P.; Chalupka, K. A.; Maniukiewicz, W.; Kubicki, J.; Szynkowska, M. I.; Maniecki, T. P. SrAl2O4 Spinel Phase as Active Phase of Transesterification of

Rapeseed Oil. Appl. Catal. B Environ. 2014, 164, 176–183.

- (78) Reyero, I.; Velasco, I.; Sanz, O.; Montes, M.; Arzamendi, G.; Gandía, L. M. Structured Catalysts Based on Mg-Al Hydrotalcite for the Synthesis of Biodiesel. *Catal. Today* **2013**, *216*, 211–219.
- (79) Xu, W.; Gao, L.; Wang, S.; Xiao, G. Biodiesel Production from Soybean Oil in a Membrane Reactor over Hydrotalcite Based Catalyst: An Optimization Study. *Energy and Fuels* **2013**, 27 (11), 6738–6742.
- (80) Anuar, M. R.; Abdullah, A. Z. Ultrasound-Assisted Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Hydrotalcite Prepared by Combustion Method as Catalyst. Appl. Catal. A Gen. 2016, 514, 214–223.
- (81) Lertpanyapornchai, B.; Ngamcharussrivichai, C. Mesostructured Sr and Ti Mixed Oxides as Heterogeneous Base Catalysts for Transesterification of Palm Kernel Oil with Methanol. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2015**, *264*, 789–796.
- (82) Di Serio, M.; Cozzolino, M.; Giordano, M.; Tesser, R.; Patrono, P.; Santacesaria, E. From Homogeneous to Heterogeneous Catalysts in Biodiesel Production. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2007, 46 (20), 6379–6384.
- (83) Dossin, T. F.; Reyniers, M. F.; Marin, G. B. Kinetics of Heterogeneously MgO-Catalyzed Transesterification. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* 2006, 62 (1–2), 35–45.
- (84) Zabeti, M.; Wan Daud, W. M. A.; Aroua, M. K. Activity of Solid Catalysts for Biodiesel Production: A Review. *Fuel Process. Technol.* 2009, 90 (6), 770–777.
- (85) Lee, J. S.; Saka, S. Biodiesel Production by Heterogeneous Catalysts and Supercritical Technologies. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2010, 101 (19), 7191–7200.
- (86) Bassetti, F. B.; Morandim, A. A.; Ortega, F. S. Use of Cellular Ceramic-Supported SrO as a Catalyst for the Synthesis of Biodiesel. In *Advances in Bioceramics and Porous Ceramics VI*; Roger Narayan and Paolo Colombo, Ed.; wiley, 2014; pp 145– 155.
- (87) Lee, H. V.; Juan, J. C.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H.; Kong, P. S.; Rahman, N. A. Advancement in Heterogeneous Base Catalyzed Technology: An Efficient Production of Biodiesel Fuels. J. Renew. Sustain. Energy 2015, 7 (3), 1–46.
- (88) Lee, A. F.; Wilson, K. Recent Developments in Heterogeneous Catalysis for the Sustainable Production of Biodiesel. *Catal. Today* 2015, 242, 3–18.
- (89) Refaat, a. a. Biodiesel Production Using Solid Metal Oxide Catalysts. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2010, 8 (1), 203–221.
- (90) Veillette, M.; Giroir-fendler, A.; Faucheux, N.; Heitz, M. A Biodiesel Production Process Catalyzed by the Leaching of Alkaline Metal Earths in Methanol: From a Model Oil to Microalgae Lipids. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* **2017**, *92*, 1–10.
- (91) Cantrell, D. G.; Gillie, L. J.; Lee, A. F.; Wilson, K. Structure-Reactivity Correlations in MgAl Hydrotalcite Catalysts for Biodiesel Synthesis. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* 2005, 287 (2), 183–190.
- (92) Kouzu, M.; Hidaka, J. S. Transesterification of Vegetable Oil into Biodiesel Catalyzed by CaO: A Review. *Fuel* 2012, 93, 1–12.
- (93) Yan, S.; Lu, H.; Liang, B. Supported CaO Catalysts Used in the Transesterification of Rapeseed Oil for the Purpose of Biodiesel Production. *Energy and Fuels* 2008, 22 (1), 646–651.
- (94) Poosumas, J.; Ngaosuwan, K.; Quitain, A. T.; Assabumrungrat, S. Role of Ultrasonic Irradiation on Transesterification of Palm Oil Using Calcium Oxide as a
Solid Base Catalyst. Energy Convers. Manag. 2016, 120, 62-70.

- (95) Boey, P.-L.; Maniam, G. P.; Hamid, S. A. Performance of Calcium Oxide as a Heterogeneous Catalyst in Biodiesel Production: A Review. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2011, 168 (1), 15–22.
- (96) Reyero, I.; Bimbela, F.; Navajas, A.; Arzamendi, G.; Gandía, L. M. Issues Concerning the Use of Renewable Ca-Based Solids as Transesterification Catalysts. *Fuel* 2015, 158, 558–564.
- (97) Esipovich, A.; Danov, S.; Belousov, A.; Rogozhin, A. Improving Methods of CaO Transesterification Activity. J. Mol. Catal. A Chem. 2014, 395, 225–233.
- (98) Reyero, I.; Arzamendi, G.; Gandía, L. M. Heterogenization of the Biodiesel Synthesis Catalysis: CaO and Novel Calcium Compounds as Transesterification Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* **2014**, *92* (8), 1519–1530.
- (99) Correia, L. M.; Saboya, R. M. A.; de Sousa Campelo, N.; Cecilia, J. A.; Rodríguez-Castellón, E.; Cavalcante, C. L.; Vieira, R. S. Characterization of Calcium Oxide Catalysts from Natural Sources and Their Application in the Transesterification of Sunflower Oil. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, *151*, 207–213.
- (100) Boey, P.-L.; Maniama, G. P.; Hamid, S. A. Performance of Calcium Oxide as a Heterogeneous Catalyst in Biodiesel Production: A Review. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2011, 168, 15–22.
- (101) Muciño, G. G.; Romero, R.; Ramírez, A.; Martínez, S. L.; Baeza-Jiménez, R.; Natividad, R. Biodiesel Production from Used Cooking Oil and Sea Sand as Heterogeneous Catalyst. *Fuel* 2014, *138*, 143–148.
- (102) Balakrishnan, K.; Olutoye, M. A.; Hameed, B. H. Synthesis of Methyl Esters from Waste Cooking Oil Using Construction Waste Material as Solid Base Catalyst. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2013, 128, 788–791.
- (103) Chen, G. Y.; Shan, R.; Yan, B. B.; Shi, J. F.; Li, S. Y.; Liu, C. Y. Remarkably Enhancing the Biodiesel Yield from Palm Oil upon Abalone Shell-Derived CaO Catalysts Treated by Ethanol. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2016**, *143*, 110–117.
- (104) Sirisomboonchai, S.; Abuduwayiti, M.; Guan, G.; Samart, C.; Abliz, S.; Hao, X.; Kusakabe, K.; Abudula, A. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Calcined Scallop Shell as Catalyst. *Energy Convers. Manag.* **2015**, *95*, 242–247.
- (105) Lee, S. L.; Wong, Y. C.; Tan, Y. P.; Yew, S. Y. Transesterification of Palm Oil to Biodiesel by Using Waste Obtuse Horn Shell-Derived CaO Catalyst. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2015, 93, 282–288.
- (106) Chen, G.; Shan, R.; Shi, J.; Yan, B. Ultrasonic-Assisted Production of Biodiesel from Transesterification of Palm Oil over Ostrich Eggshell-Derived CaO Catalysts. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, 171, 428–432.
- (107) Khemthong, P.; Luadthong, C.; Nualpaeng, W.; Changsuwan, P.; Tongprem, P.; Viriya-Empikul, N.; Faungnawakij, K. Industrial Eggshell Wastes as the Heterogeneous Catalysts for Microwave-Assisted Biodiesel Production. *Catal. Today* **2012**, *190* (1), 112–116.
- (108) Joshi, G.; Rawat, D. S.; Lamba, B. Y.; Bisht, K. K.; Kumar, P.; Kumar, N.; Kumar, S. Transesterification of Jatropha and Karanja Oils by Using Waste Egg Shell Derived Calcium Based Mixed Metal Oxides. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2015, *96*, 258–267.
- (109) Piker, A.; Tabah, B.; Perkas, N.; Gedanken, A. A Green and Low-Cost Room

Temperature Biodiesel Production Method from Waste Oil Using Egg Shells as Catalyst. *Fuel* **2016**, *182*, 34–41.

- (110) Niju, S.; Begum, M. M. M. S.; Anantharaman, N. Modification of Egg Shell and Its Application in Biodiesel Production. J. Saudi Chem. Soc. 2014, 18 (5), 702–706.
- (111) Boro, J.; Konwar, L. J.; Deka, D. Transesterification of Non Edible Feedstock with Lithium Incorporated Egg Shell Derived CaO for Biodiesel Production. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2014**, *122*, 72–78.
- (112) Ketcong, A.; Meechan, W.; Naree, T.; Seneevong, I.; Winitsorn, A.; Butnark, S.; Ngamcharussrivichai, C. Production of Fatty Acid Methyl Esters over a Limestone-Derived Heterogeneous Catalyst in a Fixed-Bed Reactor. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2014, 20 (4), 1665–1671.
- (113) Kouzu, M.; Yamanaka, S. ya; Hidaka, J. suke; Tsunomori, M. Heterogeneous Catalysis of Calcium Oxide Used for Transesterification of Soybean Oil with Refluxing Methanol. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* **2009**, *355* (1–2), 94–99.
- (114) Mootabadi, H.; Salamatinia, B.; Bhatia, S.; Abdullah, A. Z. Ultrasonic-Assisted Biodiesel Production Process from Palm Oil Using Alkaline Earth Metal Oxides as the Heterogeneous Catalysts. *Fuel* **2010**, *89* (8), 1818–1825.
- (115) Mierczynski, P.; Ciesielski, R.; Kedziora, A.; Maniukiewicz, W.; Shtyka, O.; Kubicki, J.; Albinska, J.; Maniecki, T. P. Biodiesel Production on MgO, CaO, SrO and BaO Oxides Supported on (SrO)(Al2O3) Mixed Oxide. *Catal. Letters* 2015, *145* (5), 1196–1205.
- (116) Patil, P. D.; Gude, V. G.; Deng, S. Biodiesel Production from Jatropha Curcas, Waste Cooking, and Camelina Sativa Oils. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2009, 48 (24), 10850–10856.
- (117) Baidya, T.; Van Vegten, N.; Verel, R.; Jiang, Y.; Yulikov, M.; Kohn, T.; Jeschke, G.; Baiker, A. SrO·Al2O3 Mixed Oxides: A Promising Class of Catalysts for Oxidative Coupling of Methane. J. Catal. 2011, 281 (2), 241–253.
- (118) Maksimov, N. G.; Selyutin, G. E.; Anshits, A. G.; Kondratenko, E. V.; Roguleva, V. G. The Influence of Defect Nature on Catalytic Performance of Li, Na-Doped MgO, CaO and SrO in the Oxidative Coupling of Methane. *Catal. Today* **1998**, *42* (3), 279–281.
- (119) Buyevskaya, O. .; Baerns, M. Catalytic Selective Oxidation of Propane. Catal. Today 1998, 42 (3), 315–323.
- (120) Seki, T.; Kabashima, H.; Akutsu, K.; Tachikawa, H.; Hattori, H. Mixed Tishchenko Reaction over Solid Base Catalysts. J. Catal. 2001, 204, 393–401.
- (121) Kabashima, H.; Tsuji, H.; Shibuya, T.; Hattori, H. Michael Addition of Nitromethane to A,β-Unsaturated Carbonyl Compounds over Solid Base Catalysts. *J. Mol. Catal. A Chem.* 2000, 155 (1–2), 23–29.
- (122) Take, J. I.; Kikuchi, N.; Yoneda, Y. Base-Strength Distribution Studies of Solid-Base Surfaces. J. Catal. 1971, 21 (2), 164–170.
- (123) Nasreen, S.; Liu, H.; Khan, R.; Zhu, X. C.; Skala, D. Transesterification of Soybean Oil Catalyzed by Sr-Doped Cinder. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2015, 95, 272–280.
- (124) Koberg, M.; Abu-Much, R.; Gedanken, A. Optimization of Bio-Diesel Production from Soybean and Wastes of Cooked Oil: Combining Dielectric Microwave Irradiation and a SrO Catalyst. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2011**, *102* (2), 1073–1078.
- (125) Patil, P.; Gude, V. G.; Pinappu, S.; Deng, S. Transesterification Kinetics of

Camelina Sativa Oil on Metal Oxide Catalysts under Conventional and Microwave Heating Conditions. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2011**, *168* (3), 1296–1300.

- (126) Huang, C.-C.; Yang, C.-J.; Gao, P.-J.; Wang, N.-C.; Chen, C.-L.; Chang, J.-S. Characterization of an Alkaline Earth Metal-Doped Solid Superacid and Its Activity for the Esterification of Oleic Acid with Methanol. *Green Chem.* 2015, *17* (6), 3609–3620.
- (127) Koberg, M.; Gedanken, A. Direct Transesterification of Castor and Jatropha Seeds for FAME Production by Microwave and Ultrasound Radiation Using a SrO Catalyst. *Bioenergy Res.* **2012**, *5* (4), 958–968.
- (128) Kouzu, M.; Kasuno, T.; Tajika, M.; Sugimoto, Y.; Yamanaka, S.; Hidaka, J. Calcium Oxide as a Solid Base Catalyst for Transesterification of Soybean Oil and Its Application to Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* **2008**, 87 (12), 2798–2806.
- (129) De Carvalho, L. M. G.; De Abreu, W. C.; Maria Das, M. D. G.; José, J. R.; De Oliveira, J. E.; De Matos, J. M. E.; De Moura, C. V. R.; De Moura, E. M. Heterogeneous Catalysis Afford Biodiesel of Babassu, Castor Oil and Blends. J. Braz. Chem. Soc. 2013, 24 (4), 550–557.
- (130) Chen, C. L.; Huang, C. C.; Tran, D. T.; Chang, J. S. Biodiesel Synthesis via Heterogeneous Catalysis Using Modified Strontium Oxides as the Catalysts. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2012, 113, 8–13.
- (131) Lima, J. R. D. O.; Ghani, Y. A.; Da Silva, R. B.; Batista, F. M. C.; Bini, R. A.; Varanda, L. C.; De Oliveira, J. E. Strontium Zirconate Heterogeneous Catalyst for Biodiesel Production: Synthesis, Characterization and Catalytic Activity Evaluation. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* **2012**, 445–446, 76–82.
- (132) Kaur, N.; Ali, A. One-Pot Transesterification and Esterification of Waste Cooking Oil via Ethanolysis Using Sr:Zr Mixed Oxide as Solid Catalyst. *RSC Adv.* 2014, 4 (82), 43671–43681.
- (133) Feyzi, M.; Khajavi, G. Investigation of Biodiesel Production Using Modified Strontium Nanocatalysts Supported on the ZSM-5 Zeolite. *Ind. Crops Prod.* 2014, 58, 298–304.
- (134) Ma, F.; Hanna, M. A. Biodiesel Production: A Review. Bioresour. Technol. 1999, 70 (1), 1–15.
- (135) Su, M.; Yang, R.; Li, M. Biodiesel Production from Hempseed Oil Using Alkaline Earth Metal Oxides Supporting Copper Oxide as Bi-Functional Catalysts for Transesterification and Selective Hydrogenation. *Fuel* **2013**, *103*, 398–407.
- (136) Li, H.; Niu, S.; Lu, C.; Li, J. Calcium Oxide Functionalized with Strontium as Heterogeneous Transesterification Catalyst for Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* 2016, 176, 63–71.
- (137) Anastopoulos, G.; Dodos, G. S.; Kalligeros, S.; Zannikos, F. CaO Loaded with Sr(NO3)2 as a Heterogeneous Catalyst for Biodiesel Production from Cottonseed Oil and Waste Frying Oil. *Biomass Convers. Biorefinery* **2013**, *3* (3), 169–177.
- (138) Chen, W.; Huang, Z.; Liu, Y.; He, Q. Preparation and Characterization of a Novel Solid Base Catalyst Hydroxyapatite Loaded with Strontium. *Catal. Commun.* 2008, 9 (4), 516–521.
- (139) Chuayplod, P.; Trakarnpruk, W. Transesterification of Rice Bran Oil with Methanol Catalyzed by Mg(Al)La Hydrotalcites and metal/MgAl Oxides. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2009, 48 (9), 4177–4183.

- (140) Tantirungrotechai, J.; Thepwatee, S.; Yoosuk, B. Biodiesel Synthesis over Sr/MgO Solid Base Catalyst. *Fuel* 2013, *106*, 279–284.
- (141) Abreu, W. C. De; Moura, C. V. R. De; Costa, J. C. S. Strontium and Nickel Heterogeneous Catalysts for Biodiesel Production from Macaw Oil. J. Braz. Chem. Soc. 2017, 28, 1–9.
- (142) Yang, Z.; Xie, W. Soybean Oil Transesterification over Zinc Oxide Modified with Alkali Earth Metals. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2007**, *88* (6), 631–638.
- (143) Saeidi, S.; Jouybanpour, P.; Mirvakilli, A.; Iranshahi, D.; Klemeš, J. J. A Comparative Study between Modified Data Envelopment Analysis and Response Surface Methodology for Optimisation of Heterogeneous Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Palm Oil. J. Clean. Prod. 2016, 136, 23–30.
- (144) Rashtizadeh, E.; Farzaneh, F. Transesterification of Soybean Oil Catalyzed by Sr-Ti Mixed Oxides Nanocomposite. J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 2013, 44 (6), 917–923.
- (145) Rashtizadeh, E.; Farzaneh, F.; Talebpour, Z. Synthesis and Characterization of Sr3Al2O6 Nanocomposite as Catalyst for Biodiesel Production. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, 154, 32–37.
- (146) Viola, E.; Blasi, A.; Valerio, V.; Guidi, I.; Zimbardi, F.; Braccio, G.; Giordano, G. Biodiesel from Fried Vegetable Oils via Transesterification by Heterogeneous Catalysis. *Catal. Today* **2012**, *179* (1), 185–190.
- (147) Lee, H. V.; Juan, J. C.; Binti Abdullah, N. F.; Nizah Mf, R.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Heterogeneous Base Catalysts for Edible Palm and Non-Edible Jatropha-Based Biodiesel Production. *Chem. Cent. J.* **2014**, *8* (30), 1–9.
- (148) De Moura, C. V. R.; De Castro, A. G.; De Moura, E. M.; Dos Santos, J. R.; Moita Neto, J. M. Heterogeneous Catalysis of Babassu Oil Monitored by Thermogravimetric Analysis. *Energy and Fuels* **2010**, *24* (12), 6527–6532.
- (149) Koberg, M.; Cohen, M.; Ben-Amotz, A.; Gedanken, A. Bio-Diesel Production Directly from the Microalgae Biomass of Nannochloropsis by Microwave and Ultrasound Radiation. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2011**, *102* (5), 4265–4269.
- (150) Yoo, S. J.; Lee, H.-S.; Veriansyah, B.; Kim, J.; Kim, J.-D.; Lee, Y.-W. Synthesis of Biodiesel from Rapeseed Oil Using Supercritical Methanol with Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2010**, *101* (22), 8686–8689.
- (151) Salamatinia, B.; Mootabadi, H.; Hashemizadeh, I.; Abdullah, A. Z. Intensification of Biodiesel Production from Vegetable Oils Using Ultrasonic-Assisted Process: Optimization and Kinetic. *Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif.* 2013, 73, 135– 143.
- (152) Ali, S. D.; Javed, B. I. N.; Rana, C. U. A.; Nazar, M. F.; Ahmed, H. W.; Junaid, F. A. Novel SrO-CaO Mixed Metal Oxides Catalyst for Ultrasonic-Assisted Transesterification of Jatropha Oil into Biodiesel. *Aust. J. Chem.* 2017, 70, 1–7.
- (153) Mazanov, S. V.; Gabitova, A. R.; Usmanov, R. A.; Gumerov, F. M.; Labidi, S.; Amar, M. Ben; Passarello, J.-P.; Kanaev, A.; Volle, F.; Neindre, B. Le. Continuous Production of Biodiesel from Rapeseed Oil by Ultrasonic Assist Transesterification in Supercritical Ethanol. *J. Supercrit. Fluids* **2016**, *118*, 107–118.
- (154) Naor, E. O.; Koberg, M.; Gedanken, A. Nonaqueous Synthesis of SrO Nanopowder and SrO/SiO2 Composite and Their Application for Biodiesel Production via Microwave Irradiation. *Renew. Energy* 2017, 101, 493–499.
- (155) Tran, D. T.; Le, B. H.; Lee, D. J.; Chen, C. L.; Wang, H. Y.; Chang, J. S.

Microalgae Harvesting and Subsequent Biodiesel Conversion. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2013, 140, 179–186.

- (156) Islam, A.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H.; Chan, E. S.; Moniruzzaman, M.; Islam, S.; Nabi, M. N. Advances in Solid-Catalytic and Non-Catalytic Technologies for Biodiesel Production. *Energy Convers. Manag.* **2014**, 88, 1200–1218.
- (157) Bhuiya, M. M. K.; Rasul, M. G.; Khan, M. M. K.; Ashwath, N.; Azad, A. K. Prospects of 2nd Generation Biodiesel as a Sustainable Fuel - Part: 1 Selection of Feedstocks, Oil Extraction Techniques and Conversion Technologies. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2016, 55, 1109–1128.
- (158) Kulkarni, M. G.; Dalai, A. K. Waste Cooking Oil an Economic Source for Biodiesel: A Review. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2006, 45, 2901–2913.
- (159) Zyaykina, N. Z. V. V. H. W.; Van Hoed, V.; De Greyt, W.; Verhé, R. The Use of Alternative Lipid Resources for Bioenergy. *Lipid Technol.* 2009, 21 (8–9), 182–185.
- (160) Jaliliannosrati, H.; Amin, N. A. S.; Talebian-Kiakalaieh, A.; Noshadi, I. Microwave Assisted Biodiesel Production from Jatropha Curcas L. Seed by Two-Step in Situ Process: Optimization Using Response Surface Methodology. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2013, 136, 565–573.
- (161) Choudhury, H. A.; Goswami, P. P.; Malani, R. S.; Moholkar, V. S. Ultrasonic Biodiesel Synthesis from Crude Jatropha Curcas Oil with Heterogeneous Base Catalyst: Mechanistic Insight and Statistical Optimization. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2014, 21 (3), 1050–1064.
- (162) Teo, S. H.; Rashid, U.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Biodiesel Production from Crude Jatropha Curcas Oil Using Calcium Based Mixed Oxide Catalysts. *Fuel* **2014**, *136*, 244–252.
- (163) Koh, M. Y.; Tinia, T. I. A Review of Biodiesel Production from Jatropha Curcas L. Oil. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2011, 15 (5), 2240–2251.
- (164) Ramezani, K.; Rowshanzamir, S.; Eikani, M. H. Castor Oil Transesterification Reaction: A Kinetic Study and Optimization of Parameters. *Energy* 2010, 35 (10), 4142–4148.
- (165) Hincapie, G.; Mondragon, F.; Lopez, D. Conventional and in Situ Transesterification of Castor Seed Oil for Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* 2011, 90 (4), 1618–1623.
- (166) Sánchez-Cantú, M.; Pérez-Díaz, L. M.; Pala-Rosas, I.; Cadena-Torres, E.; Juárez-Amador, L.; Rubio-Rosas, E.; Rodríguez-Acosta, M.; Valente, J. S. Hydrated Lime as an Effective Heterogeneous Catalyst for the Transesterification of Castor Oil and Methanol. *Fuel* 2013, *110*, 54–62.
- (167) Bateni, H.; Karimi, K. Biodiesel Production from Castor Plant Integrating Ethanol Production via a Biorefinery Approach. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* 2016, 107, 4–12.
- (168) Sharma, Y. C.; Singh, B.; Korstad, J. Application of an Efficient Nonconventional Heterogeneous Catalyst for Biodiesel Synthesis from Pongamia Pinnata Oil. *Energy* and Fuels **2010**, 24 (5), 3223–3231.
- (169) Dixit, S.; Kanakraj, S.; Rehman, A. Linseed Oil as a Potential Resource for Bio-Diesel: A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2012, 16 (7), 4415–4421.
- (170) Jaya, N.; Ethirajulu, K. Kinetic Studies of Heterogeneously Catalyzed Transesterification of Cottonseed Oil to Biodiesel. *J. Environ. Res. Dev.* **2011**, *5* (3), 689–695.

- (171) Janaun, J.; Ellis, N. Perspectives on Biodiesel as a Sustainable Fuel. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2010, 14 (4), 1312–1320.
- (172) Koberg, M.; Gedanken, A. Optimization of Bio-Diesel Production from Oils, Cooking Oils, Microalgae, and Castor and Jatropha Seeds: Probing Various Heating Sources and Catalysts. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2012**, *5* (6), 7460–7469.
- (173) Maddikeri, G. L.; Pandit, A. B.; Gogate, P. R. Intensification Approaches for Biodiesel Synthesis from Waste Cooking Oil: A Review. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2012, 51 (45), 14610–14628.
- (174) Lin, C. S. K.; Pfaltzgraff, L. A.; Herrero-Davila, L.; Mubofu, E. B.; Abderrahim, S.; Clark, J. H.; Koutinas, A. A.; Kopsahelis, N.; Stamatelatou, K.; Dickson, F.; Thankappan, S.; Mohamed, Z.; Brocklesby, R.; Luque, R. Food Waste as a Valuable Resource for the Production of Chemicals, Materials and Fuels. Current Situation and Global Perspective. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2013**, *6* (2), 426–464.
- (175) Enweremadu, C. C.; Mbarawa, M. M. Technical Aspects of Production and Analysis of Biodiesel from Used Cooking Oil-A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2009, 13 (9), 2205–2224.
- (176) Meng, X.; Chen, G.; Wang, Y. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil via Alkali Catalyst and Its Engine Test. *Fuel Process. Technol.* 2008, 89 (9), 851–857.
- (177) Wang, Y.; Pengzhan Liu, S. O.; Zhang, Z. Preparation of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil via Two-Step Catalyzed Process. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2007, 48 (1), 184–188.
- (178) Wang, Y.; Nie, J.; Zhao, M.; Ma, S.; Kuang, L.; Han, X.; Tang, S. Production of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil via a Two-Step Catalyzed Process and Molecular Distillation. *Energy and Fuels* **2010**, *24* (3), 2104–2108.
- (179) Uzun, B. B.; Kiliç, M.; Özbay, N.; Pütün, A. E.; Pütün, E. Biodiesel Production from Waste Frying Oils: Optimization of Reaction Parameters and Determination of Fuel Properties. *Energy* **2012**, *44* (1), 347–351.
- (180) Al-Hamamre, Z.; Yamin, J. Parametric Study of the Alkali Catalyzed Transesterification of Waste Frying Oil for Biodiesel Production. *Energy Convers. Manag.* **2014**, *79*, 246–254.
- (181) Hamze, H.; Akia, M.; Yazdani, F. Optimization of Biodiesel Production from the Waste Cooking Oil Using Response Surface Methodology. *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.* 2015, 94, 1–10.
- (182) Atapour, M.; Kariminia, H.-R.; Moslehabadi, P. M. Optimization of Biodiesel Production by Alkali-Catalyzed Transesterification of Used Frying Oil. *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.* 2014, 92 (2), 179–185.
- (183) Karmee, S. K.; Linardi, D.; Lee, J.; Lin, C. S. K. Conversion of Lipid from Food Waste to Biodiesel. *Waste Manag.* 2015, 41, 169–173.
- (184) Avellaneda, F.; Salvado, J. Continuous Transesterification of Biodiesel in a Helicoidal Reactor Using Recycled Oil. *Fuel Process. Technol.* 2011, 92 (1), 83–91.
- (185) Chuah, L. F.; Yusup, S.; Abd Aziz, A. R.; Bokhari, A.; Abdullah, M. Z. Cleaner Production of Methyl Ester Using Waste Cooking Oil Derived from Palm Olein Using a Hydrodynamic Cavitation Reactor. J. Clean. Prod. 2016, 112, 4505–4514.
- (186) Rahmanlar, I.; Yücel, S.; Özçimen, D. The Production of Methyl Esters from Waste Frying Oil by Microwave Method. Asia-Pacific J. Chem. Eng. 2012, 7 (5), 698–704.
- (187) Mohd Ali, A. M.; Cheng, C. K.; Yunus, R.M., Gimbun, J. Successive Optimisation

of Waste Cooking Oil Transesterification in a Continuous Microwave Assisted Reactor. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5* (94), 76743–76751.

- (188) Lertsathapornsuk, V.; Pairintra, R.; Aryusuk, K.; Krisnangkura, K. Microwave Assisted in Continuous Biodiesel Production from Waste Frying Palm Oil and Its Performance in a 100??kW Diesel Generator. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2008**, 89 (12), 1330–1336.
- (189) Delavari, A.; Halek, F.; Amini, M. Continuous Biodiesel Production in a Helicoidal Reactor Using Ultrasound-Assisted Transesterification Reaction of Waste Cooking Oil. *Clean Technol. Environ. Policy* **2014**, *17* (1), 273–279.
- (190) Martinez-Guerra, E.; Gude, V. G. Transesterification of Waste Vegetable Oil under Pulse Sonication Using Ethanol, Methanol and Ethanol-Methanol Mixtures. *Waste Manag.* 2014, *34* (12), 2611–2620.
- (191) Hingu, S. M.; Gogate, P. R.; Rathod, V. K. Synthesis of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil Using Sonochemical Reactors. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2010, 17 (5), 827– 832.
- (192) Mostafaei, M.; Ghobadian, B.; Barzegar, M.; Banakar, A. Optimization of Ultrasonic Assisted Continuous Production of Biodiesel Using Response Surface Methodology. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* **2015**, *27*, 54–61.
- (193) De Mattos, F. C. G.; Joina, J. A.; Ana, A. B.; De MacEdo, J. L.; Dias, J. A.; Dias, S. C. L.; Ghesti, G. F. Lewis Acid/surfactant Rare Earth Trisdodecylsulfate Catalysts for Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* **2012**, *423–424*, 1–6.
- (194) Farooq, M.; Ramli, A.; Subbarao, D. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Bifunctional Heterogeneous Solid Catalysts. J. Clean. Prod. 2013, 59, 131– 140.
- (195) Razack, S. A.; Duraiarasan, S. Response Surface Methodology Assisted Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Encapsulated Mixed Enzyme. *Waste Manag.* 2015, 47, 98–104.
- (196) Kochepka, D. M.; Dill, L. P.; Couto, G. H.; Krieger, N.; Ramos, L. P. Production of Fatty Acid Ethyl Esters from Waste Cooking Oil Using Novozym 435 in a Solvent-Free System. *Energy & Fuels* 2015, 29 (12), 8074–8081.
- (197) Al-Jammal, N.; Al-Hamamre, Z.; Alnaief, M. Manufacturing of Zeolite Based Catalyst from Zeolite Tuft for Biodiesel Production from Waste Sunflower Oil. *Renew. Energy* 2016, 93, 449–459.
- (198) Gurunathan, B.; Ravi, A. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Copper Doped Zinc Oxide Nanocomposite as Heterogeneous Catalyst. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2015, 188, 124–127.
- (199) Guan, G.; Kusakabe, K.; Yamasaki, S. Tri-Potassium Phosphate as a Solid Catalyst for Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2009**, *90* (4), 520–524.
- (200) Cao, Y.; Zhou, H.; Li, J. Preparation of a Supported Acidic Ionic Liquid on Silica-Gel and Its Application to the Synthesis of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2016, 58, 871–875.
- (201) Sánchez-Cantú, M.; Pérez-Díaz, L. M.; Rosales, R.; Ramírez, E.; Apreza-Sies, A.; Pala-Rosas, I.; Rubio-Rosas, E.; Aguilar-Franco, M.; Valente, J. S. Commercial Hydrated Lime as a Cost-Effective Solid Base for the Transesterification of Wasted

Soybean Oil with Methanol for Biodiesel Production. *Energy and Fuels* **2011**, *25* (7), 3275–3282.

- (202) Nair, P.; Singh, B.; Upadhyay, S. N.; Sharma, Y. C. Synthesis of Biodiesel from Low FFA Waste Frying Oil Using Calcium Oxide Derived from Mereterix Mereterix as a Heterogeneous Catalyst. J. Clean. Prod. 2012, 29–30, 82–90.
- (203) Chin, L. H.; Hameed, B. H.; Ahmad, A. L. Process Optimization for Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Palm Oil (Elaeis Guineensis) Using Response Surface Methodology. *Energy & Fuels* **2009**, *23* (11), 1040–1044.
- (204) Buasri, A.; Ksapabutr, B.; Panapoy, M.; Chaiyut, N. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Palm Oil Using Calcium Oxide Supported on Activated Carbon as Catalyst in a Fixed Bed Reactor. *Korean J. Chem. Eng.* **2012**, *29* (12), 1708–1712.
- (205) Birla, A.; Singh, B.; Upadhyay, S. N.; Sharma, Y. C. Kinetics Studies of Synthesis of Biodiesel from Waste Frying Oil Using a Heterogeneous Catalyst Derived from Snail Shell. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2012**, *106*, 95–100.
- (206) Del Remedio Hernández, M.; Reyes-Labarta, J. A.; Valdés, F. J. New Heterogeneous Catalytic Transesterification of Vegetable and Used Frying Oil. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2010**, *49* (19), 9068–9076.
- (207) Mahesh, S. E.; Ramanathan, A.; Begum, K. M. M. S.; Narayanan, A. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using KBr Impregnated CaO as Catalyst. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2015, *91*, 442–450.
- (208) Li, J.; Wang, X.; Zhu, W.; Cao, F. Zn1.2H0.6PW12O40 Nanotubes with Double Acid Sites as Heterogeneous Catalysts for the Production of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil. *ChemSusChem* 2009, 2 (2), 177–183.
- (209) Zhang, X.; Li, J.; Chen, Y.; Wang, J.; Feng, L.; Wang, X.; Cao, F. Heteropolyacid Nanoreactor with Double Acid Sites as a Highly Efficient and Reusable Catalyst for the Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil. *Energy and Fuels* **2009**, *23* (9), 4640– 4646.
- (210) Wang, J.; Chen, Y.; Wang, X.; Cao, F. Aluminumdodecatungstophosphate (Al0.9 H0.3 Pw12 O40) Nanotube As a Solid Acid Catalyst One-Pot Production of Biodiesel From Waste Cooking Oil. *BioResources* 2009, *4* (4), 1477–1486.
- (211) Talebian-Kiakalaieh, A.; Amin, N. A. S.; Zarei, A.; Noshadi, I. Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil by Heteropoly Acid (HPA) Catalyst: Optimization and Kinetic Model. *Appl. Energy* **2013**, *102*, 283–292.
- (212) Singh, V.; Bux, F.; Sharma, Y. C. A Low Cost One Pot Synthesis of Biodiesel from Waste Frying Oil (WFO) Using a Novel Material, β-Potassium Dizirconate (β-K2Zr2O5). Appl. Energy 2016, 172, 23–33.
- (213) Roschat, W.; Kacha, M.; Yoosuk, B.; Sudyoadsuk, T.; Promarak, V. Biodiesel Production Based on Heterogeneous Process Catalyzed by Solid Waste Coral Fragment. *Fuel* 2012, 98, 194–202.
- (214) Molaei Dehkordi, A.; Ghasemi, M. Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil to Biodiesel Using Ca and Zr Mixed Oxides as Heterogeneous Base Catalysts. *Fuel Process. Technol.* 2012, 97, 45–51.
- (215) Tan, Y. H.; Abdullah, M. O.; Nolasco-Hipolito, C.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Waste Ostrich- and Chicken-Eggshells as Heterogeneous Base Catalyst for Biodiesel Production from Used Cooking Oil: Catalyst Characterization and Biodiesel Yield Performance. *Appl. Energy* **2015**, *160*, 58–70.

- (216) Boey, P.-L.; Ganesan, S.; Maniam, G. P.; Khairuddean, M. Catalysts Derived from Waste Sources in the Production of Biodiesel Using Waste Cooking Oil. *Catal. Today* 2012, 190 (1), 117–121.
- (217) Amani, H.; Ahmad, Z.; Hameed, B. H. Highly Active Alumina-Supported Cs–Zr Mixed Oxide Catalysts for Low-Temperature Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* **2014**, 487, 16–25.
- (218) Boro, J.; Konwar, L. J.; Thakur, A. J.; Deka, D. Ba Doped CaO Derived from Waste Shells of T Striatula (TS-CaO) as Heterogeneous Catalyst for Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* 2014, 129, 182–187.
- (219) Farooq, M.; Ramli, A. Biodiesel Production from Low FFA Waste Cooking Oil Using Heterogeneous Catalyst Derived from Chicken Bones. *Renew. Energy* 2015, 76, 362–368.
- (220) Singh, S.; Patel, A. Mono Lacunary Phosphotungstate Anchored to MCM-41 as Recyclable Catalyst for Biodiesel Production via Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil. *Fuel* 2015, *159*, 720–727.
- (221) Sun, J.; Yang, J.; Li, S.; Xu, X. Preparation and Characterization of Fluorine Modified Oxides for Transesterification. *Catal. Commun.* 2015, 59, 88–91.
- (222) Karavalakis, G.; Anastopoulos, G.; Stournas, S. Methyl Ester Production from Sunflower and Waste Cooking Oils Using Alkali-Doped Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2010, 49 (23), 12168–12172.
- (223) Niu, M.; Kong, X. Efficient Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using P-Toluenesulfonic Acid Doped Polyaniline as a Catalyst. *RSC Adv.* 2015, 5 (35), 27273–27277.
- (224) Ma, Y.; Wang, Q.; Gao, Z.; Sun, X.; Wang, N.; Niu, R.; Ma, H. Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil Using FeCl3-Modified Resin Catalyst and the Research of Catalytic Mechanism. *Renew. Energy* **2016**, *86*, 643–650.
- (225) Miodrag Belosevic, M. G. E. D. Z. S. J. R. B. Degradation of Alizarin Yellow R Using UV / H 2 O 2 Advanced Oxidation Process. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2014, 33 (2), 482–489.
- (226) Maddikeri, G. L.; Gogate, P. R.; Pandit, A. B. Intensified Synthesis of Biodiesel Using Hydrodynamic Cavitation Reactors Based on the Interesterification of Waste Cooking Oil. *Fuel* **2014**, *137*, 285–292.
- (227) Ullah, Z.; Bustam, M. A.; Man, Z. Preparation of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil Catalyzed by Basic Ionic Liquid. *Appl. Mech. Mater.* 2014, 625, 874–876.
- (228) Li, M.; Zheng, Y.; Chen, Y.; Zhu, X. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using a Heterogeneous Catalyst from Pyrolyzed Rice Husk. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, 154, 345–348.
- (229) Komintarachat, C.; Chuepeng, S. Solid Acid Catalyst for Biodiesel Production from Waste Used Cooking Oils. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2009, 48 (20), 9350–9353.
- (230) Tran, T. T. V.; Kaiprommarat, S.; Kongparakul, S.; Reubroycharoen, P.; Guan, G.; Nguyen, M. H.; Samart, C. Green Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using an Environmentally Benign Acid Catalyst. *Waste Manag.* 2016, *52*, 367–374.
- (231) Wan Omar, W. N. N.; Saidina Amin, N. A. Optimization of Heterogeneous Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Palm Oil via Response Surface Methodology. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 2011, 35 (3), 1329–1338.
- (232) Fu, B.; Gao, L.; Niu, L.; Wei, R.; Xiao, G. Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil via

Heterogeneous Superacid Catalyst SO42-/ZrO2. *Energy and Fuels* **2009**, *23* (1), 569–572.

- (233) Shah, K. A.; Parikh, J. K.; Maheria, K. C. Optimization Studies and Chemical Kinetics of Silica Sulfuric Acid-Catalyzed Biodiesel Synthesis from Waste Cooking Oil. *Bioenergy Res.* 2014, 7 (1), 206–216.
- (234) Alves, C. T.; Oliveira, A.; Carneiro, S. A. V; Silva, A. G.; Andrade, H. M. C.; Vieira De Melo, S. A. B.; Torres, E. A. Transesterification of Waste Frying Oil Using a Zinc Aluminate Catalyst. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2013**, *106*, 102–107.
- (235) Lam, M. K.; Lee, K. T.; Mohamed, A. R. Sulfated Tin Oxide as Solid Superacid Catalyst for Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil: An Optimization Study. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* **2009**, *93* (1–2), 134–139.
- (236) Olutoye, M. A.; Wong, S. W.; Chin, L. H.; Amani, H.; Asif, M.; Hameed, B. H. Synthesis of Fatty Acid Methyl Esters via the Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil by Methanol with a Barium-Modified Montmorillonite K10 Catalyst. *Renew. Energy* 2016, 86, 392–398.
- (237) Olutoye, M. A.; Hameed, B. H. A Highly Active Clay-Based Catalyst for the Synthesis of Fatty Acid Methyl Ester from Waste Cooking Palm Oil. *Appl. Catal. A Gen.* **2013**, *450*, 57–62.
- (238) Amani, H.; Ahmad, Z.; Asif, M.; Hameed, B. H. Transesterification of Waste Cooking Palm Oil by MnZr with Supported Alumina as a Potential Heterogeneous Catalyst. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2014, 20 (6), 4437–4442.
- (239) Tajammul Hussain, S.; Ahmed, W.; Saeed, M.; Danish Ali, S.; Asma, M. Fatty Acid Methyl Ester Production from Waste Cooking Oil Catalyzed by CuO-CeO2/NiO Mixed Oxides. J. Renew. Sustain. Energy **2013**, 5 (2), 1–12.
- (240) Ramirez-Ortiz, J.; Martinez, M.; Flores, H. Metakaolinite as a Catalyst for Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil. *Front. Chem. Sci. Eng.* **2012**, *6* (4), 403–409.
- (241) Wen, Z.; Yu, X.; Tu, S.-T.; Yan, J.; Dahlquist, E. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Catalyzed by TiO2-MgO Mixed Oxides. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2010**, *101* (24), 9570–9576.
- (242) Hameed, B. H.; Goh, C. S.; Chin, L. H. Process Optimization for Methyl Ester Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Activated Carbon Supported Potassium Fluoride. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2009**, *90* (12), 1532–1537.
- (243) Olutoye, M. A.; Hameed, B. H. Synthesis of Fatty Acid Methyl Ester from Used Vegetable Cooking Oil by Solid Reusable Mg1-X Zn1+xO2 Catalyst. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2011, 102 (4), 3819–3826.
- (244) Alhassan, F. H.; Rashid, U.; Yunus, R.; Sirat, K.; Lokman, I. M.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Synthesis of Ferric-Manganese Doped Tungstated Zirconia Nanoparticles as Heterogeneous Solid Superacid Catalyst for Biodiesel Production From Waste Cooking Oil. *Int. J. Green Energy* **2015**, *12* (9), 987–994.
- (245) Caldas, B. S.; Nunes, C. S.; Souza, P. R.; Rosa, F. A.; Visentainer, J. V.; Júnior, O. de O. S.; Muniz, E. C. Supercritical Ethanolysis for Biodiesel Production from Edible Oil Waste Using Ionic Liquid [HMim][HSO4] as Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* 2015, 181, 289–297.
- (246) Zhang, J.; Lei, Z.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, Q.; Yi, Q.; Li, R. Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil over Mesoporous SO42–/Zr-SBA-15. *Chinese J. Chem. Phys.* 2015, 28 (3), 361–369.

- (247) Melero, J. A.; Bautista, L. F.; Iglesias, J.; Morales, G.; Sanchez-Vazquez, R. Production of Biodiesel from Waste Cooking Oil in a Continuous Packed Bed Reactor with an Agglomerated Zr-SBA-15/bentonite Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* 2014, 145, 197–204.
- (248) Jacobson, K.; Gopinath, R.; Meher, L. C.; Dalai, A. K. Solid Acid Catalyzed Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil. *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* 2008, 85, 86–91.
- (249) Niju, S.; S. Begum, K. M. M.; Anantharaman, N. Continuous Flow Reactive Distillation Process for Biodiesel Production Using Waste Egg Shells as Heterogeneous Catalysts. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4* (96), 54109–54114.
- (250) Martinez-Guerra, E.; Gude, V. G. Transesterification of Used Vegetable Oil Catalyzed by Barium Oxide under Simultaneous Microwave and Ultrasound Irradiations. *Energy Convers. Manag.* **2014**, 88, 633–640.
- (251) Xiang, Y.; Wang, L.; Jiao, Y. Ultrasound Strengthened Biodiesel Production from Waste Cooking Oil Using Modified Coal Fly Ash as Catalyst. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 2016, 4 (1), 818–824.
- (252) Maneechakr, P.; Samerjit, J.; Uppakarnrod, S.; Karnjanakom, S. Experimental Design and Kinetic Study of Ultrasonic Assisted Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil over Sulfonated Carbon Catalyst Derived from Cyclodextrin. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2015, 32, 128–136.
- (253) Pukale, D. D.; Maddikeri, G. L.; Gogate, P. R.; Pandit, A. B.; Pratap, A. P. Ultrasound Assisted Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil Using Heterogeneous Solid Catalyst. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* **2015**, *22*, 278–286.
- (254) Hindryawati, N.; Maniam, G. P. Novel Utilization of Waste Marine Sponge (Demospongiae) as a Catalyst in Ultrasound-Assisted Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2015, 22, 454–462.
- (255) Gupta, A. R.; Yadav, S. V.; Rathod, V. K. Enhancement in Biodiesel Production Using Waste Cooking Oil and Calcium Diglyceroxide as a Heterogeneous Catalyst in Presence of Ultrasound. *Fuel* 2015, *158*, 800–806.
- (256) Gharat, N.; Rathod, V. K. Ultrasound Assisted Enzyme Catalyzed Transesterification of Waste Cooking Oil with Dimethyl Carbonate. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2013, 20 (3), 900–905.
- (257) Fu, C. C.; Hung, T. C.; Chen, J. Y.; Su, C. H.; Wu, W. T. Hydrolysis of Microalgae Cell Walls for Production of Reducing Sugar and Lipid Extraction. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2010, 101 (22), 8750–8754.
- (258) Leite, G. B.; Abdelaziz, A. E. M.; Hallenbeck, P. C. Algal Biofuels: Challenges and Opportunities. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2013, 145, 134–141.
- (259) Foley, P. M.; Beach, E. S.; Zimmerman, J. B. Algae as a Source of Renewable Chemicals: Opportunities and Challenges. *Green Chem.* 2011, *13* (6), 1399.
- (260) Suali, E.; Sarbatly, R. Conversion of Microalgae to Biofuel. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2012, *16* (6), 4316–4342.
- (261) Singh, B.; Guldhe, A.; Rawat, I.; Bux, F. Towards a Sustainable Approach for Development of Biodiesel from Plant and Microalgae. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2014, 29, 216–245.
- (262) Bahadar, A.; Bilal Khan, M. Progress in Energy from Microalgae: A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2013, 27, 128–148.

- (263) Kumar, V. B.; Pulidindi, I. N.; Kinel-Tahan, Y.; Yehoshua, Y.; Gedanken, A. Evaluation of the Potential of *Chlorella Vulgaris* for Bioethanol Production. *Energy & Fuels* 2016, *30* (4), 3161–3166.
- (264) Wijffels, R. H.; Barbosa, M. J. An Outlook on Microalgal Biofuels. *Science (80-.).* 2010, 329, 796–799.
- (265) Shirvani, T.; Yan, X.; Inderwildi, O. R.; Edwards, P. P.; King, D. a. Life Cycle Energy and Greenhouse Gas Analysis for Agave-Derived Bioethanol. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2011**, *4*, 3773–3778.
- (266) Razzak, S. A.; Hossain, M. M.; Lucky, R. A.; Bassi, A. S.; De Lasa, H. Integrated CO2 Capture, Wastewater Treatment and Biofuel Production by Microalgae Culturing - A Review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2013, 27, 622–653.
- (267) Demirbas, A. Use of Algae as Biofuel Sources. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2010, 51 (12), 2738–2749.
- (268) Bosma, R.; Vermuë, M. H.; Tramper, J.; Wijffels, R. H. Towards Increased Microalgal Productivity in Photobioreactors. *Int. Sugar J. Vol.* 2010, *112* (1334), 74–85.
- (269) Chisti, Y. Biodiesel from Microalgae. Biotechnol. Adv. 2007, 25, 294–306.
- (270) Sharma, Y. C.; Singh, B.; Korstad, J. A Critical Review on Recent Methods Used for Economically Viable and Eco-Friendly Development of Microalgae as a Potential Feedstock for Synthesis of Biodiesel. *Green Chem.* 2011, *13* (11), 2993– 3006.
- (271) Lin, L.; Cunshan, Z.; Vittayapadung, S.; Xiangqian, S.; Mingdong, D. Opportunities and Challenges for Biodiesel Fuel. *Appl. Energy* 2011, 88 (4), 1020–1031.
- (272) Savage, P. E. Algae Under Pressure and in Hot Water. Science (80-.). 2012, 338 (6110), 1039–1040.
- (273) Brennan, L.; Owende, P. Biofuels from Microalgae-A Review of Technologies for Production, Processing, and Extractions of Biofuels and Co-Products. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2010, 14 (2), 557–577.
- (274) Pragya, N.; Pandey, K. K.; Sahoo, P. K. A Review on Harvesting, Oil Extraction and Biofuels Production Technologies from Microalgae. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2013, 24, 159–171.
- (275) Yoo, G.; Yoo, Y.; Kwon, J.-H.; Darpito, C.; Mishra, S. K.; Pak, K.; Park, M. S.; Im, S. G.; Yang, J.-W. An Effective, Cost-Efficient Extraction Method of Biomass from Wet Microalgae with a Functional Polymeric Membrane. *Green Chem.* 2014, *16*, 312–319.
- (276) Passos, H.; Freire, M. G.; Coutinho, J. A. P. Ionic Liquid Solutions as Extractive Solvents for Value-Added Compounds from Biomass. *Green Chem.* 2014, *16* (12), 4786–4815.
- (277) Hidalgo, P.; Toro, C.; Ciudad, G.; Navia, R. Advances in Direct Transesterification of Microalgal Biomass for Biodiesel Production. *Rev. Environ. Sci. Biotechnol.* 2013, *12* (2), 179–199.
- (278) Nautiyal, P.; Subramanian, K. A.; Dastidar, M. G. Production and Characterization of Biodiesel from Algae. *Fuel Process. Technol.* 2014, *120*, 79–88.
- (279) Patil, P. D.; Reddy, H.; Muppaneni, T., Mannarswamy, A., Schuab, T., Holguin, F. O., Lammers, P., Nirmalakhandan, N., Cooke, P., Deng, S. Power Dissipation in Microwave-Enhanced in Situ Transesterification of Algal Biomass to Biodiesel.

Green Chem. 2012, 14 (3), 809-818.

- (280) Cheng, J.; Huang, R.; Li, T.; Zhou, J.; Cen, K. Biodiesel from Wet Microalgae: Extraction with Hexane after the Microwave-Assisted Transesterification of Lipids. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, 170, 69–75.
- (281) Velasquez-Orta, S. B.; Lee, J. G. M.; Harvey, A. P. Evaluation of FAME Production from Wet Marine and Freshwater Microalgae by in Situ Transesterification. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2013**, *76*, 83–89.
- (282) Suganya, T.; Kasirajan, R.; Renganathan, S. Ultrasound-Enhanced Rapid in Situ Transesterification of Marine Macroalgae Enteromorpha Compressa for Biodiesel Production. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2014**, *156*, 283–290.
- (283) Im, H.; Lee, H.; Park, M. S.; Yang, J. W.; Lee, J. W. Concurrent Extraction and Reaction for the Production of Biodiesel from Wet Microalgae. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, 152, 534–537.
- (284) Kumar, A.; Kumar, P.; Singhal, S.; Joshi, G. Bioresource Technology Exploration of Upstream and Downstream Process for Microwave Assisted Sustainable Biodiesel Production from Microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2016, 216, 793–800.
- (285) Patil, P. D.; Gude, V. G.; Mannarswamy, A.; Cooke, P.; Munson-McGee, S.; Nirmalakhandan, N.; Lammers, P.; Deng, S. Optimization of Microwave-Assisted Transesterification of Dry Algal Biomass Using Response Surface Methodology. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2011, 102 (2), 1399–1405.
- (286) Martinez-Guerra, E.; Gude, V. G.; Mondala, A.; Holmes, W.; Hernandez, R. Microwave and Ultrasound Enhanced Extractive-Transesterification of Algal Lipids. *Appl. Energy* **2014**, *129*, 354–363.
- (287) Salam, K. A.; Velasquez-orta, S. B.; Harvey, A. P. Kinetics of Fast Alkali Reactive Extraction / in Situ Transesteri Fi Cation of Chlorella Vulgaris That Identi Fi Es Process Conditions for a Signi Fi Cant Enhanced Rate and Water Tolerance. *Fuel Process. Technol.* 2016, 144, 212–219.
- (288) Chen, C. L.; Huang, C. C.; Ho, K. C.; Hsiao, P. X.; Wu, M. S.; Chang, J. S. Biodiesel Production from Wet Microalgae Feedstock Using Sequential Wet Extraction/transesterification and Direct Transesterification Processes. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2015, 194, 179–186.
- (289) Velasquez-Orta, S. B.; Lee, J. G. M.; Harvey, A. Alkaline in Situ Transesterification of Chlorella Vulgaris. *Fuel* **2012**, *94*, 544–550.
- (290) Wahidin, S.; Idris, A.; Shaleh, S. R. M. Rapid Biodiesel Production Using Wet Microalgae via Microwave Irradiation. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2014, 84, 227–233.
- (291) Teo, S. H.; Islam, A.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Algae Derived Biodiesel Using Nanocatalytic Transesterification Process. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* 2016, 111, 362– 370.
- (292) Teo, S. H.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H.; Ng, F. L. Alumina Supported/unsupported Mixed Oxides of Ca and Mg as Heterogeneous Catalysts for Transesterification of Nannochloropsis Sp. Microalga's Oil. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2014, 88, 1193– 1199.
- (293) Umdu, E. S.; Tuncer, M.; Seker, E. Transesterification of Nannochloropsis Oculata Microalga's Lipid to Biodiesel on Al2O3 Supported CaO and MgO Catalysts. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2009, 100 (11), 2828–2831.

- (294) Macias-Sanchez, M. D.; Robles-Medina, A.; Hita-Pena, E.; Jimenez-Callejon, M. J.; Esteban-Cerdan, L.; Gonzalez-Moreno, P. A.; Molina-Grima, E. Biodiesel Production from Wet Microalgal Biomass by Direct Transesterification. *Fuel* 2015, *150*, 14–20.
- (295) Chen, J. Z.; Wang, S.; Zhou, B.; Dai, L.; Liu, D.; Du, W. A Robust Process for Lipase-Mediated Biodiesel Production from Microalgae Lipid. *RSC Adv.* 2016, 6 (54), 48515–48522.
- (296) Carrero, A.; Vicente, G.; Rodríguez, R.; Peso, G. L. del; Santos, C. Synthesis of Fatty Acids Methyl Esters (FAMEs) from Nannochloropsis Gaditana Microalga Using Heterogeneous Acid Catalysts. *Biochem. Eng. J.* 2015, *97*, 119–124.
- (297) Ma, G.; Hu, W.; Pei, H.; Jiang, L.; Song, M.; Mu, R. In Situ Heterogeneous Transesterification of Microalgae Using Combined Ultrasound and Microwave Irradiation. *Energy Convers. Manag.* **2015**, *90*, 41–46.
- (298) Dai, Y. M.; Chen, K. T.; Chen, C. C. Study of the Microwave Lipid Extraction from Microalgae for Biodiesel Production. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2014, 250, 267–273.
- (299) Zeng, H. Y.; Xu, S.; Liao, M. C.; Zhang, Z. Q.; Zhao, C. Activation of Reconstructed Mg/Al Hydrotalcites in the Transesterification of Microalgae Oil. *Appl. Clay Sci.* 2014, 91–92, 16–24.
- (300) Xu, S.; Zeng, H.-Y.; Cheng, C.-R.; Duan, H.-Z.; Han, J.; Ding, P.-X.; Xiao, G.-F. Mg–Fe Mixed Oxides as Solid Base Catalysts for the Transesterification of Microalgae Oil. *RSC Adv.* 2015, 5 (87), 71278–71286.
- (301) Li, Y.; Lian, S.; Tong, D.; Song, R.; Yang, W.; Fan, Y.; Qing, R.; Hu, C. One-Step Production of Biodiesel from Nannochloropsis Sp. on Solid Base Mg-Zr Catalyst. *Appl. Energy* **2011**, 88 (10), 3313–3317.
- (302) Kim, K. H.; Lee, O. K.; Kim, C. H.; Seo, J. W.; Oh, B. R.; Lee, E. Y. Lipase-Catalyzed in-Situ Biosynthesis of Glycerol-Free Biodiesel from Heterotrophic Microalgae, Aurantiochytrium Sp. KRS101 Biomass. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2016, 211, 472–477.
- (303) Navarro López, E.; Robles Medina, A.; González Moreno, P. A.; Esteban Cerdán, L.; Martín Valverde, L.; Molina Grima, E. Biodiesel Production from Nannochloropsis Gaditana Lipids through Transesterification Catalyzed by Rhizopus Oryzae Lipase. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2016, 203, 236–244.
- (304) Teo, S. H.; Islam, A.; Ng, F. L.; Taufiq-Yap, Y. H. Biodiesel Synthesis from Photoautotrophic Cultivated Oleoginous Microalgae Using a Sand Dollar Catalyst. *RSC Adv.* 2015, 5 (58), 47140–47152.
- (305) Malpani, M.; Varma, A. K.; Mondal, P. Production of Bio-Oil from Algal Biomass and Its Up-Gradation to Biodiesel Using Cao Based Heterogeneous Catalysts. *Int. J. Green Energy* 2016, *13* (10), 969–976.
- (306) Nur Syazwani, O.; Rashid, U.; Taufiq Yap, Y. H. Low-Cost Solid Catalyst Derived from Waste Cyrtopleura Costata (Angel Wing Shell) for Biodiesel Production Using Microalgae Oil. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2015, 101, 749–756.
- (307) Guldhe, A.; Singh, B.; Rawat, I.; Bux, F. Synthesis of Biodiesel from Scenedesmus Sp. by Microwave and Ultrasound Assisted in Situ Transesterification Using Tungstated Zirconia as a Solid Acid Catalyst. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* 2014, 92 (8), 1503–1511.
- (308) Sajjadi, B.; Abdul Aziz, A. R.; Ibrahim, S. Investigation, Modelling and Reviewing

the Effective Parameters in Microwave-Assisted Transesterification. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* **2014**, *37*, 762–777.

- (309) Wang, W.; Zhao, C.; Sun, J.; Wang, X.; Zhao, X.; Mao, Y.; Li, X.; Song, Z. Quantitative Measurement of Energy Utilization Efficiency and Study of Influence Factors in Typical Microwave Heating Process. *Energy* 2015, 87, 678–685.
- (310) Gude, V.; Patil, P.; Martinez-Guerra, E.; Deng, S.; Nirmalakhandan, N. Microwave Energy Potential for Biodiesel Production. *Sustain. Chem. Process.* **2013**, *1* (5), 1–31.
- (311) Chen, K. S.; Lin, Y. C.; Hsu, K. H.; Wang, H. K. Improving Biodiesel Yields from Waste Cooking Oil by Using Sodium Methoxide and a Microwave Heating System. *Energy* 2012, 38 (1), 151–156.
- (312) Encinar, J. M.; González, J. F.; Martínez, G.; Sánchez, N.; Pardal, A. Soybean Oil Transesterification by the Use of a Microwave Flow System. *Fuel* 2012, 95, 386– 393.
- (313) Manco, I.; Giordani, L.; Vaccari, V.; Oddone, M. Microwave Technology for the Biodiesel Production: Analytical Assessments. *Fuel* 2012, 95, 108–112.
- (314) Campos, D. C.; Dall'Oglio, E. L.; De Sousa, P. T.; Vasconcelos, L. G.; Kuhnen, C. A. Investigation of Dielectric Properties of the Reaction Mixture during the Acid-Catalyzed Transesterification of Brazil Nut Oil for Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* 2014, 117, 957–965.
- (315) Kanitkar, A.; Balasubramanian, S.; Lima, M.; Boldor, D. A Critical Comparison of Methyl and Ethyl Esters Production from Soybean and Rice Bran Oil in the Presence of Microwaves. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2011, 102 (17), 7896–7902.
- (316) Barnard, T. M.; Leadbeater, N. E.; Boucher, M. B.; Stencel, L. M.; Wilhite, B. A. Continuous-Flow Preparation of Biodiesel Using Microwave Heating. *Energy and Fuels* **2007**, *21* (3), 1777–1781.
- (317) Lidstrom, P.; Tierney, J.; Wathey, B.; Westman, J. Microwave Assisted Organic Synthesis-a Review. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 9225–9283.
- (318) Muley, P. D.; Boldor, D. Investigation of Microwave Dielectric Properties of Biodiesel Components. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2013**, *127*, 165–174.
- (319) Ye, W.; Gao, Y.; Ding, H.; Liu, M.; Liu, S.; Han, X.; Qi, J. Kinetics of Transesterification of Palm Oil under Conventional Heating and Microwave Irradiation, Using CaO as Heterogeneous Catalyst. *Fuel* **2016**, *180*, 574–579.
- (320) Asakuma, Y.; Ogawa, Y.; Maeda, K.; Fukui, K.; Kuramochi, H. Effects of Microwave Irradiation on Triglyceride Transesterification: Experimental and Theoretical Studies. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2011**, 58–59 (1), 20–24.
- (321) Patil, P. D.; Gude, V. G.; Camacho, L. M.; Deng, S. Microwave-Assisted Catalytic Transesterification of Camelina Sativa Oil. *Energy and Fuels* **2010**, *24* (2), 1298– 1304.
- (322) Cheng, J.; Yu, T.; Li, T.; Zhou, J.; Cen, K. Using Wet Microalgae for Direct Biodiesel Production via Microwave Irradiation. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2013, 131, 531–535.
- (323) Motasemi, F.; Ani, F. N. A Review on Microwave-Assisted Production of Biodiesel. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2012, 16 (7), 4719–4733.
- (324) Chauhan, B. S.; Kumar, N.; Cho, H. M. A Study on the Performance and Emission of a Diesel Engine Fueled with Jatropha Biodiesel Oil and Its Blends. *Energy* **2012**,

37 (1), 616–622.

- (325) Motasemi, F.; Ani, F. N. Microwave Irradiation Biodiesel Processing of Waste Cooking Oil. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2012**, *1440* (842), 842–852.
- (326) Mazubert, A.; Poux, M.; Aubin, J. Intensified Processes for FAME Production from Waste Cooking Oil: A Technological Review. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2013, 233, 201–223.
- (327) Bergamelli, F.; Iannelli, M.; Marafie, J. A.; Moseley, J. D. A Commercial Continuous Flow Microwave Reactor Evaluated for Scale-Up. *Org. Process Res. Dev.* **2010**, *14* (4), 926–930.
- (328) Moseley, J. D.; Woodman, E. K. Energy Efficiency of Microwave- And Conventionally Heated Reactors Compared at Meso Scale for Organic Reactions. *Energy and Fuels* **2009**, *23* (11), 5438–5447.
- (329) Glasnov, T. N.; Kappe, C. O. Microwave-Assisted Synthesis under Continuous-Flow Conditions. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* 2007, 28 (4), 395–410.
- (330) Hulshof, L. A.; Dressen, M. H. C. L.; Van De Kruijs, B. H. P.; Meuldijk, J.; Vekemans, J. A. J. M. Flow Processing of Microwave-Assisted (Heterogeneous) Organic Reactions. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2010, 14 (2), 351–361.
- (331) Paulus, R. M.; Erdmenger, T.; Becer, C. R.; Hoogenboom, R.; Schubert, U. S. Scale-up of Microwave-Assisted Polymerizations in Continuous-Flow Mode: Cationic Ring-Opening Polymerization of 2-Ethyl-2-Oxazoline. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* 2007, 28 (4), 484–491.
- (332) Bagley, M. C.; Fusillo, V.; Jenkins, R. L.; Lubinu, M. C.; Mason, C. Continuous Flow Processing from Microreactors to Mesoscale: The Bohlmann-Rahtz Cyclodehydration Reaction. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2010**, *8* (9), 2245–2251.
- (333) Benaskar, F.; Ben-Abdelmoumen, A.; Patil, N. G.; Rebrov, E. V.; Meuldijk, J.; Hulshof, L. A.; Hessel, V.; Krtschil, U.; Schouten, J. C. Cost Analysis for a Continuously Operated Fine Chemicals Production Plant at 10 Kg/Day Using a Combination of Microprocessing and Microwave Heating. J. Flow Chem. 2011, 1 (2), 74–89.
- (334) Terigar, B. G.; Balasubramanian, S.; Lima, M.; Boldor, D. Transesterification of Soybean and Rice Bran Oil with Ethanol in a Continuous-Flow Microwave-Assisted System: Yields, Quality, and Reaction Kinetics. *Energy and Fuels* **2010**, *24* (12), 6609–6615.
- (335) Kim, D.; Seol, S. K.; Chang, W. S. Energy Efficiency of a Scaled-up Microwave-Assisted Transesterification for Biodiesel Production. *Korean J. Chem. Eng.* 2016, *33* (2), 527–531.
- (336) Choedkiatsakul, I.; Ngaosuwan, K.; Assabumrungrat, S.; Mantegna, S.; Cravotto, G. Biodiesel Production in a Novel Continuous Flow Microwave Reactor. *Renew. Energy* 2015, 83, 25–29.
- (337) Shuttleworth, P. S.; De bruyn, M.; Parker, H. L.; Hunt, A. J.; Budarin, V. L.; Matharu, A. S.; Clark, J. H. Applications of Nanoparticles in Biomass Conversion to Chemicals and Fuels. *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16* (2), 573.
- (338) Zhao, L.; Qiu, Z.; Stagg-Williams, S. M. Transesterification of Canola Oil Catalyzed by Nanopowder Calcium Oxide. *Fuel Process. Technol.* 2013, 114, 154– 162.
- (339) Reddy, C.; Reddy, V.; Oshel, R.; Verkade, J. G. Room-Temperature Conversion of Soybean Oil and Poultry Fat to Biodiesel Catalyzed by Nanocrystalline Calcium

Oxides. Energy and Fuels 2006, 20 (3), 1310–1314.

- (340) Degirmenbasi, N.; Coskun, S.; Boz, N.; Kalyon, D. M. Biodiesel Synthesis from Canola Oil via Heterogeneous Catalysis Using Functionalized CaO Nanoparticles. *Fuel* 2015, 153, 620–627.
- (341) Kwong, T. L.; Yung, K. F. One-Step Production of Biodiesel through Simultaneous Esterification and Transesterification from Highly Acidic Unrefined Feedstock over Efficient and Recyclable ZnO Nanostar Catalyst. *Renew. Energy* 2016, *90*, 450–457.
- (342) Parthiban, K. S.; Perumalsamy, M. Nano Sized Heterogeneous Acid Catalyst from Ceiba Pentandra Stalks for Production of Biodiesel Using Extracted Oil from Ceiba Pentandra Seeds. *RSC Adv.* 2015, *5*, 11180–11187.
- (343) Chiang, Y. D.; Dutta, S.; Chen, C. T.; Huang, Y. T.; Lin, K. S.; Wu, J. C. S.; Suzuki, N.; Yamauchi, Y.; Wu, K. C. W. Functionalized Fe3O4@Silica Core-Shell Nanoparticles as Microalgae Harvester and Catalyst for Biodiesel Production. *ChemSusChem* 2015, 8 (5), 789–794.
- (344) Hernández-Hipólito, P.; García-Castillejos, M.; Martínez-Klimova, E.; Juárez-Flores, N.; Gómez-Cortés, A.; Klimova, T. E. Biodiesel Production with Nanotubular Sodium Titanate as a Catalyst. *Catal. Today* 2014, 220–222 (222), 4– 11.
- (345) Liu, Y.; Zhang, P.; Fan, M.; Jiang, P. Biodiesel Production from Soybean Oil Catalyzed by Magnetic Nanoparticle MgFe2O4@CaO. *Fuel* 2016, *164*, 314–321.
- (346) Bet-Moushoul, E.; Farhadi, K.; Mansourpanah, Y.; Nikbakht, A. M.; Molaei, R.; Forough, M. Application of CaO-based/Au Nanoparticles as Heterogeneous Nanocatalysts in Biodiesel Production. *Fuel* **2016**, *164*, 119–127.
- (347) Wang, H.; Covarrubias, J.; Prock, H.; Wu, X.; Wang, D.; Bossmann, S. H. Acid-Functionalized Magnetic Nanoparticle as Heterogeneous Catalysts for Biodiesel Synthesis. J. Phys. Chem. C 2015, 119 (46), 26020–26028.
- (348) Zhou, Q.; Zhang, H.; Chang, F.; Li, H.; Pan, H.; Xue, W.; Hu, D.-Y.; Yang, S. Nano La2O3 as a Heterogeneous Catalyst for Biodiesel Synthesis by Transesterification of Jatropha Curcas L. Oil. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2015, 31, 385–392.
- (349) Kumar, D.; Ali, A. Nanocrystalline K-CaO for the Transesterification of a Variety of Feedstocks: Structure, Kinetics and Catalytic Properties. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 2012, 46, 459–468.
- (350) Hsiao, M. C.; Lin, C. C.; Chang, Y. H. Microwave Irradiation-Assisted Transesterification of Soybean Oil to Biodiesel Catalyzed by Nanopowder Calcium Oxide. *Fuel* **2011**, *90* (5), 1963–1967.
- (351) Zhang, X. L.; Yan, S.; Tyagi, R. D.; Surampalli, R. Y. Biodiesel Production from Heterotrophic Microalgae through Transesterification and Nanotechnology Application in the Production. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2013, 26, 216–223.
- (352) Anr, R.; Saleh, A. A.; Islam, M. S.; Hamdan, S.; Maleque, M. A. Biodiesel Production from Crude Jatropha Oil Using a Highly Active Heterogeneous Nanocatalyst by Optimizing Transesterification Reaction Parameters. *Energy and Fuels* **2016**, *30* (1), 334–343.
- (353) Bondioli, F.; Bonamartini Corradi, A.; Ferrari, A. M.; Leonelli, C. Synthesis of Zirconia Nanoparticles in a Continuous-Flow Microwave Reactor. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 2008, 91 (11), 3746–3748.
- (354) Bagley, M. C.; Jenkins, R. L.; Lubinu, M. C.; Mason, C.; Wood, R. A Simple

Continuous Flow Microwave Reactor. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7003-7006.

- (355) Tsuji, M.; Hashimoto, M.; Nishizawa, Y.; Kubokawa, M.; Tsuji, T. Microwave-Assisted Synthesis of Metallic Nanostructures in Solution. *Chem. - A Eur. J.* 2005, *11* (2), 440–452.
- (356) Nadagouda, M. N.; Speth, T. F.; Varma, R. S. Microwave-Assisted Green Synthesis of Silver Nanostructures. Acc. Chem. Res. 2011, 44 (7), 469–478.
- (357) Irzh, A.; Genish, I.; Klein, L.; Solovyov, L. A.; Gedanken, A. Synthesis of ZnO and Zn Nanoparticles in Microwave Plasma and Their Deposition on Glass Slides. *Langmuir* 2010, 26 (8), 5976–5984.
- (358) Irzh, A.; Perkas, N.; Gedanken, A. Microwave-Assisted Coating of PMMA Beads by Silver Nanoparticles. *Langmuir* 2007, 23 (19), 9891–9897.
- (359) Applerot, G.; Abu-Mukh, R.; Irzh, A.; Charmet, J.; Keppner, H.; Laux, E.; Guibert, G.; Gedanken, A. Decorating Parylene-Coated Glass with ZnO Nanoparticles for Antibacterial Applications: A Comparative Study of Sonochemical, Microwave, and Microwave-Plasma Coating Routes. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2010, 2 (4), 1052–1059.
- (360) Tuval, T.; Gedanken, A. A Microwave-Assisted Polyol Method for the Deposition of Silver Nanoparticles on Silica Spheres. *Nanotechnology* 2007, 18, 1–7.
- (361) Zhu, Y. J.; Chen, F. Microwave-Assisted Preparation of Inorganic Nanostructures in Liquid Phase. *Chem. Rev.* **2014**, *114* (12), 6462–6555.
- (362) Groisman, Y.; Gedanken, A. Continuous Flow, Circulating Microwave System and Its Application in Nanoparticle Fabrication and Biodiesel Synthesis. J. Phys. Chem. C 2008, 112 (24), 8802–8808.
- (363) Taddei, M.; Steitz, D. A.; Van Bokhoven, J. A.; Ranocchiari, M. Continuous Flow Microwave Synthesis of Metal-Organic Frameworks: A Highly Efficient Method for Large-Scale Production. *Chem. - A Eur. J.* 2016, *22*, 3245–3249.
- (364) Suslick, K. S. Sonochemistry. Science (80-.). 1990, 247 (4949), 1439-1445.
- (365) Henglein, A.; Herburger, D.; Gutierrez, M. Sonochemistry: Some Factors That Determine the Ability of a Liquid To Cavitate in an Ultrasonic Field. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96 (3), 1126–1130.
- (366) Flint, E. B.; Suslick, K. S. The Temperature of Cavitation. *Science* **1991**, *253* (5026), 1397–1399.
- (367) Doktycz, S. J.; Suslick, K. S. Interparticle Collisions Driven by Ultrasound. Science (80-.). 1990, 247 (4946), 1067–1069.
- (368) Didenko, Y. T.; McNamara III, W. B.; Suslick, K. S. Hot Spot Conditions during Cavitation in Water. *JACS* **1999**, *121* (16), 5817–5818.
- (369) Aricetti, J. A.; Tubino, M. A Visual Titration Method for the Determination of the Acid Number of Oils and Fats: A Green Alternative. *JAOCS, J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc.* 2012, 89 (11), 2113–2115.

:תקציר

х

תוכן עניינים

עבודה זו נעשתה בהדרכתו של פרופ׳ אהרן גדנקן מן המחלקה לכימיה של אוניברסיטת בר-אילן

שיטות קטליטיות חדשות מבוססות SrO להפקת ביו-דיזל מחומרי מוצא בלתי אכיל בעזרת מיקרוגל: יישום והתאמה למערכות גדולות

חיבור לשם קבלת התואר יידוקטור לפילוסופיהיי מאת : אלכס טנגיי

המחלקה לכימיה

הוגש לסנט של אוניברסיטת בר-אילן

כסלו תשע״ז

רמת גן